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CHF million 2013 2012* 2011* 2010* 2009*

turnover 20,929 20,753 19,596 20,261 17,406

Gross profit 6,257 6,094 5,898 5,958 5,863

% of turnover 29.9 29.4 30.1 29.4 33.7

eBItDa 962 855 977 1,003 884

% of gross profit 15.4 14.0 16.6 16.8 15.1

eBIt 761 633 749 764 593

% of gross profit 12.2 10.4 12.7 12.8 10.1

eBt 767 644 765 766 609

% of gross profit 12.3 10.6 13.0 12.9 10.4

earnings for the year (Kuehne + nagel share) 597 484 600 600 466

% of gross profit 9.5 7.9 10.2 10.1 7.9

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 

of intangible assets and goodwill 201 222 228 239 291

% of gross profit 3.2 3.6 3.9 4.0 5.0

operational cash flow 966 849 978 992 893

% of gross profit 15.4 13.9 16.6 16.6 15.2

Capital expenditures for fixed assets 181 163 207 134 264

% of operational cash flow 18.7 19.2 21.2 13.5 29.6

total assets 6,374 6,279 6,141 5,941 5,933

non-current assets 2,133 2,203 2,239 2,058 2,456

equity 2,558 2,425 2,405 2,378 2,290

% of total assets 40.1 38.6 39.2 40.0 38.6

total employees at year end 62,744 63,248 63,110 57,536 54,680

total full-time equivalent (Fte) at year end 72,036 72,399 71,884 66,045 60,538

personnel expenses 3,735 3,606 3,387 3,392 3,342

% of gross profit 59.7 59.2 57.4 56.9 57.0

Gross profit in CHF 1,000 per Fte 87 84 82 90 97

personnel expenses in CHF 1,000 per Fte 52 50 47 51 55

Basic earnings per share (nominal CHF 1) in CHF

Consolidated earnings for the year 

(Kuehne + nagel share) 1 4.98 4.05 5.03 5.05 3.94

Distribution in the following year 3.85 3.50 3.85 2.75 2.30

in % of the consolidated net income for the year 77.4 86.6 76.7 54.7 58.6

Development of share price

SIX Swiss exchange (high/low in CHF) 122/99 125/95 139/92 137/92 104/53

average trading volume per day 164,482 160,403 170,427 190,910 295,884

*  restated due to application of IaS 19r.

1  excluding treasury shares. 

2  excluding payment of capital contribution reserves. 

3  excluding extraordinary dividend.
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continuity and
further development

For our customers. 
For our company. 

For our employees.



Improvement of the product portfolio through new 
industry-specific and customer-oriented services.

Seafreight

continuously 
taking on change and 

new challenges



Continuity and further development    seafreight

temperature-sensitive products demand the highest 
quality standards. kuehne + nagel is expanding its services 
in this segment constantly. reefer container services are 
no longer niche products. 

with over 2,000 routes managed  
by kuehne + nagel, over 7,200  
weekly sailings, a hub system and 
cooperations with best-in-class partners, 
the company’s lcl services reach  
almost every location, worldwide.

TEU
were 

managed by 
Kuehne + 

Nagel world-
wide in 2013

3.6
million



Luftfracht    kontinuität & weiterentwicklung

Focusing on specific, value-creating airfreight products for defined industry segments 
and expanding activities in selected markets.

Airfreight

 
performing 

consistently, reaching 
new markets



Continuity and further development    airfreight

“kn pharmachain” meets the requirements of the 
pharmaceutical industry: a seamless cool chain with 
the highest quality standards and transparency, 
controlled by kuehne + nagel. 

“kn enginechain” has been deve- 
loped specifically for the aviation and 
aerospace industry. certified processes 
ensure reliability, safety and trans- 
parency for the transport, storage and 
handling of aircraft engines. 

tons of 
airfreight 

were handled 
by Kuehne + 

Nagel in 2013

1.13
million



Landverkehre    kontinuität & weiterentwicklung

A focus on dedicated products and selected customer segments, as well as on centralised 
sales- and procurement structures, forms the backbone of Kuehne + Nagel’s new overland strategy.   

Road & Rail Logistics

improving 
constantly, expanding 
the network steadily  



Continuity and further development    road & rail logistics

together with industry-specific products, groupage-, part-  
and full load services are the pillars of the overland activities. 
new products with clearly defined performance specifications 
are “kn eurolink” in the groupage and “kn eurodirect” in  
the part- and full load segments.  

a specialised distribution  
solution for the pharmaceutical  
industry was developed in the 
overland sector. 

1,800
direct 
lines

connect 
all business 

centres 
in Europe



Key success factors are ongoing process optimisation, operational excellence and company-wide 
concentration on solutions and services for internationally operating customers. 

Contract Logistics

focusing constantly 
on new processes and 

profitability 



industry-specific know-how and operational excellence are 
integrated into tailor-made solutions for the automotive 
industry.  

customers in the pharma- 
ceutical industry expect best 
practice (gxp)-compliant 
networks, specifically trained 
specialists, a state-of-the-art  
it-infrastructure and high  
safety- and quality standards.

of 
ware-

housing
 space manages 
Kuehne + Nagel 
for its customers

8.4
million
sqm

Continuity and further development    contract logistics



With a global network of some
63,000 employees at over 1,000 locations 

in more than 100 countries, Kuehne + 
Nagel provides its customers with 

advanced logistics solutions. 
Around the clock. Around the world.   
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2 Continuity and further development    interview

KARL gERNANdT

Chairman of the Board of directors
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Mr. Gernandt, are you satisfied with the 

Kuehne + Nagel Group’s result for 2013? 

  

Karl gernandt: yes, we can be very satisfied. with  

net earnings of chf 607 million, kuehne + nagel’s 

result for 2013 marks a new milestone. it shows that 

our company has returned to its former strength. 

our measures to enhance efficiency have proved 

effective, and i am particularly pleased that we have 

achieved such a positive result in a year that was 

challenging and characterised by uncertainty both 

from a macroeconomic viewpoint and from the 

internal perspective of the company. 

What were the biggest challenges in the market 

environment?

Karl gernandt: in 2013 the very subdued state  

of demand in europe and also in the emerging 

countries held back the growth of world trade, which 

was significantly below the average for the past  

20 years at only around 2.5 per cent. in the euro- 

zone the recession ended after eighteen months  

but the economic situation remained fragile, with 

the countries of southern europe and also france 

remaining in a crisis aggravated by persistently high 

unemployment. 

the strength of the us economy contrasted with the 

lower momentum of the emerging markets. however, 

china still achieved respectable growth with a rise 

of 7.7 per cent in its gross domestic product. we 

needed to adapt quickly to these developments and 

respond with appropriate measures to the resulting 

regional changes in transport and logistics volumes. 

the steps taken included a realignment of our 

regional structure and a clear focus on globally 

scalable industry solutions that meet the needs of 

our customers.

What are the main changes in the new regional 

structure? 

Karl gernandt: in some parts of the world we have 

invested in direct proximity to the market and our 

customers, while elsewhere we streamlined our over-

head structures. in europe, three regional organisa-

tional units were consolidated under the umbrella 

“western europe”. in the asia-pacific region our aim 

is to be closer to our customers in order to leverage 

the existing business potential in greater china and 

southeast asia in an even more targeted manner. 

for that reason two regional organisational units 

“north asia-pacific” and “south asia-pacific” have 

been established. 

Is the realignment already bearing fruit?

Karl gernandt: there are encouraging signs that the 

new set-up has enhanced our agility and efficiency 

in the markets. the effects regarding costs will 

only become fully apparent in the course of the 

current year. the structural reorganisation involved 

numerous staff changes in the regional management 

structures. many managers had to adapt to changes 

in priorities and take on new tasks. the major chal-

lenges that they were undoubtedly presented with 

have now been successfully overcome.

What developments, apart from the improvement 

in profitability, stood out as particularly important 

in your view?

Karl gernandt: one highlight in 2013 was certainly 

the performance in airfreight, which exceeded our 

expectations. in an extremely difficult and stagnating 

market environment, we achieved an increase in both 

volume and profit margin. with our focus on industry-

specific solutions, we are evidently on the right path.

continuit y and further development
interview with karl gernandt, chairman of the board of directors
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in seafreight, in view of the enormous pressure on 

prices and fierce competition, we attached a high 

priority to achieving profitable growth, an objective 

that we successfully attained. 

in contract logistics we effected a substantial 

improvement in profitability through a structural 

reorganisation. we eliminated unprofitable activities 

and locations, and concentrated on international 

customer groups with complex requirements. this 

resulted in an improvement of 89 per cent in ebit. 

in the land transport field we are on the right 

course with the new strategy “road 2 profit”. this is 

reflected in a continuous ebit improvement in this 

business unit.

In August 2013 the Board of Directors appointed 

Dr. Detlef Trefzger to succeed you in the position of 

CEO. The membership of the Management Board 

underwent substantial changes in 2013. 

Karl gernandt: with detlef trefzger the manage-

ment board is led by an executive who absorbs the 

kuehne + nagel corporate culture and at the same 

time contributes new ideas and approaches to the 

company. on the other hand our choice for the new 

chief financial officer is an assurance of continuity. 

markus blanka-graff comes from within our own 

ranks. 

one of the main tasks for the board of directors is 

to initiate a change of generation in our manage-

ment board, and to create an efficient team. a 

big challenge over the past two years has been to 

further develop the kuehne + nagel group without 

losing the key elements that ensure its stability 

and shape its corporate culture. the changing 

requirements that must be met by a global logistics 

provider mean we must also constantly strive for the 

best in the area of human resources.  

this development began in 2012 by separating 

responsibility for seafreight and airfreight and esta-

blishing responsibility for sales at top management 

level. in 2013 we took major steps forward with the 

appointment of new managers to head the contract 

logistics and road & rail logistics business units, 

and also by determining the succession to the posi-

tion of ceo. in future, the development of kuehne + 

nagel will be in the hands of a much younger and 

globally experienced management board. based 

on its industry know-how and the strength of its 

strategic thinking, it will become a powerful creative 

force. 

Thank you for your comments on the Management 

Board. What are the main areas of focus now?

Karl gernandt: the ability to standardise processes 

and concentrate them in global service centres will 

further enhance the efficiency of our operations. 

furthermore, a sales organisation strictly aligned 

to market needs will be in a position to generate 

growth even when economic development is weak. 

the quality of our products will be a crucial factor 

for our future growth and the newly constituted  

management board is fully committed to this 

agenda. my own role as ceo through the recent 

transition period has certainly provided support  

but no more than that. 

How do you judge the macroeconomic 

environment in 2014?

Karl gernandt: a great deal is currently being said 

and written about an economic upswing. i don’t 

expect any massive setbacks, but neither will there 

be any exceptionally rapid growth. signals will come 

from the industrial countries, and largely from the 

usa and greater china. there are positive signs 

in many industry sectors so for that reason i am 

cautiously optimistic. i take a positive view of the 

future development of kuehne + nagel’s business. in 

2013 we put in place the most important elements 

for strong further development: having a dynamic 

and well qualified management team with a clear 

market focus, who will also take advantage of the 

opportunities offered by an even more efficient 

process structure, gives us in the board of directors 

a confident view of the years ahead. 

Will the globalisation process continue?

Karl gernandt: that is to be assumed, but at a 

slower rate and in a different quality. the growth of 
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Our strengths are customer  
orientation and innovation.  
Combined with our integrated 
service portfolio this enables  
us to generate sustained 
growth.

logistics volumes resulting from pure globalisation 

will probably flatten, but the quality of execution 

and the efficient management of complex supply 

chains will become ever more important. with our 

know-how we can benefit from this trend.

Mr. Gernandt, in what fields do you see future 

growth potential for Kuehne + Nagel?

Karl gernandt: we must become less dependent 

on cyclical growth impulses, and i therefore see 

potential in our industry-specific solutions. with our 

expertise we are able to provide customers in many 

different industries with products or specialised 

logistics solutions that meet even the most exacting 

requirements. as logistics partners it is important for 

us to be involved in the processes of production and 

trade. this allows us to analyse requirements on a 

joint basis with our customers and to provide an  

optimum, integrated service. the ability to conti-

nuously bring this expertise to bear in further indus-

tries and regions is an important differentiator. 

What, in your view, are the strengths of 

Kuehne + Nagel?

Karl gernandt: customer orientation, an integrated 

service portfolio, and our innovative strength based 

on an information platform that is leading the 

industry. our business model remains asset light and 

therefore flexible, which is also beneficial for the 

dividend yield. our company is as attractive to its 

shareholders as the value of our know-how is to 

our customers.
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board of directors

at the annual general meeting of may 7, 2013,  

dr. renato fassbind, Juergen fitschen, karl gernandt, 

klaus-michael kuehne, hans lerch, dr. thomas 

staehelin, dr. Joerg wolle and bernd wrede presen-

ted themselves for re-election and were confirmed 

for a further period of one year. the chairman of 

the board of directors is karl gernandt.

hans-Joerg hager, whose four-year term of office 

expired with the annual general meeting, retired 

from the board.

board committees

the board of directors’ regular committees are the 

audit, the chairman’s and the nomination and 

compensation committee. in 2013 the committees 

took place regularly with the respective chairman 

reporting on issues at subsequent meetings of the 

board of directors. 

risk assessment

together with the management board the audit 

committee makes a regular assessment of the 

group’s business risks. this assessment also includes 

anti-trust investigations by various competition 

authorities in which kuehne + nagel has been 

involved. the legal dispute with the eu commission 

over the antitrust fine imposed in 2012 is still pending 

with the european courts, as are further proceedings 

outside the eu. all litigation in the usa and 

switzerland has now been brought to a conclusion. 

management board

on march 4, 2013 the board of directors of kuehne + 

nagel international ag complied with the request  

of reinhard lange, ceo since 2009, to release him 

from his responsibilities for health reasons with 

effect from the 2013 annual general meeting. 

 

the board of directors thanks mr. lange for more 

than 40 years in the service of the company, during 

which he made a substantial contribution towards 

its success. in particular, he provided a major 

stimulus to the highly successful development of  

the seafreight business.

as executive chairman, karl gernandt took over  

the duties of ceo on an interim basis. after a 

thorough selection process, the board of directors 

The policy of focusing on industry solutions and measures to improve efficiency 
has proved effective. In 2013 the globally operating Kuehne + Nagel group 

increased net earnings by 23.4 per cent to CHF 607 million. gross profit was up by 
2.7 per cent to CHF 6,257 million, and the operational result showed an increase 
of 4.6 per cent to CHF 962 million. At CHF 20,929 million turnover was slightly 

higher in 2013, while margins improved at all levels of the income statement. 

return to profitable growth  
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unanimously appointed on august 15, 2013  

dr. detlef trefzger as ceo and chairman of the 

management board with immediate effect.  

having joined the company in march 2013 as a 

member of the management board, he had, since 

this time, been responsible for contract logistics. 

before joining the kuehne + nagel group he was  

a member of the operational holding board at a 

german logistics company, where he was respon-

sible primarily for the contract logistics and supply 

chain business units. 

stefan paul became a member of the management 

board in february 2013, and has since been respon-

sible for the business unit road & rail logistics.  

he had already held various positions with kuehne +  

nagel between 1990 and 1997, and was last in 

charge of the land transport business unit of a com-

peting company in germany.

with effect from July 1, 2014 markus blanka-graff 

was appointed as the successor to cfo gerard van 

kesteren, who is due to retire on that date. markus 

blanka-graff has been in the service of the company 

for 16 years, and has held various national and 

international managerial positions in the financial 

field. since 2012 he has been director corporate 

finance and investor relations.

 

shareholder structure

at the end of 2013 the shareholder structure of 

kuehne + nagel international ag was as follows:

kuehne holding ag                   53.3 per cent

other shareholders* (free float)           46.7 per cent

*incl. kuehne foundation (4.4 per cent)

 

logistics industry  

in 2013 the industry was confronted with a weak 

economic situation, continuing seafreight rate 

volatility and heavy pressure on prices and margins. 

in this situation cost optimisation played a large 

role for logistics companies and overall investment 

activity remained low. among the partners of the 

logistics providers – in particular shipping lines  

and airlines – the imbalance between supply and 

demand resulted in substantial rate volatility and a 

negative impact on earnings. despite the weak 

development of the market, capacity continued to 

increase.

in a heavily fragmented industry, the trend towards 

consolidation slowed as a result of the economic 

uncertainties and reluctance to invest. no large- 

scale takeovers took place, and the financial sound-

ness of the logistics providers became an ever more 

important consideration. 

Kuehne + nagel business development 2013

against the background of a subdued world eco- 

nomy, kuehne + nagel concentrated on improving 

its proximity to customers, efficiency and profita-

bility. the measures initiated to focus on customer 

groups and growth regions as well as to reduce  

costs were systematically implemented throughout 

the group, particularly in the second half of the 

year. this was reflected in an improvement of  

4.6 per cent in the operational result and 9 per cent 

in operational ebit. another part of the efficiency 

enhancement programme was the realignment of 

the regional structure. this shortens the response 

time to new market situations and business oppor-

tunities, and facilitates faster communication of 

business decisions. 

in parallel the company expanded its industry- 

specific services. it is now possible, for instance, to 

offer the pharmaceutical industry integrated logis-

tics solutions on a cross-business unit basis. growth 

in this field was well above average. 

report of the board of directors
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in the sea- and airfreight businesses, the profitability 

targets as expressed in the ratio of ebit to gross 

profit were attained with respective figures of  

30 and 25 per cent. in contract logistics the ebitda 

margin increased from 3.4 per cent in the previous 

year to 4.1 per cent. through the new road trans-

port strategy “road 2 profit”, the company was able 

to increase ebit by 50 per cent. regional successes 

were achieved in north and south america, the 

middle east/africa and eastern europe.

dividend  

in view of the general development of business,  

the board of directors will propose to the annual 

general meeting of may 6, 2014 a dividend of  

chf 3.85 per share (previous year chf 3.50 per 

share). the shareholders will also benefit from the 

payment of an extraordinary dividend of chf 2.00 

per share on account of the very comfortable 

liquidity position from which it will be funded.

summary and outlook

for the year 2014 there is cautious optimism that  

a world economic recovery will be established.  

there are encouraging signals from the usa and 

china. with the exception of germany, the economic 

situation in the eurozone may remain difficult.  

the persisting structural problems in the countries 

of southern europe will limit the possibility of a 

broader economic upswing. the kuehne + nagel 

group has trimmed its internal structures for 

efficiency, and in the current business year it will 

continue to focus on regional and industry-specific 

growth segments. with a continued policy of strict 

cost and margin management, the company will 

focus on operational excellence and the further 

development of innovative services. 

the board of directors would like to thank all 

members of the management and all employees for 

their highly committed efforts in the challenging 

year 2013. finally, thanks are extended to all 

customers and partners for their confidence in 

kuehne + nagel and the good business relations  

the group enjoyed with them. the company sees  

the confidence they have demonstrated as a spur  

for the year 2014.

Karl gernandt

chairman 
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As per december 31, 20131 karl gernandt   Chairman of the Board of directors 

2 klaus-michael kuehne  Honorary Chairman

3 dr. Joerg wolle  Vice Chairman

4 bernd wrede   Vice Chairman

5 dr. thomas staehelin

6. dr. renato fassbind

7 Juergen fitschen

8 hans lerch
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7
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operating environment of the international 

logistics business  

in 2013 the international logistics business was 

affected by the sluggish growth of world trade, 

excess carrier capacity, high rate volatility and heavy 

pressure on margins. the wide regional variations  

in demand and the trend towards near-shoring led 

to changes in the flows of trade and often made it 

necessary for trading and industrial organisations  

to restructure their supply chains. in this context  

the requirements of customers increased with  

regard to the cost-efficient management of comp- 

lex regional and global supply chains. kuehne +  

nagel quickly adapted to these developments in  

the market and took advantage of new business 

opportunities.

development of business and results

after a subdued first quarter, partly as a result 

of market and weather conditions in europe, the 

measures to enhance efficiency took full effect and 

the kuehne + nagel group was able to continuously 

improve its results from quarter to quarter. gross 

profit, which is a more meaningful indicator of a 

logistics company’s performance than its turnover, 

grew by 2.7 per cent in relation to the previous year. 

the operational result ebitda rose by 4.6 per cent, 

and the operational ebit was up by 9.0 per cent 

compared with 2012.  

with the focus on profitable growth, each business 

unit defined its operational priorities: 

the seafreight organisation concentrated on specific 

routes such as the transpacific trade lanes, where  

it outperformed the market as a whole. the further 

development of special services adapted to the 

needs of specific customer groups – such as reefer 

container or consolidated traffic (lcl) – also proved 

successful. kuehne + nagel managed the transport 

of 3.6 million teu, 3 per cent more than in the 

previous year, and thus did justice to its position  

as the world’s leading seafreight forwarder. in the 

project business, which is traditionally subject to 

fluctuations, setbacks were experienced due to the 

completion of projects. the conversion rate, the ratio 

of ebit to gross profit, nevertheless remained stable 

at the previous year’s level. 

In a continuously volatile market, the Kuehne + Nagel group successfully  
concentrated on profitable growth in all business units. In the measures to  
enhance operational efficiency, as in the company‘s regional and industry- 

specific growth initiatives, the focus was placed upon sustainability.  

concentration on profitable growth and 
improved operational efficiency 
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As per december 31, 20131 dr. detlef trefzger  CEO/Contract Logistics

2 gerard van kesteren  Chief Financial Officer 

3 lothar harings  Human Resources

4 stefan paul  Road & Rail Logistics

5 horst Joachim schacht  Seafreight 

6 tim scharwath  Airfreight

7 martin kolbe  Information Technology 
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in the airfreight business, kuehne + nagel per- 

formed excellently in terms of both growth and  

profitability. in a stagnating market it was able to 

increase tonnage by around 4 per cent in compa-

rison with the previous year. the conversion rate 

improved to the target figure of 25 per cent. in  

this business field, industry-specific solutions are 

major drivers for success. one example is kuehne + 

nagel’s tailor-made airfreight product for the  

pharmaceutical and healthcare industry, which  

receives a positive market response. with the launch 

of “kn enginechain”, a new and innovative product 

for the aerospace industry was brought onto the 

market. 

the focus in the road & rail business unit was the 

strategic and operational realignment in europe. 

the new strategy, named “road 2 profit”, is aimed 

at achieving a substantial improvement in the result 

and profitable growth in the future. the key element 

of this strategy is its concentration on three distinct 

product segments: 1. groupage, full load and part load

traffic, 2. special distribution networks for the pharma-

ceutical industry and high-value goods, and 3. industry-

specific solutions, e.g. for the automotive and oil and 

gas segments. positive effects of the new strategy 

were already seen in the second half of 2013. notable 

improvements were achieved at ebit level. 

the development of results in contract logistics was 

substantially better than expected. ebit almost 

doubled in comparison with the previous year. the 

substantial improvement in the result is due prima-

rily to the systematic implementation of the master 

location plan and the concentration on complex 

solutions and services for international customer 

groups. this led to new business from customers 

with demanding requirements in the pharmaceutical 

and e-commerce segments as well as in the indust-

rial spare parts business. at the same time opera-

tional growth of more than 4 per cent was achieved 

with the existing portfolio, a figure substantially 

surpassing the market. 

great importance is attached to continuous improve-

ment in the quality of services. the group-wide 

utilisation of the kuehne + nagel production system 

“knps” enables opportunities for the improvement 

and assurance of quality to be identified and quickly 

realised. 

development of business in the regions

in the year under review, kuehne + nagel adapted 

its regional structure to the differences in market 

conditions. following the consolidation of the 

existing organisation units in western europe, the 

middle east and africa and an expansion in the 

asia-pacific region, since July 1, 2013 the kuehne + 

nagel regional structure has comprised seven organi- 

sation units. the lean management approach favours 

both a more efficient use of resources and an opti-

misation of internal processes. 
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whereas in the first half of the year business in the 

west european national companies developed rather 

slowly due to the economic situation and attention 

focused on optimising costs, growth became more 

dynamic in the final six months. in particular, the 

german national organisation improved consistently 

in all business fields. in france the result of the 

national organisation was adversely affected by the 

weak state of the domestic economy and declining 

foreign trade, whereas in spain kuehne + nagel  

defied the crisis and increased both volume and 

results in relation to the previous year. in eastern  

europe, notably the national organisations in poland, 

russia and the czech republic benefited from their 

industry-specific product portfolio and thus were 

able to win new business and to expand existing 

contracts with large, globally operating customers.

supported by improving consumer confidence, 

business in north america developed strongly in 

terms of both volume and results. particularly in the 

transpacific and transatlantic trade lanes, market 

shares were gained in both seafreight and airfreight. 

business in contract logistics and road & rail logis-

tics also developed satisfactorily, largely as a result 

of the good order situation of the mexican national 

company. 

the economic situation in argentina, brazil and 

venezuela confronted the kuehne + nagel organisa-

tions in those countries with a number of challen-

ges, but a clear growth trend was nevertheless 

evident. in chile and colombia, kuehne + nagel 

benefited from the investments of past years in the 

development of the service portfolio and the logis-

tics infrastructure.

the middle east and central asia again made 

valuable contributions to the group result. the 

project business and the expansion of activities in 

niche segments such as hotel logistics boosted this 

positive development. 

in the south asia-pacific region, increases in turn-

over and profitability were achieved primarily by the 

national organisations in australia, singapore and 

thailand. here too, the focus on customer groups 

and product quality supported the positive deve-

lopment of business. in the north asia-pacific region 

kuehne + nagel increased import volume in the 

air- and seafreight business, while export activities 

grew only slowly. the greater proximity to the mar-

ket, which was made possible by the new regional 

structure, created new business opportunities in the 

second half of the year.

summary and outlook

in 2013 the kuehne + nagel group achieved a 

substantial improvement in profitability. organisa-

tional adjustments, a leaner cost structure and 

process optimisation led to a substantial improve-

ment in operational efficiency. with its comprehensive 
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portfolio of integrated services and end-to-end 

solutions, kuehne + nagel can respond quickly and 

flexibly to the requirements of customers all over the 

world. 

great importance is attached to the further develop- 

ment of industry-specific solutions. customers in 

different industry sectors shall benefit from kuehne + 

nagel’s industrial expertise and highly specialised 

solutions across all business units. in this way the 

company actively contributes to the success of its 

customers. with its innovative strength, its justified 

claim to quality leadership in all fields and its highly 

committed staff, kuehne + nagel can sustainably 

expand its position as one of the leading global 

logistics providers. 

the management board would like to thank all 

senior management and employees for an excellent 

performance and for the great engagement shown 

towards the reorganisation and profitable growth of 

the kuehne + nagel group in 2013. 

dr. detlef trefzger

ceo
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turnover

in 2013 kuehne + nagel’s turnover amounted to 

chf 20,929 million representing an increase of  

0.8 per cent or chf 176 million compared to the 

previous year. organic business growth resulted in 

an increase in turnover of chf 471 million and 

acquisitions contributed chf 3 million. the 

exchange rate fluctuation had a negative impact  

of chf 298 million.

at regional level, the americas (2.3 per cent), 

asia-pacific (2.0 per cent) and europe (0.5 per cent) 

reported increases in turnover. middle east, central 

asia and africa experienced reduced turnover by  

1.8 per cent.

exchange rate fluctuations between 2012 and 2013, 

based on average yearly exchange rates, led to a 

higher valuation of the euro of 1.9 per cent, a lower 

valuation of the us dollar as well as depending 

currencies (e.g. a number of countries in asia, south 

america and the middle east) of 1.0 per cent as 

well as the british pound of 2.3 per cent against 

the swiss franc. when comparing the turnover in 

the income statement, a marginal negative currency 

impact of 1.4 per cent had to be taken into conside-

ration in 2013.

income

gross profit

gross profit, a better indicator of performance than 

turnover in the logistics and forwarding industry, 

reached chf 6,257 million in 2013, which 

represents an increase of 2.7 per cent compared to 

the previous year. the organic business has 

Regional turnover
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developed positively by chf 200 million (plus  

3.3 per cent) and negative currency impact of  

chf 37 million. 

in the middle east, central asia and africa, gross 

profit increased by 7.5 per cent, in the americas by 

5.7 per cent, in europe by 2.1 per cent and in asia-

pacific it reduced by 0.2 per cent.

operational cash flow

the operational cash flow, the sum of the net 

income for the year plus/minus non-cash-related 

transactions, increased by chf 117 million to  

chf 966 million (for further information, please 

refer to the cash flow statement on page 70).  

Operational cash flow
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* restated for ias 19r by chf 1 million for each year.

EBITDA
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ebitda

the earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, 

amortisation and impairment of property, plant and 

equipment, goodwill and other intangible assets 

increased by chf 107 million or 12.5 per cent 

compared to the previous year; the ebitda of organic 

business increased by chf 118 million (including one- 

off expenses for eu antitrust fines of chf 65 million 

in 2012), and the negative exchange rate develop-

ment accounted for a decrease of chf 11 million. 

europe generated the largest ebitda contribution 

with chf 522 million (54.3 per cent) followed by 

asia-pacific with chf 201 million (20.9 per cent),  

the americas with 184 million (19.1 per cent) and  

the middle east, central asia and africa with  

chf 55 million (5.7 per cent).
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the ebitda margin increased to 4.6 per cent com- 

pared to 4.1 per cent in 2012 mainly due to strict 

cost control implemented. personnel expenses 

increased in line with business growth by chf 129 

million or 3.6 per cent.

the earnings for the year increased by chf 115 

million to chf 607 million compared to the 

previous year of chf 492 million, whereby the 

margin increased to 2.9 per cent (in per cent of  

the turnover) compared to the previous year’s  

2.4 per cent.

ebit ⁄ earnings for the year

in 2013, the earnings before interest and tax (ebit) 

increased by chf 128 million to chf 761 million 

(2012: chf 633 million). the increase was mainly 

due to an increase in profitability of the organic 

business by chf 139 million (including one-off 

expenses for eu antitrust fines of chf 65 million in 

2012), whereas the exchange rate development 

impacted negatively by chf 11 million.

ebit in europe increased by chf 66 million  

(22.0 per cent), in the americas by chf 28 million 

(21.4 per cent), whereas in asia-pacific ebit in- 

creased by chf 20 million (11.9 per cent) and in the 

middle east, central asia and africa it increased by 

chf 14 million (41.2 per cent). ebit margin for the 

group has increased to 3.6 per cent compared to  

3.1 per cent in 2012.
* restated for ias 19r by chf 1 million for each year.
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Operational expenses
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Kuehne + Nagel Group key figures on capital structure

Key figures on capital structure 2013 2012* 2011* 2010*

1    equity ratio (in per cent) 40.1 38.6 39.2 40.0
2    return on equity (in per cent)*  23.9 19.9 24.8 25.5
3    debt ratio (in per cent) 59.9 61.4 60.8 60.0
4    short-term ratio of indebtedness (in per cent) 51.0 51.7 51.2 49.7
5    intensity of long-term indebtedness (in per cent)  8.8 9.7 9.6 10.3
6    fixed assets coverage ratio (in per cent) 146.3 137.7 133.9 145.1
7    working capital (in chf million) 988 831 758 929
8    receivables terms (in days) 43.2 42.6 42.2 37.8
9    vendor terms (in days) 52.6 50.4 51.2 48.0
10  intensity of capital expenditure (in per cent) 33.5 35.1 36.5 34.6

  1 total equity in relation to total assets at the end of the year.

  2 net earnings for the year in relation to share capital + reserves + retained earnings as of January 1 of the current year less dividend 

 paid during the current year as of the date of distribution + capital increase (incl. share premium) as of the date of payment. 

  3 total liabilities – equity in relation to total assets.

  4 short-term liabilities in relation to total assets. 

  5 long-term liabilities in relation to total assets.

  6 total equity (including non-controlling interests) + long-term liabilities in relation to non-current assets.

  7 total current assets less current liabilities.

  8 turnover in relation to receivables outstanding at the end of the current year. 

  9 expenses for services from third parties in relation to trade liabilities⁄accrued trade expenses at the end of the current year. 

10  non-current assets in relation to total assets. 

  *  restated for ias 19r by chf 1 million for each year.

financial position

total assets and liabilities of the group increased by 

chf 95 million to chf 6,374 million compared to 

2012. for details of changes in balance sheet, 

please refer to the consolidated financial state-

ments. cash and cash equivalents increased by  

chf 184 million as a result of reduced acquisition 

activities; for further information, please refer to the 

cash flow statement on page 70.

trade receivables amounting to chf 2,426 million 

represent the most significant asset of the kuehne + 

nagel group. the days outstanding increased from 

42.6 days as of december 31, 2012, to 43.2 days as 

of december 31, 2013. 

the equity of the group has increased by chf 133 

million to chf 2,558 million; this represents an 

equity ratio of 40.1 per cent (2012: 38.6 per cent). 

developments of other key financial indicators on 

capital structure are shown in the following table:
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investments, depreciation 

and amortisation

in 2013, the kuehne + nagel group spent a total 

of chf 181 million for fixed assets. investments in 

properties and buildings amounted to chf 46 million, 

and chf 135 million were spent for other fixed assets, 

operating and office equipment.

all capital expenditures in 2013 were financed by 

the operational cash flow of chf 966 million gene-

rated during 2013.
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in 2013 the following major investments were made 

in properties and buildings: 

the allocation of investments in other fixed assets, ope-

rating and office equipment by category is as follows:

the allocation by region is as follows: 

chf million 2013

operating equipment 52

vehicles 19

leasehold improvements 37

it hardware 18

office furniture and equipment 9

total 135

chf million 2013

europe 91

americas 20

asia-pacific 18

middle east, central asia and africa 6

total 135

region/location chf million centres

geel, belgium 10 extension of logistics and distribution centre

beaune, france 2 extension of cross-docking facility

leipzig, germany 4 new logistics and distribution centre

dagenham, great britain 15 new overland transportation hub

sydney, australia 1 start-up of new logistics and distribution centre

dubai, uae 6 extension of logistics and distribution centre

various locations 8 improvement of existing logistics and distribution centres

46
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depreciation and amortisation in 2013 amounted to 

chf 200 million and are allocated in the profit and 

loss statement as indicated in notes 27 and 28 to 

the consolidated financial statements. impairment 

of intangible assets amounted to chf 1 million and 

is allocated in the income statement. 

Development of capital expenditure and depreciation of 

fixed and intangible assets over a period of four years

chf million 2013 2012 2011 2010

capital expenditure

fixed assets

properties and buildings 46 28 72 28

operating and office equipment 135 135 135 106

intangible assets

goodwill in consolidated companies – 4 121 –

other intangibles through acquisitions – 9 88 2

it software 7 12 11 17

total 188 188 427 153

depreciation and amortisation

fixed assets

buildings 23 23 27 24

operating and office equipment 120 123 127 140

intangible assets

amortisation/impairment 

of other intangible assets 58 76 74 75

total 201 222 228 239
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in 2014 the depreciation of fixed assets is estimated 

at chf 154 million and the amortisation of intangible 

Planned investments per region

chf million 2014

europe 118

americas 18

asia-pacific 44

middle east, central asia and africa 10

total 190

assets at chf 49 million (excluding the impact of 

potential acquisitions of companies in 2014).

planned investments in 2014

in 2014 the kuehne + nagel group plans to invest 

about chf 190 million in fixed assets compared to a 

spending of chf 181 million in 2013.

Planned investments per category

chf million 2014

properties and buildings 56

operating equipment 56

vehicles 14

leasehold improvements 19

it hardware 29

office furniture and equipment 16

total 190

Planned allocation per business segment

chf million 2014

seafreight 17

airfreight 16

road & rail logistics 19

contract logistics 81

real estate 57

total 190
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dividend

for 2013 the board of directors is proposing a 

regular dividend amounting to chf 3.85 per share 

and an extraordinary dividend of chf 2.00 per 

share for approval at the annual general meeting. if 

the dividend proposal is approved by shareholders, 

dividend payments on the shares will amount to 

chf 462 million (2012: chf 419 million) towards 

regular dividend resulting in a payout ratio of 77.4 

per cent (2012: 86.6 per cent) of the earnings for 

the year attributable to the equity holders of the 

company. in addition the extraordinary dividend 

payment will amount to chf 240 million. based on 

the share price at year-end 2013 the dividend yield 

on the kuehne + nagel share is 3.0 per cent (2012: 

3.5 per cent). 

strategy will not lead to substantial acquisitions 

in 2014. 

shareholder return

from 2009 to 2013 the kuehne + nagel share 

outperformed the smi as well as the spi, only the 

beutran-index performed better.

planned acquisitions

the strategy of the kuehne + nagel group is 

focused on organic growth with customer and 

industry specific integrated logistic solutions. 

acquisitions will be assessed as a support to  

this strategy in cases of complementary service 

offering to be acquired. it is expected that this 

Share price and market capitalisation (at December 31)

share price and market capitalisation 2013 2012 per cent
change

share price (chf) 117.1 110.0 6.5

market capitalisation (in chf million)  14,052  13,200 6.5

Total shareholder return development 

in chf 2013 2012

increase/(decrease) of share price year over year 7.10 4.50

dividend per share 3.50 3.85

total return 10.60 8.35
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slower growth of international container market 

in 2013 the volume of international container traffic 

grew by approximately 3 per cent, barely exceeding 

the growth of world trade. the intra-asian market, 

the largest in terms of volume, recorded an increase 

of 5 per cent in container volume. growth on the 

transpacific routes amounted to only around 2 per 

cent. whereas exports from europe to asia were up 

by 5 per cent, in the opposite direction volumes only 

grew by 2 per cent due to weak demand in europe. 

as in the previous year, latin american import and 

export traffic slowed down due to the weak state of 

world trade.

shipping companies and freight rates  

despite existing overcapacity, the global container-

ship fleet grew again in 2013. new vessels capable 

of carrying between 13,000 and 18,000 teu were 

brought into service. this resulted in capacity growth 

of around 6 per cent. the substantial imbalance bet-

ween supply and demand that exists in some trades 

led to a significant fall in rates, particularly in the 

first half of the year. on some routes, variations up 

to 700 usd per teu within a few months became 

the norm.

development of Kuehne + nagel’s business

with a focus on stable margins, kuehne + nagel 

consciously did not participate in the keen compe-

tition in the asia-europe trade. container numbers 

on these traditionally important routes increased by 

only 3 per cent. in the north atlantic trades, with 

growth amounting to 8 per cent, the company again 

grew faster than the market. however, the develop-

ment of business fell short of expectations in the 

european export trades to latin america and asia. 

kuehne + nagel was able to balance most of the 

falls in volume in the fourth quarter. in the trans- 

pacific trade lanes, with volume growth of 7 per cent, 

kuehne + nagel reached its ambitious goal and 

strengthened its leading position.

lcl   

the lcl (less-than-container load) business was 

exposed to strong competition. although overall 

volumes stagnated as a result of the economic 

situation, kuehne + nagel increased capacity uti-

lisation of its own lcl services and also expanded 

them by opening 30 new routes. the establish-

ment of a new gateway in busan, south korea, 

which ideally complements the hubs in shanghai, 

singapore and colombo, has further enhanced 

efficiency in the consolidation of goods bound for 

latin america. 

river shipping

the favourable development of the european river 

shipping business continued in 2013 with volume 

growth of more than 10 per cent. kuehne + nagel’s 

network primarily covers the rhine-main-danube 

routes to and from the “zara” ports (zeebrugge, 

antwerp/belgium, amsterdam, rotterdam/nether-

lands) as far as the black sea, as well as danube

sea traffic.  

In a seafreight market which was characterised by low volume growth 
and high rate volatility, particularly in the first half of the year, Kuehne + Nagel  

focused on margins rather than volume growth. despite considerable declines 
in the oil & gas and project businesses, the gross profit margin and the conversion 

rate (the ratio of EBIT to gross profit) were held stable at the previous 
year’s level. In 2013 Kuehne + Nagel managed the transport of approximately 

3.6 million TEU, 105,000 containers more than in the previous year.

seafreight
focus on managing volatilit y  
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Performance Seafreight

chf million 2013 margin
per cent

2012 margin
per cent

variance
2013/2012

per cent

turnover  8,998 100.0  9,059 100.0 –0.7

gross profit  1,279 14.2  1,275 14.1 0.3

ebitda  408 4.5  415 4.6 –1.7

ebit  384 4.3  391 4.3 –1.8

number of operating staff  8,036  8,016 0.2

teu ‘000  3,578  3,473 3.0

reefer container traffic   

in line with its global strategy of focusing on the 

transport of specific goods (such as fruit, fish, meat 

and pharmaceutical products), over the past years 

kuehne + nagel has continuously expanded its acti-

vities in the field of temperature-controlled cargo. in 

2013 the company was again able to increase both 

volumes and results. 

oil, gas and project business    

this field of business is subject to fluctuations as 

a result of long lead times and differences in the 

duration of contracts. the 2013 business year saw 

the completion of various major projects handled  

by kuehne + nagel which affected turnover and 

results. new projects in asia and africa are currently 

under development. 

 

emergency and relief logistics

with its special know-how kuehne + nagel supports 

many international aid organisations in crisis areas 

on the basis of long-term contracts. the company can 

offer its services on all transport routes and with all 

means of transport. when typhoon haiyan left a trail 

of destruction in the philippines, kuehne + nagel 

was operating there for a major aid organisation.

high productivity as a result of it systems 

kuehne + nagel’s outstanding productivity is based 

on its globally standardised, interlinked it systems. 

the implementation of the first module of the new 

operational system “sealog” will further increase 

productivity and at the same time enhance data 

quality.

the requirements of customers are changing ever 

faster and becoming constantly more complex.  

kuehne + nagel continuously modernises and 

optimises its it systems in order to provide cus-

tomers with information logistics that is tailored 

to their specific requirements and creates added 

value.

outlook for 2014

following the first positive signals, experts fore- 

cast moderate growth for the international container 

market in 2014. however, the upswing in the contai-

ner business is heavily dependent on a strengthening 

of the world economy and particularly that of the 

usa. as a result of the deployment of further new 

vessels, rates will remain subject to fluctuations in 

the current business year.

 

while observing a policy of strict cost management, 

kuehne + nagel will concentrate on trade lanes 

with promising growth potential while pursuing 

stable margins. at the same time the company will 

further strengthen its leading market position by 

expanding its specialised services and innovative 

value-added activities. 
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development of market and rates

in 2013 the global airfreight market was characte-

rised by a prolonged decline in demand and large 

regional differences in the development of tonnage. 

however, the fall in market volume was less marked 

than in the previous year, and in the last two months 

of 2013 there were even a few encouraging signs 

of an upswing towards growth. on a regional level, 

china experienced a contraction of airfreight export 

business for the first time, which was primarily due 

to subdued demand in europe and north america. 

this development was additionally impacted by a 

tendency to ship more cargo via the less expensive 

sea route. on the other hand, export business in 

southeast asia, europe and the middle east deve-

loped very favourably.

despite the difficult situation in the global air-

freight market, freight capacities increased in 2013. 

airlines brought new aircraft into service in response 

to the growing volume of passenger traffic, resulting 

in a belly capacity increase of approximately 5 per 

cent. the imbalance between capacity and demand 

led to a fall in load factors and low rates. this 

ultimately resulted in a number of cargo airlines 

disappearing from the market. 

 

development of Kuehne + nagel‘s 

airfreight business

notwithstanding the difficult environment, kuehne + 

nagel increased its volume by 4 per cent to 1,134,000 

tons and thus further improved its market position. 

airfreight operations performed very favourably in 

europe and the asian growth markets, as well as in 

the middle east and africa. the company took ad-

vantage of business opportunities in north america, 

resulting primarily in higher transport volumes on 

the routes to south america. in contrast, there was 

no increase in the volumes shipped from latin and 

central america, largely due to the volatile econo-

mic policy situation in a number of key markets such 

as brazil. 

performance underlines effectiveness of strategy

kuehne + nagel’s volume growth outperformed the 

market in all quarters of 2013. this was substantially 

due to the consistent application of the company’s 

strategy of concentrating on specific airfreight pro-

ducts for individual industries, as well as increasing 

tonnage in selected markets, and in the airfreight 

project business. kuehne + nagel gained new and  

attractive projects in the hard cargo business in 

2013, notably in the automotive and spare parts 

field. in the perishables segment, tonnage grew in 

line with internal targets. the focus of attention will 

turn to organic growth, since the dedicated kuehne + 

nagel perishables network has now reached a critical 

size. its main bases are located in the key markets  

for perishables such as australia, canada, colombia, 

the netherlands and kenya. 

 

the marketing of “kn pharmachain” was intensified 

in 2013. kuehne + nagel brought this innovative 

service, which meets the high quality requirements of 

airfreight
an outstanding performance

In a continuously challenging business environment, Kuehne + Nagel’s 
airfreight organisation proved its strength once more. despite the stagnating  

international airfreight market, Kuehne + Nagel increased its tonnage by around 
4 per cent. The profitability target was also reached with a conversion rate 

 improved to 25 per cent. 
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customers from the pharmaceutical and healthcare 

sector, to the market in 2012. the active wireless 

sensor technology, which enables the temperature of 

goods to be continuously monitored across all trans-

port modes, locations and supply chain interfaces, 

is considered to be market leading. a control centre 

monitors the data round the clock, seven days per 

week, and ensures optimum handling and appro-

priate storage of the goods. this quality product 

generated substantial new business in 2013. 

aviation/aerospace logistics  

for companies in the aerospace industry, kuehne + 

nagel develops tailor-made solutions for spare parts 

logistics and maintenance. drawing on its expe-

rience and the technology of “kn pharmachain”, 

kuehne + nagel brought the innovative product  

“kn enginechain” to the market in 2013. the 

transport and handling of aircraft engines can be 

monitored around the clock and the consignment 

data viewed in detail in knlogin, the information 

logistics system of kuehne + nagel. in 2013 the 

company signed new contracts which strengthened 

its position as a market leader in the aerospace 

logistics segment.   

   

hotel logistics    

in the hotel logistics segment, kuehne + nagel  

offers integrated logistics solutions to leading global 

hotel chains in association with hotel construction 

and renovation projects. these services continued to 

be successfully marketed in 2013. in addition to the 

renewal of existing contracts kuehne + nagel won 

a number of highly promising projects, notably in 

saudi arabia.

  

process optimisation through new software

in 2012 kuehne + nagel began introducing its new 

operational airfreight system “airlog”. this in-house 

development is now used by more than 100 national 

companies. besides improved data quality, measu-

rable increases in efficiency have already been 

achieved.

outlook for 2014

despite positive signals, the forecasts for the 

global airfreight market in 2014 are cautious. the 

available capacity will continue to exceed demand, 

a fact that will present challenges for all market 

participants.

kuehne + nagel will concentrate on its strengths 

and persist with a strategy that is centred on speci-

fic markets and segments of industry. at the same 

time the focus will remain on operational efficiency 

and profitable growth.

Performance Airfreight

chf million 2013 margin
per cent

2012 margin
per cent

variance
2013/2012

per cent

turnover  4,143 100.0  4,063 100.0 2.0

gross profit  877 21.2  837 20.6 4.8

ebitda*  247 6.0  164 4.0 50.6

ebit*  222 5.4  138 3.4 60.9

number of operating staff  5,211  5,281 –1.3

tons ‘000  1,134  1,093 3.8

*  includes an expense for eu commission antitrust fines in the year 2012 of chf 65 million.
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development of the market  

in 2013, turnover in the european road transport 

market diminished by 0.6 per cent. the west euro-

pean countries experienced a fall of 1.3 per cent, 

while market turnover in central and eastern europe 

was up by 2.1 per cent. more business opportunities 

in road transport presented themselves in the usa, 

brazil and the middle eastern countries, where eco-

nomic growth ranged between 1.7 and 2.5 per cent.   

new strategy “road 2 profit” – overview

the new strategy “road 2 profit” has been pursued 

since the end of the first quarter. the core of this 

strategy is the focus on three product segments:

1. groupage, full load and part load traffic. 

2. special solutions for the pharmaceutical industry,  

 high-value goods and the events & trade fairs  

 sector. 

3. industry-specific solutions, e.g. for the automotive  

 and oil & gas segments. 

the aim is to offer customers a complete range 

of services for transport by road. this strategy, 

combined with strict cost management, is expected 

to bring growth and a sustained improvement in the 

results. 

development in the groupage segment 

the greatest challenges in the european groupage 

markets are presented by rapidly rising costs of local 

transport and fierce competition. to improve kuehne + 

nagel’s market position in this field, in 2013 a 

clearly defined product was launched under the 

name “kn eurolink”. the following steps to increase 

efficiency were additionally initiated: adaptation of 

sales channels to specific customer segments, cen-

tralisation of the pricing process and the purchasing 

of transport capacity, market-oriented adaptation 

of the frequency of international scheduled lines 

to the eurohub in bad hersfeld, germany, and the 

simplification of the it landscape.

full and part loads  

in the year under review, part and full load 

traffic continued to develop favourably. in this 

field too, a new and clearly defined product was 

introduced: “kn eurodirect”. networking between 

dispatchers responsible for part and full loads has 

been improved all over europe, resulting in better 

utilisation of transport capacity and a reduction 

in the number of empty vehicle kilometres. these 

measures were particularly successful in scandi-

navia due to the establishment of a transnational 

full load organisation. as in the groupage field, the 

despite the difficult economic situation in Europe, the principal market for road 
transport, Kuehne + Nagel continuously improved EBIT compared to the previous 

year, subsequently achieving a 50 per cent increase in 2013. This was largely  
a result of the new strategy “Road 2 Profit“, which is primarily based on  

dedicated products, a stronger focus on individual customer segments and  
centralised purchasing of cargo capacity.

road & rail logistics
new strategy lays foundation for improved result  
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purchasing of transport services was centralised in 

this segment.

industry-specific distribution services

in this business unit, kuehne + nagel is also focusing 

on industry-specific distribution networks. there was 

an increase in demand, particularly in the pharma-

ceutical industry. with the product “kn pharma-

chain” kuehne + nagel connects numerous pharma- 

ceutical production plants in europe with its 23 

temperature-controlled distribution centres, all of 

which are certified in accordance with best practice 

(gxp) standards. in transport services for the high-

tech industry (“kn securechain”), turnover fell as a 

result of the economic situation. this was partly 

compensated by greater efficiency in back office 

functions.

event & trade fair logistics   

in event and trade fair logistics, the company 

increased its share of business at german trade fair 

centres. in 2013 the investments, which kuehne + 

nagel made the previous year in the development of 

sports event logistics, began to pay off in the form 

of a substantial expansion of activities. new offices 

were opened in australia, austria, canada and 

switzerland. 

rail transport

kuehne + nagel has transferred parts of its rail 

logistics activities to a joint venture with vtg  

aktiengesellschaft, hamburg. the new joint  

venture, which trades under the name of “vtg rail 

logistics”, began operations on January 1, 2014. 

as an active partner, kuehne + nagel cooperates 

closely with vtg and customers benefit from a wider 

range of services. the development and provision 

of intermodal rail logistics services remain a part of 

kuehne + nagel’s core activities. 

outlook for 2014

the most important aim in the current business  

year is to achieve the positive development of 

results. the turnaround measures that were initiated 

in the year under review, and the consistent imple-

mentation of the “road 2 profit”-strategy, will  

contribute to meeting this objective. a focus is 

placed on profitable business wins with new custo-

mers and continuous improvement of the product 

portfolio.

Performance Road & Rail Logistics

chf million 2013 margin
per cent

2012 margin
per cent

variance
2013/2012

per cent

turnover  3,059 100.0  3,155 100.0 –3.0

gross profit  902 29.5  887 28.1 1.7

ebitda  33 1.1  36 1.1 –8.3

ebit  –8 –0.3  –16 –0.5 50.0

number of operating staff  8,115  8,399 –3.4
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global contract logistics market

the regional differences in the development of 

demand together with rapid changes in market 

conditions and the requirements of customers, 

created new challenges in contract logistics but also 

presented new business opportunities. in western 

europe, growth in the contract logistics market 

stagnated as a result of the difficult economic 

situation that prevailed in most countries. in asia 

and other emerging countries, on the other hand, 

modest growth continued while business in north 

america showed a moderate upturn. experts 

estimate that in 2013 the global contract logistics 

market grew by 2 per cent in relation to the previous 

year. 

transformation in contract logistics leads 

to a strong improvement in results 

the transformation is based on three main initia-

tives: 

1. Master Location Plan/Review of locations 

 under the master location plan, all contract  

 logistics locations worldwide underwent a  

 business and profitability review. on the basis  

 of its findings, structural reorganisation measures  

 were defined for a large proportion of the  

 facilities and their implementation was initiated.  

 roughly 40 unprofitable locations were closed in  

 2013. idle space was also substantially reduced,  

 leading to an increase in profitability. the master  

 location plan is continuing in the current busi- 

 ness year and will have a further positive impact  

 on the development of results.

2. Focused growth programme

 the existing contract logistics strategy relating  

 to product portfolio, customer and industry seg- 

 ments as well as target markets was also reviewed  

 and redefined. kuehne + nagel now focuses on  

 a portfolio of high-quality services, more strongly  

 integrated into the production and trading  

 processes of the customers, as well as end-to-end  

 solutions for internationally operating customer  

 groups. the global service portfolio has been  

 consolidated, optimised and further developed in  

 accordance with this policy.

3. Operational excellence

 the global quality programme prioritises excel- 

 lence in the implementation of all operational  

 processes and the permanent improvement of  

 these processes. among other factors, the  

 group-wide implementation of the kuehne +  

 nagel production system “knps” helps to identify  

 further opportunities for process optimisation and  

 increased productivity and to enhance quality  

 assurance. 

Kuehne + Nagel achieved a substantial improvement in the profitability of its 
contract logistics operations. This was mainly driven by the implementation of the 
Master Location Plan, optimisation of the product portfolio, and concentration on 

complex solutions for internationally operating customers. EBIT increased by  
89 per cent in the year 2013.

contract logistics
profit almost doubled
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in addition to a remarkable improvement in profit-

ability, the consistent application of the strategic 

realignment also led to substantial new business 

from the pharmaceutical industry as well as e-

commerce and industrial spare parts customers.  

 

integrated logistics: sustained 

profitable growth 

in the year under review the company continued to 

implement the strategy of grouping together end-to-

end solutions across all modes of transport within 

the business field of integrated logistics. worldwide, 

it operates seven logistics control centres in which 

the solutions offered to customers undergo further 

development in line with their needs. industry-spe-

cific know-how is integrated and used in the process 

chain management of industrial and commercial 

customers. substantial added value was generated 

in both the flow of goods and the inventory man-

agement of the supply chain. 

outlook for 2014

for the year 2014 the initial forecasts for the global 

contract logistics market are cautiously optimistic. in 

the medium term, growth rates better than those of 

global gross domestic product (gdp) are possible. 

these forecasts take into consideration the dynamic 

character of the globalised economy, the continuing 

trend towards outsourcing logistics functions and 

the changing structures of industry as a result of 

developments such as e-commerce. however, devel-

opment will continue to differ very widely between 

individual regions and industries.

while growth will continue in china and other 

emerging economies, many internationally trading 

and industrial companies in europe and north 

america will concentrate on restructuring their 

supply chains. this means that new business 

opportunities for experienced logistics providers  

will also be created in the established industrial 

countries. key factors for success in an intensely 

competitive market will be the ability of contract 

logistics providers to adapt to changes in market 

dynamics and changes in industrial structures, as 

well as integration into production and trading 

processes. 

in the current business year, the continued efforts of 

kuehne + nagel to implement the three transforma-

tion programmes (master location plan, focused 

growth programme and operational excellence) will 

contribute towards profitable growth. besides invest-

ments in the fields of infrastructure, it and human 

resources, concentration on growth markets will help 

to achieve a sustained positive development.

Performance Contract Logistics

chf million 2013 margin
per cent

2012 margin
per cent

variance
2013/2012

per cent

turnover  4,608 100.0  4,357 100.0 5.8

gross profit  3,158 68.5  3,056 70.1 3.3

ebitda*  191 4.1  151 3.5 26.5

ebit*  104 2.3  56 1.3 85.7

number of operating staff  30,725  30,658 0.2

* 2012 revised by chf 1 million due to application of ias 19 (revised).



32 Report of the Business Units    real estate

corporate real estate management  

worldwide, the real estate business unit provided  

active support in the development and leasing 

of new facilities as well as the sale of individual 

logistics properties. its efforts concentrate primar-

ily on the selection of real estate developers and 

investors, the subsequent contract negotiations, 

contract management and the technical supervision 

of specific projects including completion on time 

and within budget. 

worldwide real estate portfolio    

at the end of the year 2013, kuehne + nagel’s 

global portfolio comprised 126 logistics  

facilities and office buildings in 21 countries.  

worldwide, the warehouse space under manage- 

ment totalled 8,400,00 sqm. 

 

all new buildings have been constructed to reflect 

sustainability and the economic use of natural 

resources. for instance, kuehne + nagel logistics 

centres are equipped with large-area solar power 

installations. furthermore, the energy-efficient 

components of this state-of-the-art building techno-

logy are certified in accordance with international 

standards. 

market development     

in the year 2013, due to the euro crisis and the 

volatile global economic environment, a hesitant 

mood prevailed in the logistics real estate market 

and among its actors – banks, investors, real estate 

developers. although investors had sufficient capital 

at their disposal, activity stagnated in a number 

of markets. this resulted in a shortage of premium 

logistics real estate in various countries. a slight 

easing of the situation was felt only in the latter 

part of the year. 

when concluding lease agreements, the credit-

worthiness of the lessees and the duration of the 

lease were crucially important. the flexibility of 

shorter lease periods came at the cost of higher rent 

charges. with regard to project developments, there 

was a clear focus on investor solutions, industry-

specific facilities (“build-to-suit“) and the combining 

of cross-docking and logistics terminals in first-class 

locations. 

Facilities brought into service in 2013

facilities usable area (sqm)

belgium, geel

2nd phase of logistics facility 20,000

germany, leipzig

1st phase of logistics facility   10,000

united kingdom, dagenham

transhipment facility  

 

 6,000

united arab emirates, dubai

2nd phase of logistics facility  14,000

In the year 2013, new logistics properties in Belgium, germany, the United  
Kingdom and the United Arab Emirates were added to the Kuehne + Nagel port-

folio. At the same time, global space management was streamlined. 

real estate
four new logistics facilities brought into service  
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strategic direction   

kuehne + nagel pursues a sustainable real estate 

strategy, which aims at continuous optimisation of the 

portfolio through counter-cyclical action. in relation to 

this the following elements are of central importance:

 

— a proactive approach to space requirement plan- 

 ning based on the growth targets of the business  

 units.

— selective expansion of the portfolio of company- 

 owned real estate in strategically important world  

 trade hubs, in order to create potential for value  

 increases and to support the operational effi- 

 ciency of the kuehne + nagel group.

— efficient management of the portfolio of leased  

 properties.

campus concept

increasingly, kuehne + nagel is implementing the 

campus concept at strategic locations. by concen-

trating logistics facilities (shared/dedicated) for 

different industries at one location, it is possible to 

increase efficiency, create synergies and manage 

demand peaks in a flexible manner. the flexibility in 

space utilisation also suits the requirements of the 

e-commerce sector. 

a global network of business partners such as 

investors, developers and real estate consultants 

facilitates the identification of ideal rentable space 

and building plots to make them available for use 

by kuehne + nagel. market analyses are also carried 

out with the aim of quickly and efficiently meeting 

the space requirements of the individual national 

companies.

outlook for 2014

the main objectives in the real estate sector are still 

the timely identification and securing of the space 

required for kuehne + nagel‘s business activities, 

while maintaining an appropriate balance between 

own property and leasehold agreements. in addi-

tion, importance is placed on continuous adaptation 

to the demands of the market and the environment, 

and maintaining a high quality of planning and 

execution. 

Performance Real Estate

chf million 2013 2012 variance
2013/2012

per cent

net turnover  73  76 –3.9

ebitda  62  70 –11.4

ebit  38  45 –15.6
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insurance market

in 2013 high available capacity again resulted in 

low premium levels, which affected the development 

of the international insurance business. the industry 

was also confronted with predominantly price-based 

competition for market share in europe and the 

united states. to operate successfully in such an 

environment, strong customer orientation, service 

excellence and the ability to offer professional and 

individual solutions in all branches of industrial 

insurance were essential requirements. in connection 

with a growing level of claims in cargo insurance, 

there were early indications that insurers would 

adopt a substantially more restrictive policy when 

it came to underwriting problematic risks and that 

they, if necessary, would increase premiums.    

development of business  

with increased sales activities and an expanded 

product range, nacora succeeded in gaining market 

share in the european and south american markets. 

the brokerage business of the nacora companies in 

brazil, germany, the united kingdom and switzer-

land developed particularly well. there was also an 

improvement in the results of the scandinavian and 

east european nacora companies.

continuous expansion of the product portfolio

the core business of the nacora group is cargo 

insurance and its product portfolio is tailored 

primarily to the needs of small and medium-sized 

enterprises in trade, industry, transport and logis-

tics. nacora provides this customer segment with 

access to professional and specialised know-how 

through its global network, and offers flexibility 

together with a high-quality service. in addition, 

nacora continuously expands its product portfolio 

to include all other commercial lines of insurance 

and, at the same time, enforces the development 

of other industry-specific cargo insurance solu-

tions. 

in 2013 the nacora group increased demand for 

its specialised products for risks associated with 

the transport and storage of aircraft spare parts as 

well as in the field of emergency and relief logistics. 

the special cargo insurances for the segments 

perishables, beverages/wine/spirits, oil & gas and 

the high-tech industry are being well received by 

the market. there was a reported growth in sales 

of nacora’s hybrid marine cargo/logistics liability 

insurance solution. the advantage of this product 

is that liabilities arising from individual logistics 

despite challenging market conditions, the Nacora group continued the stable 
business development of the previous year and again increased its operational 

result. The business model, based on a comprehensive range of niche and special 
products as well as a worldwide presence, proved to be a valuable asset. 

insurance broKer
positive performance continued  
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customer contracts can be assesed and covered in a 

tailor-made approach according to the carriers’ and 

forwarders’ needs. 

modern information technology 

increases efficiency

the nacora group has equipped almost all its 40 

offices in 33 countries with the innovative online 

certificate system “nacora-e-insurance”. this system 

enables customers to declare insured shipments  

and to issue certificates. in addition to greater flex-

ibility, it makes the process of declaration, verifica-

tion and approval by the insurer more transparent 

and safer.

 

outlook for 2014

in view of the ongoing consolidation in insurance 

brokerage activities and the high capacities in a 

market that is growing only at a very modest rate, 

the nacora group will concentrate on the expansion 

of its core business and the further development of 

niche products. the group will further strengthen its 

market position by means of strategic partnerships 

to open up new markets and a selective investment 

policy in the growth regions of south america, asia 

and eastern europe. its high standard of service 

and strong customer orientation will also help to 

maintain the positive development of the nacora 

group in 2014.

Performance Insurance Broker

chf million 2013 margin
per cent

2012 margin
per cent

variance
2013/2012

per cent

turnover  120 100.0  117 100.0 2.6

gross profit  40 33.3  38 32.5 5.3

ebitda  21 17.5  20 17.1 5.0

ebit  21 17.5  20 17.1 5.0

number of operating staff  187  174 7.5
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shaping the future

major contributions to future business success:

realignment of the regional structure

in 2013, one of the central tasks for human resour-

ces was to provide support in planning and imple-

menting the realignment of the regional structure. 

since July 1, 2013, as a result of a consolidation and 

expansion process, the organisation has been made 

up of seven regions, leading to numerous changes  

in the regional management structures. intensive  

hr support made it possible to newly appoint or  

fill key positions in a short period of time. 

global recruitment and targeted 

development of talented staff  

with a comprehensive programme kuehne + nagel 

ensures the development of talent on an interna-

tional basis at all levels – from initial training to the 

appointment of selected staff to senior management 

functions. while maintaining regional development 

programmes, positive experiences gained from the 

dual system of training and education in germany 

will be incorporated into new international concepts 

in future.  

apprentices: international experience 

as a basis for a global career 

in 2013 the kuehne + nagel apprenticeship pro-

grammes and some of their participants were again 

honoured with a number of awards. at the end 

human resources of the year under review, 11,027 young people in 

twelve different fields of specialisation were in train-

ing. this represents an increase of 14 per cent over 

the previous year. 

in order to encourage international mobility, kuehne + 

nagel has developed a concept, which will enable 

future freight forwarders to serve a six-month intern-

ship in one of its subsidiaries in another country as 

from the training year 2014/15. as in the kuehne + 

nagel bachelor programme, which was established 

in 2012, the experience gained abroad is intended 

to provide trainees with the optimum preparation 

for their future tasks.  

high potentials  

in 2013, 71 employees from 28 countries started  

the first training module of the high potential- 

programme. the training courses centre around 

social projects initiated and organised by the partici-

pants themselves. through these projects, important 

issues in the areas of project management, leader-

ship, team building and ethical business behaviour 

are the subject of teaching and discussion. a vital 

part of the talent management process is the follow-

up and monitoring of the high potential alumni 

group, which now comprises 200 members of the 

staff. the career steps of this group of employees 

are planned and implemented in close cooperation 

between the corporate and regional staff deve- 

lopers. support is provided by experienced senior  

management members who perform a mentor  

function.
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development of managerial staff 

kuehne + nagel’s management development system 

is geared locally, regionally and globally to the 

corporate strategy and philosophy. the programmes 

are globally standardised and sequential in their 

character. in 2013 the top and senior management 

programme was again developed in collaboration 

with cranfield school of management, london. in 

addition to the enhancement of professional and 

personal leadership skills, the further training pro-

grammes focused on the handling of strategically 

important business issues. 

training and further education – 

actively managing changes

more than 20,000 training and further education 

courses took place in 2013. in addition to train-

ing courses in the fields of quality management, 

contract logistics and seafreight, a further point of 

emphasis was the instruction of all employees on 

compliance issues. since the introduction of the 

code of conduct campaign, nearly 61,000 employ-

ees have received face-to-face instruction. 

the implementation of the new operational it  

systems for air- and seafreight is accompanied by  

an extensive change management programme. 

social responsibility 

on a national and a regional level a large number 

of programmes were offered with a view to achiev-

ing compatibility between work and family life and 

the sustained promotion of health.

hr systems and processes 

the e-recruitment solution was further enhanced 

and this system-supported job application pro-

cess is now used in 72 countries. in addition, a 

globally uniform it solution for the management 

of succession planning has been developed and 

implemented. preparatory work is in progress on the 

global harmonisation of the staff time registration 

and account system, which is aimed at reducing 

administrative costs.

cost-effective global business exchange 

the number of virtual meetings held with the aid of 

the centra platform increased to 8,500. this saves 

travelling costs and allows both internal and exter-

nal projects and training courses to be organised 

and held more quickly.

an increasing prominence is given to computer-

based training (cbt) units that enable individuals 

to study course material at their convenience. in the 

year under review the number of successfully com-

pleted cbt courses exceeded 100,000 for the first 

time, representing an increase of 25 per cent.

number of employees

compared with the preceding year the number of 

employees fell slightly from 63,248 to 62,744.
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support in the field of logistics

in addition to the financing of the kühne logistics 

university, hamburg, in 2013 the kuehne foundation 

gave support to the following logistics institutes, 

professorships and projects: 

— professorship of logistics management at the  

 federal institute of technology (eth), zurich 

— kuehne centre for logistics management at whu –  

    otto beisheim school of management, vallendar

— professorship for logistics management at the  

    “hochschule für internationale wirtschaft und  

    logistik“ (hiwl), bremen

— professorship for logistics management at tongji  

 university, shanghai

— centre of excellence for international logistics  

 networks at the technical university (tu), berlin  

Kühne logistics university (Klu), hamburg

the kühne logistics university, founded in 2010, 

covers the full spectrum of university education: 

it offers a bachelor in management, a master in 

global logistics as a specialised programme for 

students with a clear professional orientation in 

logistics, a master in management, a more general 

corporate management programme, and a doctor-

ate programme. in part-time education, klu offers 

an executive mba in leadership & logistics, as 

well as open and company-specific further training 

programmes for specialist and managerial staff. the 

15 international professors are distinguished by the 

practical orientation of their teaching and the excel-

lence of their research in the fields of logistics and 

general management. 

in 2013 the educational programme of the uni-

versity was expanded and 24 students began the 

first module of their bachelor course. with its new 

campus in the hafencity the university has moved 

into modern and inspiring surroundings which bene-

fit not only its professors but also its 200-strong 

student body. in the year under review the kuehne 

foundation decided to further strengthen its com-

mitment to promoting the teaching of logistics at 

university level by giving additional funding to the 

development of klu.

Sustainability    kuehne foundations

The Kuehne Foundation, which was founded in Switzerland in 1976, has made  
its name through its initiatives to promote education, further training and  

research in the fields of logistics and transport. At the same time, it supports pro-
jects in cultural and medical areas. The Kuehne Foundation is operationally  

active and initiates almost all of the projects it funds. The sole donor of this public 
trust foundation, Prof. dr. h. c. Klaus-Michael Kuehne, regards his commitment to 

quality and sustainability as an important part of his social responsibility  
as an entrepreneur.

Kuehne foundations
an enduring commitment to education and further training
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responsible for all logistics-related training and 

further education activities of whu and for the 

coordination of logistics research. 

its research activities focus mainly on the following 

areas: sustainability and risk management of logis-

tics networks, humanitarian logistics, management 

of logistics service providers and logistics outsourc-

ing and controlling.

in the context of sustainability, for instance, the 

logistics centre is investigating how logistics in 

the world’s megacities can be improved in order to 

shape sustainable urban growth. another study is 

examining what it capabilities logistics providers 

need in order to meet the needs of customers in the 

spectrum between standardised transport services 

and complex contract logistics projects. with a view 

to obtaining results with a practical orientation and 

an international scope, the centre involves leading 

logistics providers and industrial companies in its 

research projects. 

also supported by the kuehne foundation, the an-

nual “whu campus for supply chain management” 

event took place for the tenth time in march 2013, 

with the theme “communication and collaboration 

shaping future supply chains”. lectures and work-

shops held by various representatives of companies 

and academics addressed the latest developments 
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professorship of logistics management at the 

federal institute of technology (eth), Zurich

the chair of logistics management at eth zurich, 

which has received support since 2008, further 

strengthened its international profile as a leading 

centre in the field of supply chain management. this 

was achieved through participation at international 

conferences, primarily in the usa, as well as by the 

publication of high-quality papers with both an 

academic and a practical orientation. the subjects 

covered by the projects include strategy, networks, 

supplier relations, risk, innovation, entrepreneurship 

and sustainability within the context of logistics and 

supply chain management. new activities include 

research, product development and training in the 

field of humanitarian logistics. 

in 2013 an emphasis was placed on further develop- 

ment of the executive mba in supply chain manage- 

ment. this programme, which has run annually since 

2003, prepares persons in managerial positions 

and up-and-coming young professionals for the next 

stage in their career. the renewed accreditation by 

the european foundation for management develop-

ment attests that the programme meets the highest 

international quality standards.

Kuehne centre for logistics management at whu – 

otto beisheim school of management, vallendar  

the kuehne centre for logistics management is  



in supply chain management from the perspective of 

communication and cooperation.

professorship for logistics management at  

the “hochschule für internationale wirtschaft 

und logistik“ (hiwl), bremen 

at the “hochschule für internationale wirtschaft 

und logistik” the kuehne foundation supports the 

teaching activities, in particular by funding the 

professorship for systems and processes in logistics. 

the dual bachelor courses “logistics” and “interna-

tional business”, aim to provide young people with 

a practically oriented academic training as the basis 

for a successful career. in times of globalisation, 

the international focus of the course of study is of 

great importance. at present, roughly 50 per cent of 

the 83 enrolled students are engaged in periods of 

international exchange or internships abroad.

professorship for logistics management at 

the chinese-german university college of the 

tongji university, shanghai

for more than five years, the kuehne foundation 

has supported the professorship “international 

logistics networks and services” at the chinese-

german university college of the tongji university 

in shanghai. it cooperates with other institutes 

supported by the kuehne foundation through 

joint research activities, dual master and doctoral 

programmes. stays in china for doctoral candidates 

and exchange programmes for students are addition-

ally supported.

in an interesting example of a joint research project, 

the institute is now working with the tu berlin on 

a navigator for german-chinese logistics networks 

that is intended to assist companies in important 

planning phases. the professorship is also inten-

sively involved in teaching at the tongji university 

and instructs chinese and international students in 

logistics and supply chain management.  

centre of excellence for international logistics 

networks at the technical university (tu), berlin  

for many years the kuehne foundation has sup-

ported the centre of excellence for international 

logistics networks, which is located at the institute 

for technology and management of the tu berlin. 

one of the fields upon which the project focuses 

its attention is research into the management of 

german-chinese logistics networks. in 2014 it is 

planned to establish a junior professorship for man-

agement of international logistics networks which 

will be supported by the kuehne foundation.

 

humanitarian logistics – h.e.l.p. (humanitarian 

and emergency logistics project)

the h.e.l.p. programme, which was initiated by 

the kuehne foundation in schindellegi in october 

2010, is dedicated to education and further training 
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as well as the provision of consultancy services to 

humanitarian organisations. it sets out to profes-

sionalise humanitarian logistics and to enhance the 

efficiency, effectiveness and transparency of the 

relevant processes. in the context of this initiative, 

training is given in countries that receive humani-

tarian assistance while various organisations in 

donor countries are provided with instruction in supply 

chain management and humanitarian logistics. in 

the field of research, the h.e.l.p.-team cooperates 

closely with the kühne logistics university in ham-

burg and other local universities.

 

in 2013, humanitarian logistics activities were 

systematically regionalised in order to speed up the 

delivery of support to global crisis areas. regional 

offices were established in singapore for the asia-

pacific area, in tanzania for the south-eastern aid 

corridor, and in ethiopia for the crisis region in 

the horn of africa. in november 2013 the once-in-

a-century typhoon “haiyan” hit large parts of the 

philippines with unprecedented force and brought 

great suffering to the region. a team from the 

singapore regional office was on the ground in the 

most severely affected regions for three weeks, and 

supported the british aid organisation “plan interna-

tional” in operational functions and the distribution 

of food. 

cK-care – allergy research

the christine kuehne centre for allergy research 

and education (ck-care) was founded four years 

ago. its aim is to promote research, education and 

prevention in the field of allergy and to achieve 

the greatest possible benefit for the health of the 

affected patients. in industrialised countries roughly 

30 per cent of the population suffer from allergies – 

with corresponding impacts to health and costs 

to the economy. in coordinated collaboration with 

renowned and international working groups, the  

following special fields are studied:

— environment, allergens and exposure  

— immunoepidemiology of allergic diseases in  

   childhood  

— innovative diagnostics and therapy  

— mechanisms of severe allergies  

— therapy and rehabilitation 

the interface between the acquisition of new know-

ledge and its publication is of particular value. as 

part of the second global allergy forum in davos, 

ck-care organised a platform for meetings and ex-

changes at the highest scientific level. as its central 

theme, the congress examined the question of what 

effects climate change has on allergy patients. it 

came to the conclusion that there will probably 

be a significant increase in the global number of 

cases. in connection with this question, a study was 

also presented which examined how early-flowering 

alder trees substantially affect the lives of allergic 

subjects. the results met with worldwide attention, 
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and a summary of the study was published in the 

renowned “new england Journal of medicine”. 

cultural projects 

in the field of culture, the kuehne foundation mainly 

gives support to music and literature. in the year 

under review many concerts, operas and festivals in 

switzerland and germany were supported.

Salzburg Festival

2013, saw the first time that , the kuehne founda-

tion supported the young singers, a programme 

which has established a high-calibre platform for 

the promotion of soloist singers. young artists were 

invited to compete for a scholarship in salzburg and 

the opportunity of working together with festival 

artists. the attractiveness of this offer is illustrated 

by the fact that it received more than 400 interna-

tional applicants, from whom the 21 most talented 

individuals were selected. the original combination 

of contact with artists and practical experience 

makes this initiative of the kuehne foundation a 

cultural sponsorship programme with an interna-

tional character.

Harbour Front Literature Festival in Hamburg

creativity and diversity are required not only in logis-

tics but also in literature. it was these parallels that 

provided the motivation for the klaus-michael kuehne 

foundation, together with the hamburg senate, to 

create the harbour front literature festival in 2009. 

2013 was a jubilee year, for it marked five years  

of the harbour front literature festival with the 

foundation as its principal sponsor. for this reason 

the opening event took place in the new premises 

of the kühne logistics university. in addition  

to the klaus-michael kuehne prize for the best  

debutante authors, a new prize for writers of 

children’s and teen books was founded to mark the 

jubilee: in 2013 the “hamburger tüddelband“ for 

the best storyteller was awarded to rafik shaml. 

christine kuehne, the festival’s patron, presented 

the prize at the award ceremony in the hamburg 

speicherstadt. in 2013 the programme of the 

harbour front literature festival included 80 events 

which attracted 20,000 visitors in 26 different 

venues.

Lucerne Festival

in 2013 the kuehne foundation again supported 

the lucerne festival, one of the most prestigious 

festivals in the field of classical music. last year’s 

festival was also a jubilee occasion, with the stars 

of the international classical music scene gathered 

at lake lucerne for the 75th time. the top-class 

concerts were visited by more than 135,000 lovers 

of music.

the kuehne foundation also gave its support to the 

music summer on the lake of zurich, the hamburg 

state opera, st. catherine’s church hamburg and 

many other cultural events.
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Qualit y, safet y, health 

and environment

Qshe – an important component 

of sustainability  

in the kuehne + nagel group, integrated manage-

ment in the fields of quality, safety, health and en-

vironment is the foundation of economic, ecological 

and social sustainability. 

certified quality  

in an increasingly complex economic environment, 

high-quality services are an important prerequi-

site for business success. to certify that kuehne + 

nagel meets the quality requirements of customers 

in accordance with international guidelines and 

standards, the company undergoes annual external 

audits. a large number of certifications were again 

effected during the year. 669 branches in 88 coun-

tries are now certified in accordance with quality 

standard iso 9001:2008. 404 locations in 55 coun-

tries conform to the environmental standard iso 

14001, and at the end of the year 302 locations in 

51 countries met the requirements of oshas 18001.

product and industry-specific certifications

in addition, kuehne + nagel meets the specific qual-

ity standards for a number of different industries in- 

cluding the high-tech, aerospace, chemical and 

pharmaceutical industries. 

with “kn pharmachain”, kuehne + nagel offers a 

product that meets the high quality requirements of 

the pharmaceutical industry. in 2013 its dedicated 

network was extended so as to comprise 80 certified 

locations. as a result, kuehne + nagel can offer its 

services at all important centres of the pharmaceu-

tical industry in accordance with the highest inter-

national certification standards for the transport 

and handling of temperature-sensitive products.

on the basis of the international guidelines created 

by the world health organisation, more than 50 

certified kuehne + nagel auditors check that the 

operational and quality requirements are fulfilled 

throughout the world. furthermore, in 2013 the  

kuehne + nagel pharma network satisfied the de-

mands of more than 100 customer audits. 

recognition for quality  

in 2013 kuehne + nagel once again received a  

number of distinctions internationally for its high 

standard in the fields of quality and the environ-

ment – not only from customers and business part-

ners but also from independent bodies and media. 

in the usa, kuehne + nagel was named the “best 

3pl for high-tech & electronics supply chains” by 

the well-known logistics information portal “eyefor-

transport”. in china, in 2013 again the company 

received the “green supply chain award” of the 

magazine “supply chain asia” for its sustainable 

and transparent environment strategy in accordance 

with certified standards. kuehne + nagel brazil was 

named the best logistics provider (“prêmio guia 

maritimo”) by the shippers association. 

customer surveys

customer surveys make a major contribution to the 

continuous optimisation of processes and adminis-

trative procedures. in 2013 the questions asked to 
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customers covered many aspects of service provision, 

ranging from the placing of orders to execution 

and invoicing. there was a very favourable global 

response for the customer service.

sustainability through training

kuehne + nagel sets the bar high when it comes  

to quality standards, and for that reason its staff 

take part in comprehensive training and further  

education programmes. in 2013 kuehne + nagel 

gave instruction to nearly 18,000 employees on  

19 subjects.

health and safety management  

for kuehne + nagel, work safety and health protec-

tion mean much more than adherence to regulations 

in the workplace. its employees receive regular in-

struction in order to prevent accidents and damage 

to health. in all kuehne + nagel facilities, work pro-

cedures are designed to minimise potential hazards. 

courses to promote better health among employees 

are also a part of the prevention programme. all 

measures underline the importance that kuehne + 

nagel attaches to health and safety management. 

security within the supply chain

the maximisation of security within the supply chain 

has become an important competitive factor in a 

global environment. 

kuehne + nagel’s security standards conform to the 

requirements of iso 28001 supply chain security. 

in 21 specially protected logistics centres they meet 

the security test criteria of tapa a (transported 

asset protection association). 31 kuehne + nagel 

national companies have aeo status (authorised 

economic operator of the european union for secu-

rity in connection with customs clearance). this en-

ables kuehne + nagel to assure free trade (import/

export) in accordance with uniform standards such 

as the c-tpat requirements prescribed by the us 

customs authorities, and at the same time to reduce 

transport and trade risks for customers.

business continuity and emergency plans

to ensure the continuity of business in times of 

crisis, kuehne + nagel continuously reviews its emer-

gency plans. measures have been planned to ensure 

the protection of employees and the continuity of 

logistics activities in a variety of scenarios. 

sustainable environmental management

kuehne + nagel is committed to a broad-based envi-

ronmental strategy with the following objectives:

— a continuous reduction in global co
2
 from its  

   operational activities.

— a reduction in the consumption of natural re- 

   sources by recycling or a lower material input. 

— the use of electric power from low-energy or  

   renewable sources.

— the provision of environment-friendly product  

   alternatives to enable customers to meet their  

   own sustainability targets in transport and  

   storage.

global facility carbon calculator (gfcc)

the global facility carbon calculator (gfcc), a 

database established in 2012, was further devel-

oped in the year under review. the database is 

founded on historical and current records from more 

than 650 kuehne + nagel locations. 500 specially 
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trained “environmental champions” collect data 

which permit a local evaluation of emissions and 

constitute the basis for reduction plans. to ensure 

the highest possible data quality, in 2013 kuehne + 

nagel had all its subsidiaries and branches certified 

by bureau veritas in accordance with iso standard 

14063-3. the auditors certified that the emission 

calculations for both the location database and 

transport distances were carried out in accordance 

with the correct methodology. 

global transport carbon calculator (gtcc)

the global transport carbon calculator is an  

effective tool for the prioritisation and monitoring 

of reductions in transport-generated co
2
 emissions, 

quantity of waste and consumption of energy and 

water. in 2013 the following targets were reached:

—  in relation to the preceding year, the co
2
 emis-

sions of transport operations were reduced by  

20 per cent (45,484 tonnes);

—  energy consumption fell by 11 per cent 

(46 million kwh);

—  water consumption was reduced by 36 per cent  

(384,726 cubic metres) to 1.7 million cubic  

metres;

—  waste recycling was up by 36 per cent compared  

with 2012.

Kuehne + nagel supports global co
2
 initiatives

as a leading global logistics provider, kuehne + 

nagel sets new industry standards and cooperates 

closely with environmental platforms and asso-

ciations. these are: clean cargo working group 

(ccwg), green freight europe and green freight 

asia, smartway, adame, cofret, air carbon 

industry (aci) and laboratory for climatology and 

remote sensing (lcrs). Jointly with these organisa-

tions, new knowledge of environmental technology 

is acquired and research is conducted on its applica-

tions and its effects on the value-added chain. 

  

sustainability assessment  

kuehne + nagel takes part in the annual survey of 

the carbon disclosure project (cdp), and in 2013 

attained 87 of a possible 100 points in the following 

six categories: governance & strategy, risks, opportu-

nities, emission reporting, emissions management, 

stakeholder engagement and verification.

outlook  

in the 2014 business year the focus is on the 

further development of the Qshe field and Qshe 

processes. both will further promote sustainable 

management and orientation towards overall social 

responsibility.
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information technology  

further evolution of it strategy

whereas in 2012 the it architecture was modernised 

and arranged on a modular basis, in the year under 

review, kuehne + nagel concentrated on the revision 

and further evolution of its it strategy. besides the 

adoption of state-of-the-art methods and standards, 

its cornerstones include specifications for future 

software developments and cost-effective appli- 

cation of technology throughout the group.

new applications in sea- and airfreight

the implementation of the first module of the new 

airfreight application “airlog import” was acceler-

ated in 2013. more than 100 national organisations 

are now working with this system, which is primarily 

aimed at process automation, and have achieved ini-

tial efficiency increases. the modern user interface 

of “airlog” drives high user acceptance. in addition, 

the programme is characterised by stability and ease 

of maintenance. experience gained in the airfreight 

sector is being incorporated in the development of 

“sealog”, the corresponding seafreight module.  

advances in process automation 

the introduction of new applications in sea- and 

airfreight supports kuehne + nagel’s objective of 

progressively automating its business processes. the 

workflow components incorporated in the system 

facilitate the standardisation and automation of 

country- or customer-specific processes. since docu-

ment management takes place largely on a paper-

less basis, this not only results in shorter process 

times but also means that documents can be quickly 

accessed by all concerned and transmitted in accord-

ance with the stage reached in a specific process.

customers benefit from it-based products

in the development of new products, kuehne + 

nagel focuses on customer benefit and increased 

process efficiency. with the “kn pharmachain” 

product, kuehne + nagel offers its customers in 

the pharma and healthcare industry an innovative 

service in line with the highest quality standards 

for the transport and transhipment of pharmaceuti-

cal products. a key element of this solution is a 

wireless sensor that, for the first time, enables the 

temperature of the goods and other indicators to be 

measured across the entire transport chain including 

all modes of transports, locations and interfaces. 

the data are transmitted to kuehne + nagel’s infor-

mation logistics system knlogin, thus enabling 

customers to monitor the goods round the clock and 

release them more quickly for delivery.  

innovations

kuehne + nagel is facing up to the challenges that 

result from growing data volumes and customer 

requests for the faster exchange of information by 

consistently investing in the development of its it 

infrastructure. the modernisation of various base 

systems, including edi (electronic data interchange) 

allows a more rapid integration with the it systems 

of the customers together with higher information 

quality and scalability.

it support has been substantially strengthened 

by the new it service centre in tallinn, estonia, 

whose development started at the beginning of 

2013 and whose extension is ongoing. more than 

100 resident employees provide round-the-clock 

professional support services and also program 

interfaces for customer solutions. in recognition 

of the successful start-up of the service centre, 

the “foreign investor of the year prize” from the 

estonian chamber of commerce was awarded to 

kuehne + nagel in 2013.

outlook for 2014

in the current business year the continuing mod-

ernisation of edi processes is planned, as well as 

a renewal of essential system components for the 

central document data warehouse and the strategic 

data base. on the user side, the implementation of 

“airlog” will be followed by the introduction of the 

“sealog” module. further plans include innovations 

in the information logistics platform knlogin and 

the development of new software for the overland 

business unit. 



Kuehne + nagel worldwide

The Kuehne + Nagel Network

in alphabetical order in the regions

Americas 

argentina guatemal a

barbados honduras

bermuda mexico

bolivia nic aragua

brazil panama

c anada peru

chile trinidad & 

colombia tobago

costa ric a uruguay

cuba usa

ecuador venezuel a

el salvador

Europe

albania finl and morocco switzerl and

austria france netherl ands united kingdom

bel arus germany norway ukraine

belgium greece pol and

bosnia and hungary portugal

herzegovina irel and romania

bulgaria italy russia

croatia l at via serbia

cyprus lithuania slovakia

czech republic luxembourg slovenia

denmark macedonia spain

estonia malta sweden
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Middle East, Central Asia and Africa

angol a mauritius united arab

bahrain mozambiQue emirates

egypt namibia uzbekistan

georgia nigeria

iran oman

iraQ Qatar

israel saudi arabia

Jordan south afric a

kazakhstan tanzania

kenya turkey

kuwait uganda

lebanon

Asia-Pacific

afghanistan myanmar

australia new zeal and

bangl adesh pakistan

c ambodia philippines

china singapore

india sri  l anka

indonesia taiwan

Japan thail and

korea vietnam

mac au

mal aysia

maldives

global network 49
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principles

the principles of corporate governance, as defined in 

the directive on information relating to corporate 

governance (rlcg) of the six swiss exchange, are 

laid down in the articles of association, the orga-

nisational rules, and the committee regulations of 

the holding company of the group, kuehne + nagel 

international ag, schindellegi, switzerland (the com-

pany). the group follows best practice recommenda-

tions and standards established in the “swiss code 

of best practice for corporate governance”.

group structure and shareholders

under swiss company law the group is organised as 

limited company that has issued shares of common 

stock to investors. kuehne + nagel international ag 

is the ultimate holding company of the group. 

operational group structure

the operational structure of the group is divided 

into the following segments:

  

reportable segments consisting of the business units:

— seafreight

— airfreight

— road & rail logistics

— contract logistics

— real estate

— insurance brokers

geographical information relating to the regions:

— europe

— americas

— asia-pacific 

— middle east, central asia and africa

business performance is reported according to this 

operational structure. for further information on 

the business units, please refer to sections “reports 

of the business units” and the “consolidated 

financial statements” respectively. 

listed companies of the group

kuehne + nagel international ag, the ultimate 

holding company, is the only company listed on the 

stock exchange within the scope of the group’s 

consolidation. kuehne + nagel international ag  

has its registered office in schindellegi (feusisberg), 

switzerland, and its shares are listed on the six 

swiss exchange, zurich. the company’s market 

capitalisation amounted to chf 14,052 million  

(120 million registered shares at chf 117.10 per 

share) on the closing date december 31, 2013.

 

of the total kuehne + nagel international ag share 

capital on the closing date:

 

— the free float consisted of  56,038,474 shares           

 =  46.7 per cent, and

— treasury shares consisted of    61,526 shares 

 = < 0.1 per cent 

kuehne + nagel international ag shares are traded 

under the symbol “knin”, the security number is 

2,523,886 and isin is ch0025238863. 

non-listed companies in the group‘s consolidation  

the main subsidiaries and associated companies  

of the group are disclosed in the appendix 

“significant subsidiaries and joint ventures” to the 

consolidated financial statements (pages 138  

to 145), including particulars as to the country, 

Corporate governance guides the structure and operational practices within the 
group. It aims a the creation of sustainable value for all stakeholders and safe-

guards the management’s decision-making capability and efficiency. Accountability 
through clearly assigned duties to the Boards and Committees and transparency  

in financial reporting ensure that the group acts responsibly.

Kuehne + nagel is committed to good corporate governance, which 
is an important and integral part of the management culture of the 

Kuehne + nagel group (the group).   
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name of the company, location, share capital, and 

the group’s stake in per cent. 

main shareholders

the main shareholder of the group is kuehne holding 

ag, schindellegi, switzerland, which held 53.3 per 

cent of the kuehne + nagel international ag share 

capital on the closing date. the kuehne holding ag 

is 100 per cent owned by klaus-michael kuehne.

the kuehne foundation held 4.4 per cent of the 

kuehne + nagel international ag share capital on 

the closing date.

on december 31, 2013, shares of unregistered owners 

amounted to 22 per cent of the issued shares.

cross-shareholdings

on the closing date there were no cross-sharehol-

dings in place. 

capital structure

ordinary share capital on the closing date

the ordinary share capital of kuehne + nagel 

international ag amounts to chf 120 million and 

is divided into 120 million registered shares of a 

nominal value of chf 1 each. 

authorised and conditional share capital

the annual general meeting held on may 8, 2012, 

extended its approval of authorised share capital up 

to a maximum of chf 20 million by a further two 

years until may 6, 2014. 

the annual general meeting held on may 2,  

2005, approved a conditional share capital  

increase up to a maximum of chf 12 million and 

to add the respective section in the articles of 

association.

the annual general meeting held on may 8, 2012, 

approved a conditional share capital increase up to 

a maximum of chf 20 million for the provision of 

the employee share-based compensation plans of 

the company.

so far no use has been made of these rights. there 

is no resolution of the board of directors outstan-

ding for further issuance of either authorised or 

conditional capital.

a description of the group of beneficiaries and of 

the terms and conditions of the authorised and 

conditional share capital can be found in the 

articles of incorporation art. 3.3, 3.4 and 3.5 which 

are available on the company website (http:// 

www.kn-portal.com/about_us/investor_relations/

corporate_governance/).

change in capital over the past three years   

during the years 2011 through 2013 no changes in 

capital occurred other than related to authorised 

and conditional share capital as outlined above.

shares and participating certificates

on the closing date, 120 million registered shares 

of a nominal value of chf 1 each were outstanding. 

at the same date, no participating certificates were 

outstanding.

profit sharing certificates

there were no profit sharing certificates outstanding 

at the closing date.

limitations on transferability and 

nominee registrations

each share has one vote. all shares have equal 

voting rights and no preferential rights or similar 

entitlements exist. the articles of association do not 

provide for any limitations on the transfer of shares. 

nominees are entered in the share register only 

upon their written agreement to declare the names, 

addresses, and shareholdings of the respective  

persons on whose account they are holding shares. 

convertible bonds and warrants/options

no convertible bonds, warrants or options were out-

standing as at the closing date other than related 

to the group’s employee share purchase and option 

plan (spop). for details of the group’s employee 

share purchase and option plan (spop), please refer 

to note 37 of the consolidated financial statements 

on pages 116 to 118.
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board of directors

at the annual general meeting of may 7, 2013, 

klaus-michael kuehne, karl gernandt, dr. Joerg 

wolle, bernd wrede, dr. renato fassbind, Juergen 

fitschen, hans lerch and dr. thomas staehelin were 

re-elected to the board of directors for a one-year 

term. hans-Joerg hager, whose mandate expired at 

the annual general meeting, retired from the board.

on the closing date the board of directors com-

prised eight members. their biographical particulars 

are as follows:

Klaus-michael Kuehne, honorary chairman,  

german, 1937

commercial apprenticeship in the banking industry.

other significant activities: chairman of the board 

of trustees of the kuehne foundation, schindellegi, 

and the klaus-michael kuehne foundation, ham-

burg; chairman of the board of directors of kuehne 

logistics university gmbh (klu), hamburg.

positions within the kuehne + nagel group:

1958   entrance into the family  

 business followed by various  

 management positions

1966–1975   chief executive officer of the  

 group

1975–1992  delegate and member of the  

 board of directors  

1992–2009   executive chairman of the board  

 of directors 

 chairman of the nomination  

 and compensation committee

2009–2011  chairman of the board of  

 directors

 chairman of the nomination  

 and compensation committee

2010–2011   chairman of the chairman’s  

 committee

2011–today   honorary chairman of kuehne +  

 nagel international ag 

 member of the board of  

 directors elected until the annual  

 general meeting 2014

 member of the nomination and  

 compensation committee

 member of the chairman’s  

 committee

Karl gernandt, chairman, german, 1960

after completing his studies in business administra-

tion at the university of st. gallen, switzerland, karl 

gernandt worked for deutsche bank ag from 1988 

to 1996. there he held positions including that of 

assistant to the head of the board of management 

and chairman of the supervisory board as well 

as functions in international banking in germany, 

asia and the usa. from 1997 to 1999 he set his 

mark on the financial institution group of a.t. 

kearney gmbh. in 1999, karl gernandt moved to 

holcim (deutschland) ag as cfo, in 2000, he was 

appointed ceo and at the same time member of the 

european board of holcim ltd, switzerland. in 2007, 

he became ceo of holcim western europe, brussels. 

since october 1st, 2008, karl gernandt has been 

nominated as ceo of kuehne holding ag, schindel-

legi, and board member of the kuehne foundation. 

he is also managing director of the klaus-michael 

kuehne foundation in hamburg.

other significant activities: vice chairman of the 

board of directors of hapag-lloyd ag, hamburg.

positions within the kuehne + nagel group:

2008–2011   member of the board of 

 directors  

2009–2011  executive vice chairman and  

 delegate of the board of  

 directors

2010–2011  member of the chairman’s  

 committee

2011–today  chairman of the board of  

 directors elected until the annual  

 general meeting 2014

 chairman of the chairman’s  

 committee 

 member of the nomination and  

 compensation committee

 member of the audit committee

08.05.2013–

14.08.2013   chief executive officer (ceo) of  

 the group

dr. Joerg wolle, vice chairman,  

german/swiss, 1957

holds a phd in engineering sciences. since June 

2002 president and ceo of dksh group. previously 

he worked in the same function at siberhegner since 

2000. from 1991 to 1995 dr. Joerg wolle worked as 
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director of marketing and sales at siberhegner in 

hong kong and in 1995 became a member of the 

management board in zurich. from 1988 to 1990 he 

was project manager at skf.

other significant activities: honorary professor for 

”intercultural communication“ at the university of 

applied sciences, zwickau, germany. member of 

the management board of the german asia-pacific 

business association and member of the board of 

directors of diethelm keller holding, switzerland.

positions within the kuehne + nagel group:

2010–2012   member of the board of  

 directors

2011–today   chairman of the nomination  

 and compensation committee

2013–today   vice chairman of the board of 

 directors elected until the annual  

 general meeting 2014

bernd wrede, vice chairman, german, 1943

graduated in business administration from the 

universitiy of wuerzburg. from 1982 to 2001 bernd 

wrede was member of the board of hapag-lloyd ag, 

hamburg, and its chairman as of 1993. currently he 

works as an independent management consultant. 

other significant activities: member of the super-

visory board of hsh nordbank ag, hamburg, and 

member of the board of trustees of the zeit found-

ation, hamburg.

positions within the kuehne + nagel group: 

1999–2002    member of the board of  

  directors 

2002–today   vice chairman of the board of  

  directors elected until the annual  

  general meeting 2014

2008–2009    member of the investment  

  committee

  chairman of the economic  

  council

2003–2006/

2008–today   member of the audit committee

2003–today   member of the nomination and  

  compensation committee

2010–today   member of the chairman’s  

  committee

dr. renato fassbind, swiss, 1955

after graduating from his studies in economics at 

the university of zurich, dr. renato fassbind worked 

as an assistant in the “institut für schweizerisches 

bankwesen” at the university of zurich between 

1979 and 1982. in 1984 he joined hoffmann-la 

roche ag in basel and advanced to the head of 

internal audit. in 1990 he joined abb ag being the 

chief financial officer from 1997 until 2002; from 

2002 until 2004 he was the chief executive officer 

of diethelm keller group, zurich. 

in 2004 dr. renato fassbind joined the credit 

suisse group as the chief financial officer of credit 

suisse group ag and credit suisse ag until october 

2010. in this function he was member of the 

executive boards of credit suisse group ag and of 

credit suisse ag since 2004. 

other significant activities: vice chairman of the 

board of directors of swiss re. ltd., zurich; member 

of the board of directors of hsbc holdings plc, lon-

don; member of the board of directors of the swiss 

federal audit oversight authority (faoa), bern.

positions within the kuehne + nagel group: 

2011–today   member of the board of  

 directors elected until the annual  

 general meeting 2014

2011–today   member of the audit committee

Juergen fitschen, german, 1948

trained as a wholesale and export trader, then 

graduated in business administration from hamburg 

university. Juergen fitschen started his career in 1975 

at citibank in hamburg. in 1983 he was appointed 

member of the executive committee of citibank 

germany. in 1987 he joined deutsche bank and after 

various management positions in thailand, Japan, 

singapore and uk he was appointed member of the 

management board in 2001 responsible for “corpo-

rate and investment bank”. since 2002 Juergen 

fitschen is member of the group executive committee 

of deutsche bank and as of 2004 global head of 

regional management and ceo of deutsche bank 

germany. in these functions he was appointed 

member of the management board of deutsche bank 

ag in 2009. since June 1, 2012, he is co-chairman of 

the management board.
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other significant activities: member of the super-

visory board of metro ag.

positions within the kuehne + nagel group:

2008–today   member of the board of  

 directors elected until the annual  

 general meeting 2014

2008–2009   member of the economic council

 

hans lerch, swiss, 1950

commercial apprenticeship in the tourism industry 

with a 35 year-long career at kuoni travel holding 

ltd., assignments in the far east from 1972–1985, 

various responsibilities at the company’s head- 

quarters in zurich, president and ceo from 1999–

2005. chairman and ceo of sr technics in zurich 

from 2005–2008. vice chairman of hotelplan 

holding ltd., zurich, since 2010.

other significant activities: executive vice chairman 

of abercrombie & kent group of companies, london; 

chairman of the board of directors of the interna-

tional school of tourism management, zurich; vice 

chairman of the board of directors of new venture-

tec ltd., zug; chairman of the board of trustees of 

the move>med foundation, zurich.

positions within the kuehne + nagel group: 

2005–today   member of the board of  

  directors elected until the annual  

  general meeting 2014

2006–today   member of the nomination and  

  compensation committee

dr. thomas staehelin, swiss, 1947

holds a ph.d. in law from the university of basel; 

lawyer.

dr. thomas staehelin is a swiss corporate and tax 

attorney and partner in the basel based law firm 

”fromer advokatur und notariat“.

other significant activities (among others): chair-

man of the board of directors of kuehne holding 

ag, schindellegi; vice chairman of kuehne found-

ation; member of the board of directors and chair-

man of the audit committee of inficon holding ag, 

bad ragaz; chairman of the board of directors of 

swissport international sa, opfikon, and of scobag 

privatbank ag, basel; chairman of the board of 

directors of lantal textiles, langenthal and of 

stamm bau ag, binningen; member of the board of 

directors of economiesuisse (swiss business federa-

tion); president of the basel chamber of commerce; 

chairman of vereinigung der privaten aktienge-

sellschaften and member of the swiss foundation 

for accounting and reporting recommendations 

(swiss gaap fer). 

positions within the kuehne + nagel group:

1978–today   member of the board of  

 directors elected until the annual  

 general meeting 2014 

2006–today   chairman of the audit  

 committee

 

with the exception of the chairman of the board of 

directors, karl gernandt, all members of the board 

of directors are non-executive directors, none of 

them serves as a member of the management board 

and with the exception of the honorary chairman, 

klaus-michael kuehne, none of them has important 

business connections with kuehne + nagel.

election and duration of tenure

board members are elected for a period of one year. 

there are no limits regarding the number of terms 

of service or the age of the incumbents. the election 

for board membership is carried out whenever the 

tenure expires. instead of summary election of the 



55corporate governance

whole board of directors, individual re-elections are 

held for each member. this allows shareholders to 

judge the contribution of each member of the board 

of directors separately.

internal organisation, board committees 

and meetings in 2013 

according to the articles of association and the 

swiss corporate law the main tasks of the board of 

directors comprise: 

— strategic direction and management of the  

 company, 

— accounting matters, 

— financial control and planning, 

— appointing and dismissing management board  

 members and other senior executives, 

— supervisory control of business operations, and  

— submission of proposals to the annual general  

 meeting, in particular the kni and group financial  

 statements.

karl gernandt is the chairman of the board of 

directors and klaus-michael kuehne is honorary 

chairman of kuehne + nagel international ag. the 

entire board of directors, however, is responsible for 

decisions on such above-mentioned aspects that are 

of significant importance to the group. the scope 

of responsibilities of the board of directors, the 

chairman and the vice chairman are stipulated in 

the organisational rules.

the board of directors usually convenes for a two-

day meeting quarterly with the management board 

being at least represented by the ceo and the cfo. 

the board of directors can invite other members of 

the management board to attend these meetings at 

its discretion. the board of directors takes decisions 

during the meetings or by written circular resolu-

tions. all committees meet as often as required, but 

usually quarterly.

audit committee

the audit committee consists of three to five non-

executive, predominantly independent members of 

the board of directors elected for a period of one 

year. re-election as member of the audit committee 

is allowed. as members of the management board 

cannot be members of the audit committee.

the audit committee reviews the quarterly financial 

statements prior to publication. as part of the regular 

contacts between the audit committee and both the 

internal and external auditors, the quality and 

effectiveness of the internal control mechanisms and 

the risk assessments are reviewed and evaluated 

continually on the basis of written reports of the 

internal audit department as well as of management 

letters of the external auditors based on their interim 

audits. furthermore, a regular contact with the 

external auditors throughout the year enables the 

audit committee to obtain knowledge of problem 

areas at an early stage. this allows proposing the 

timely introduction of any corrective actions to the 

management board.

dr. thomas staehelin was the chairman of the 

audit committee as at the closing date, assisted  

by its members karl gernandt, bernd wrede and  

dr. renato fassbind. 

the audit committee holds at least four meetings 

annually. the honorary chairman can take part in 

the meetings as an advisor. unless otherwise 

determined by the audit committee, the ceo, the 

cfo and the auditor in charge take part in all 

meetings, whilst the head of internal audit is invited 

as an advisor whenever needed. in 2013 the auditor 
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in charge attended two meetings and the previous 

auditor in charge one meeting of the audit commit-

tee. the committee’s chairman informs the other 

members of the board of directors about the topics 

discussed in detail and decisions taken and/or to be 

submitted to the entire board of directors for 

approval.

nomination and compensation committee

the nomination and compensation committee 

consists of three to five members of the board of 

directors elected for a period of one year. re-election 

is allowed. the chairman of the board of directors is 

permitted to be part of the nomination and 

compensation committee as long as the majority 

consists of non-executive and independent members.

the committee is responsible for nominating and 

securing the competent staffing of the management 

board and other senior executives. for this purpose 

the committee, on the one hand, develops guide-

lines and criteria for the selection of candidates 

and, on the other hand, provides initial gathering of 

information as well as review of potential new candi-

dates according to the guidelines mentioned above. 

the committee prepares a resolution to be resolved 

by the board of directors. 

the committee defines the principles of compen-

sation and remuneration for the members of both 

the board of directors and the management 

board. the committee recommends the amounts 

of compensation for each member of the board of 

directors. moreover, it evaluates the individual 

performance of each member of the management 

board and approves their remuneration in amount 

and composition. 

on the closing date, dr. Joerg wolle was the chair-

man of the nomination and compensation commit-

tee; klaus-michael kuehne, karl gernandt, bernd 

wrede, and hans lerch were members. 

on invitation of the chairman, the nomination and 

compensation committee convenes as often as 

business requires, but at least three times a year. 

members of the management board can take part in 

the nomination and compensation committee 

meetings by invitation. 

the board of directors is informed by the chairman 

of the nomination and compensation committee 

about all issues discussed, in particular, about all 

decisions to be taken within the competence of the 

board of directors.

chairman’s committee

the chairman’s committee consists of the chair-

man, the vice chairmen, and the honorary chair-

man of the board of directors for the period of their 

tenure in the board of directors. the chairman’s 

committee advises the board of directors on the 

financial performance of the group, its economical 

development and measures of optimisation as well 

as of any other significant developments within the 

group. in its advisory role the chairman’s commit-

tee reports to the board of directors for decisions.

on the closing date, karl gernandt was the 

chairman of the chairman’s committee and 

klaus-michael kuehne, dr. Joerg wolle, and bernd 

wrede were members.

on invitation of the chairman, the chairman’s com-

mittee convenes as often as business requires, but 

typically four times a year. the board of directors 

has the discretion to invite members of the manage-

ment board being at least represented by the ceo 

and the cfo and to invite other members of the 

management board to attend these meetings.
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the board of directors is informed by the chairman of 

the chairman’s committee about all issues discussed, 

in particular, about all decisions to be taken within 

the competence of the board of directors.

rules of competence between the board of 

directors and the management board

the board of directors executes the non-transferable 

and inalienable duties of the ultimate management 

of the group. as far as the non-transferable and 

inalienable duties of the board of directors are not 

concerned, the management responsibility of the 

kuehne + nagel group is an obligation of the 

chairman of the board of directors. he is entitled to 

transfer responsibilities and competences relating to 

the operational management to the management 

board. the management board is responsible for the 

development, execution, and supervision of the 

day-to-day operations of the group and the group 

companies to the extent they are not allocated to 

the annual general meeting, the statutory auditor, 

the board of directors, or the chairman of the board 

of directors by law, by the articles of association, or 

by the organisational rules. the organisational 

rules define which businesses are able to be 

approved by the management board and which 

businesses require the approval of the chairman of 

the board of directors pursuant to approval 

requirements based on the extent and kind of the 

respective business.

the following businesses require, although delegated 

to the management board, the approval of the 

chairman of the board of directors: 

 

— general guidelines for corporate policy, manage- 

 ment, organisation, quality principles, and cata- 

 logues of competences

— determination and change of corporate identity

— substantial acquisition or foundation of  

 subsidiaries or affiliates respectively their sale,  

 encumbrance, or liquidation as well as substan- 

 tial purchase and sale of properties and  

 buildings

— substantial capital increases and capital restruc- 

 turing of subsidiaries

— substantial lease and rent commitments

— yearly target setting process as well as any  

 amendments thereto

— initiation or execution of lawsuits/legal procee- 

 dings and other official procedures with a signifi- 

 cant dispute value or exposure.

information and control system 

of the management board

the management board informs the board of direc-

tors on a regular and timely basis about the course 

of business by means of a comprehensive financial 

management information system (mis) report which 

provides monthly worldwide consolidated results by 

segment and country including comparative actual, 

budgeted and prior-year figures as well as consolida-

ted balance sheet and cash flow analysis two weeks 

after a month’s end at the latest. 

the chairman of the board of directors takes part 

in the management board meetings regularly, 

while the ceo and the cfo are generally invited to 

meetings of the board of directors, the audit com-

mittee as well as to the meetings of the chairman’s 

committee. members of the management board can 

take part in nomination and compensation commit-

tee meetings by invitation.

risk management

risk management is a fundamental element of 

the group’s business practice at all levels and 

encompasses different types of risks. at group 
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level, risk management is an integral part of the 

business planning and controlling processes. 

material risks are monitored and regularly 

discussed with the risk and compliance commit-

tee consisting of the chairman of the board of 

directors, the management board and the risk 

and compliance manager. the risk management 

system within the group covers both financial and 

operational risks. 

furthermore, risk management is part of the internal 

control system (ics). preventive and risk-reducing 

measures to control risks are proactively taken on 

different levels and are a fundamental part of  

management responsibility. the finance and accoun-

ting department conducts, in collaboration with 

regional management and management board, a 

risk assessment at least once a year. details on risk 

management, including identified risks, are provided 

in the consolidated financial statements, note 48 

on pages 125 to 131.

internal audit

the internal audit function reports directly to the 

chairman of the board of directors about ongoing 

activities and audit reports and acts under the 

supervision of the audit committee. kuehne + 

nagel’s internal audit is an independent, objective 

assurance and consulting activity that assists the 

management to exercise their responsibilities 

efficiently by assessing the adequacy and effective-

ness of internal controls. 

Board and committees: Membership, attendance, number and duration of meetings

board and committees  board of
directors

audit
committee

 nomination 
and

compensation
committee

chairman’s 
committee

number of meetings in 2013 4 6 8 3

approximate duration of each meeting 9 hours 4 hours 3 hours 3 hours

klaus-michael kuehne 4 – 8 3

karl gernandt 4 6 8 3

dr. Joerg wolle 4 – 8 2

bernd wrede 4 5 7 3

dr. renato fassbind 4 6 – –

Juergen fitschen 4 – – –

hans-Joerg hager 1 2 – – –

hans lerch 4 – 7 –

dr. thomas staehelin 4 5 – –

1  retired from the board of directors on may 7, 2013.
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management board

effective august 15, 2013, the board of directors 

of kuehne + nagel international ag has appointed 

dr. detlef trefzger, executive vice president contract 

logistics of the group, as chief executive officer 

(ceo). he succeeds karl gernandt, who took over 

the responsibility ad interim in the position of  

ceo from reinhard lange, as of may 8, 2013. 

reinhard lange, after 42 years service with the 

company, retired from the management board  

as of december 31, 2013.

the board of directors of kuehne + nagel inter-

national ag has appointed markus blanka-graff, 

director corporate finance, as new member of 

the management board as of July 1, 2014. he will 

succeed gerard van kesteren, who will retire after 

25 years service with the company, in the position 

of chief financial officer.

on the closing date, the biographical particulars of 

the management board are as follows:

dr. detlef trefzger, german, 1962

dr. trefzger studied at münster and kingston upon 

hull and after being awarded a degree in business 

management by vienna business university.

in 1989 dr. detlef trefzger started his career as 

project manager, industrial & building systems 

group at siemens ag, erlangen, germany. in 1994 

he joined roland berger & partner, munich, 

germany, as principal in the competence center 

transportation & logistics. from 1999 to 2003 he 

worked as member of the board and cfo of the 

region south east europe at schenker & co ag, 

vienna, austria. from 2004 to october 2012 dr. 

detlef trefzger was member of the executive board 

for global contract logistics/supply chain 

management of schenker ag, essen, germany, and 

in addition, executive vice president global air 

freight and global ocean freight in 2012.

positions within the kuehne + nagel group:

01.03.2013–today  executive vice president  

  contract logistics of the group

15.08.2013–today  chief executive officer (ceo) of  

  the group

                       chief executive and chairman of  

  the management board of  

  kuehne + nagel international ag

gerard van Kesteren, dutch, 1949

chartered accountant. spent 17 years at sara lee 

corporation in various management positions in 

finance, lastly as director of financial planning and 

analysis.

positions within the kuehne + nagel group:

1989–1999   regional financial controller  

 kuehne + nagel western europe

1999–today   chief financial officer (cfo) of  

 the group

lothar harings, german, 1960

lawyer (assessor iur.). various national and in-

ternational management positions with siemens, 

amongst others, vice president human resources 

siemens ag for enterprise & international hr icn 

from 1998 to 2002. member of the management 

board of t-mobile international. responsible for 

global human resources with t-mobile ag and 

deutsche telekom from 2002 until march 2009. 

other significant activities: member of the board of 

directors of university bonn; member of the acade-

mic advisory board of bonner akademie, bonn, and 

national curator of deutsches komitee of aiesec 

e. v., bonn.

positions within the kuehne + nagel group:

01.04.2009–today  chief human resources officer  

  (chro) of the group

2010–today   company secretary
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martin Kolbe, german, 1961

graduated computer scientist. positions in it ma-

nagement including cio with deutsche post world 

net from 2002 to 2005, responsible for dhl europe 

and dhl germany as well as member of the super-

visory board in several dpwn-associated companies. 

other significant activities: member of advisory 

board for degree courses in business informatics at 

the technical university berlin.

position within the kuehne + nagel group:

2005–today   chief information officer (cio)  

 of the group

stefan paul, german, 1969

after completing an apprenticeship as a freight for-

warder he started his career with kuehne + nagel in 

1990 where he held various positions in sales and 

operations. in april 1997 he joined dhl danzas 

air & ocean where he was responsible as general 

manager for the key accounts and industry sectors 

in germany. effective october 2003 stefan paul 

became head of marketing & sales at exel central 

and eastern europe. after the merger between dhl 

and exel he worked as head of global marketing, 

customer management and reporting for the logis-

tics division. effective february 2007 stefan paul 

was appointed member of the freight management 

board responsible for marketing & sales within the 

dhl road freight business unit. in february 2010 

he became ceo of dhl freight germany.

position within the kuehne + nagel group:

01.02.2013–today  executive vice president road &  

  rail logistics of the group

horst-Joachim (otto) schacht, german, 1959

graduated as a shipping agent.

from 1978 to 1997 he held various positions 

globally with hapag-lloyd, including three years in 

the united states and as trade manager far east-

europe.

positions within the kuehne + nagel group:

1997–1999   member of the management  

 board of kuehne + nagel  

 germany, responsible for  

 seafreight

1999–2011   senior vice president global  

 seafreight

01.09.2011–today  executive vice president  

 seafreight of the group

tim scharwath, german, 1965

graduated from the university of hamburg (dipl. 

kfm.).

positions within the kuehne + nagel group:

1992–2003   various management positions  

 within the kuehne + nagel   

 group 

2004–2007   executive vice president  

 airfreight central europe

2007–2008   managing director of kuehne +  

 nagel netherlands

2008–2011   regional director north west  

 europe

01.09.2011–today executive vice president  

 airfreight of the group
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compensation, shareholdings and loans

the compensation and remuneration of the board 

of directors and management board is regulated 

and reviewed by the nomination and compensation 

committee annually or if management contract 

tenures expire. 

the board of directors regulates the principles of 

compensation, allocation of shares and granting of 

the members of the management board receive a 

cash income with a fixed component and a com-

ponent linked to the group’s net earnings; further-

more, they have the possibility to participate in the 

group’s share-based compensation plans.

compensation accrued for and paid 

to members of the board of directors 

and the management board

the total compensation and remuneration accrued 

for and paid to the members of the board of 

directors and the management board in the 

financial year 2013 amounted to chf 20 million, 

of which chf 18 million were paid to the sole  

executive member of the board of directors and 

the members of the management board, and  

chf 2 million to the non-executive members of 

the board of directors. 

loans to the board of directors, while the board of 

directors’ nomination and compensation commit-

tee regulates such matters for the management 

board.

in 2013 the members of the board of directors 

received a guaranteed cash compensation as well as 

a compensation for participation in the respective 

committees as follows:

further details on the compensation and remune-

ration accrued for and paid to the members of the 

board of directors and the management board are 

shown in note 12 to the 2013 financial statements 

of kuehne + nagel international ag. 

shareholders’ participation

restrictions and delegation of voting rights   

each share has one vote. all shares have equal 

voting rights, and no preferential rights or similar 

entitlements exist. 

for resolutions concerning the discharge of the 

members of the board of directors, persons who 

currently take part in the company’s management  

in any manner do not have a voting right. 

member of the board of directors

in tchf

 guaranteed
compensation

additional 
compensation

audit 
committee

 additional
compensation

nomination 
and

compensation
committee

additional
compensation

chairman’s
committee

 

chairman of the board of directors 1 300,000 15,000 10,000 –

vice chairmen and members 1,941,459 45,000 80,000 –

total 2,241,459 60,000 90,000 –

1  compensations are included in remuneration to the chairman and the management board; refer to page 152,  

    note 12 to the 2013 financial statements of kuehne + nagel international ag.
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registered shares may only be represented by per-

sons who are entered in the share register as share-

holders or beneficiaries who have a written power 

of attorney. representatives in possession of proxies 

for shares held in safekeeping accounts according to 

article 689d of the swiss code of obligations and 

representatives of executive bodies do not need to 

be shareholders. individual companies, partnerships 

or legal entities may arrange to be represented by 

legal representatives or representatives pursuant to 

the articles of association or by other authorised 

representatives, even if their representatives are not 

shareholders.

statutory quorums

in general, the legal rules on quorums and terms 

apply. the following shall require a resolution to be 

passed by the general meeting by at least two thirds 

of the voting rights represented and by a majority of 

the nominal value of the shares represented:

—  the introduction or removal of restrictions on the  

 transferability of registered shares;

—  the conversion of registered shares into bearer  

 shares or of bearer shares into registered shares;

—  the dismissal of more than one quarter of the  

 members of the board of directors.

calling of an annual general meeting 

the calling of an annual general meeting is guided 

by the law. the agenda contains all necessary 

information required to deliberate each item on 

the agenda. in particular, this includes information 

for the appointment of new members to the board 

of directors and, in the event of changes to an 

article of association, the announcement of the new 

wording. 

agenda of the annual general meeting

shareholders owning shares with a total nominal 

value of at least chf 1 million can request that 

items be added to the agenda up to 45 days prior 

to the date fixed for the annual general meeting by 

submitting details of their proposals in writing. 

registration of shareholders 

into the share registers

registered shares can only be represented at the 

annual general meetings by either shareholders or 

beneficiary owners whose personal particulars and size 

of shareholdings have been entered in the kuehne +  

nagel international ag share register. such share-

holders and/or beneficiary owners who are not in a 

position to attend the annual general meeting are 

entitled to nominate a representative by written proxy.

the share register remains closed for any movements 

during six calendar days preceding and including 

the date of the annual general meeting.

changes of control and 

defence measures

duty to make an offer

there are no opting-out or opting-in rules provided 

for in the articles of association.

clauses on changes of control

no member of either the board of directors or the 

management board or other senior management 

staff has clauses on change of control in their  

employment contracts.

statutory auditors

duration of the mandate and 

term of office of the lead auditor 

kpmg ag, zurich, was mandated as kuehne + 

nagel’s auditor through 2012. the board of direc-

tors tendered the mandate in 2012 and recommen-

ded the shareholders to elect ernst & young ltd, 

zurich (ey) as kuehne + nagel’s new auditor at the 

occasion of the annual shareholders’ meeting on 

may 7, 2013. the shareholders approved the motion 

and mandated ey as auditor for the financial year 

2013, whereby alessandro miolo has been the audi-

tor in charge since then.
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the rotation sequence of the auditor in charge is 

seven years and thus corresponds with the legal rule.

audit fees

according to the group’s financial records the fees 

charged for auditing services for the year 2013 

amounted to chf 3.1 million (2012: chf 3.9 million). 

additional fees

in addition to the fees mentioned above, the sta-

tutory auditors are asked on a very restrictive basis 

to provide certain consulting services beyond the 

mandate of the annual audit. in 2013 an amount of 

chf 0.3 million was incurred related to consulting 

services (2012: chf 0.6 million).

supervisory and controlling instruments 

towards the statutory auditors

the work performed by the external statutory audi-

tors is supervised, controlled, and duly monitored 

by the board of directors’ audit committee. the 

statutory auditors report to the audit committee 

regularly and in 2013 the previous statutory audi-

tors attended one and the current statutory auditors 

attended two audit committee meetings in the 

person of the auditor in charge. in 2013 the auditor 

in charge also attended one meeting of the board of 

directors. the main criteria for the selection of the 

external audit company are its worldwide network, 

its reputation, and its competitive pricing.

information policy

the kuehne + nagel group strives for ensuring a 

comprehensive and consistent information policy. 

the ambition is to provide analysts, investors and 

other stakeholders with high levels of transparency 

that meet best practice standards accepted world-

wide.

to this end, kuehne + nagel uses print media and, in 

particular, its corporate website, www.kuehne-nagel.

com, where up-to-date information is available. this 

information contains an overall presentation of the 

group, detailed financial data as well as information 

on environmental and safety matters, which are the 

main elements of the corporate sustainability efforts. 

the group aims at an integral approach to econo-

mic, ecologic and social responsibility. furthermore, 

kuehne + nagel provides up-to-date information on 

significant, business-related occurrences and organi-

sational changes, and updates all general information 

on the company continually. 

the annual report covering the past financial year is 

available for download in extracts or in its entirety in 

english and german (http://www.kn-portal.com/

about_us/investor_relations/annual_reports/). 

kuehne + nagel publishes its quarterly financial 

data on the corporate website (http://www.

kn-portal.com/about_us/investor_relations/

financial_presentations/). prior to the first quarterly 

results being released the financial calendar is 

published announcing the dates of the upcoming 

quarterly reports as well as of the annual general 

meeting (http://www.kn-portal.com/about_us/

investor_relations/financial_calendar/).

the contact address for investor relations is:

kuehne + nagel management ag

investor relations

dorfstrasse 50

p.o. box 67

ch-8834 schindellegi

switzerland

phone: +41 (0)44 786 95 61

in addition, the most updated and detailed informa-

tion on the group, its service offering and contact 

details are available under www.kuehne-nagel.com. 
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Income Statement

chf million note 2013 2012 1 variance
per cent

turnover 20 20,929 20,753 0.8

customs duties and taxes –3,751 –3,633

net turnover 17,178 17,120 0.3

net expenses for services from third parties –10,921 –11,026

gross profit 20 6,257 6,094 2.7

personnel expenses  21 –3,735 –3,606

selling, general and administrative expenses 22 –1,562  –1,592

other operating income/expenses, net 23 2 24

expense for eu antitrust fines 23/41 – –65

ebitda 962 855 12.5

depreciation of property, plant and equipment 27 –143 –146

amortisation of other intangibles 28 –57 –74

impairment of other intangibles 28 –1 –2

ebit 761 633 20.2

financial income 24 5 12

financial expenses 24 –6 –5

result from joint ventures and associates 20 7 4

earnings before tax (ebt) 767 644 19.1

income tax 25 –160 –152

earnings for the year 607 492 23.4

attributable to:

equity holders of the parent company 597 484 23.3

non-controlling interests 10 8

earnings for the year 607 492 23.4

basic earnings per share in chf 26 4.98 4.05 23.0

diluted earnings per share in chf 26 4.98 4.05 23.0

1  see note 3 for the impact of the application of ias 19 (revised).
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Statement of Comprehensive Income

chf million note 2013 2012 1

earnings for the year 607 492

other comprehensive income

items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

foreign exchange differences –66 –21

items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:

actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit plans 36/25 27 –57

income tax on actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit plans –19 19

total other comprehensive income, net of tax –58 –59

total comprehensive income for the year 549 433

attributable to:

equity holders of the parent company 540 425

non-controlling interests 9 8

1  see note 3 for the impact of the application of ias 19 (revised).
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Balance Sheet

chf million note dec. 31, 2013 dec. 31, 2012 1

assets

property, plant and equipment 27 1,151 1,134

goodwill 28 688 694

other intangibles 28 89 141

investments in joint ventures 29 33 39

deferred tax assets 25 172 195

non-current assets 2,133 2,203

prepayments 105 109

work in progress 30 296 306

trade receivables 31 2,426 2,428

other receivables 32 107 116

income tax receivables 32 52 34

cash and cash equivalents 33/34 1,255 1,083

current assets 4,241 4,076

total assets 6,374 6,279

1  see note 3 for the impact of the application of ias 19 (revised).
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chf million note dec. 31, 2013 dec. 31, 2012 1

liabilities and equity

share capital 120 120

reserves and retained earnings 1,820 1,792

earnings for the year 597 484

equity attributable to the equity holders of the parent company 2,537 2,396

non-controlling interests 21 29

equity 35 2,558 2,425

provisions for pension plans and severance payments 36 340 357

deferred tax liabilities 25 136 151

finance lease obligations 39 24 32

non-current provisions 41 63 69

non-current liabilities 563 609

bank and other interest-bearing liabilities 38/39 21 36

trade payables 40 1,362 1,337

accrued trade expenses/deferred income 40 936 931

income tax liabilities  89 89

current provisions 41 78 68

other liabilities 42 767 784

current liabilities 3,253 3,245

total liabilities and equity 6,374 6,279

1  see note 3 for the impact of the application of ias 19 (revised).

schindellegi, february 28, 2014

Kuehne + nagel international ag

dr. detlef trefzger gerard van kesteren

ceo cfo
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Statement of Changes in Equity

chf million note share
capital

share
premium

treasury
shares

cumulative 
translation 
adjustment

actuarial 
gains & 

losses

retained 
earnings

total 
equity 

attribu-
table to 

the equity 
holders 

of parent 
company

non-
controlling 

interests

total 
equity

balance as of January 1, 2013 120 549 –20 –736 –81 2,564 2,396 29 2,425

earnings for the year  –    –    –    –    –    597  597  10  607 

other comprehensive income

foreign exchange differences  –    –    –    –65  –    –    –65  –1  –66 

actuarial gains/(losses) on 

defined benefit plans, net of tax 36/25  –    –    –    –    8  –    8  –    8 

total other comprehensive 

income, net of tax  –    –    –   

 

–65  8  –    –57  –1  –58 

total comprehensive income 

for the year  –    –    –    –65  8 

 

597  540  9  549 

purchase of treasury shares 35  –    –    –24  –    –    –    –24  –    –24 

disposal of treasury shares 35  –    2  37  –    –    –    39  –    39 

dividend paid 35  –    –    –    –    –    –419  –419  –17  –436 

expenses for share-based 

compensation plans 37  –    –    –    –    –    5  5  –    5 

total contributions by and 

distributions to owners  –    2  13  –    –    –414  –399  –17  –416 

balance as of december 31, 2013  120  551  –7  –801  –73  2,747  2,537  21  2,558 
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chf million note share
capital

share
premium

treasury
shares

cumulative 
translation 
adjustment

actuarial 
gains & 

losses

retained 
earnings

total 
equity 

attribu-
table to 

the equity 
holders 

of parent 
company

non-
controlling 

interests

total 
equity

balance as of January 1, 2012 120 535 –45 –715 –44 2,531 2,382 23 2,405

change in accounting policy 1 – – – – 1 –1 – – –

restated balance  

as of January 1, 2012

 

120

 

535

 

–45

 

–715

 

–43

 

2,530

 

2,382

 

23

 

2,405

earnings for the year 1  –  –    –  –  –  484  484  8  492 

other comprehensive income

foreign exchange differences  –    –    –    –21  –  –  –21  –    –21 

actuarial gains/(losses) on 

defined benefit plans, net of tax 1 36/25

 

–   

 

–   

 

–   

 

–   

 

–38 

 

–

 

–38 

 

–   

 

–38 

total other comprehensive 

income, net of tax

 

–   

 

–   

 

–   

 

–21 

 

–38 

 

–   

 

–59 

 

–   

 

–59 

total comprehensive income 

for the year

 

–   

 

–   

 

–   

 

–21 

 

–38  484  425  8  433 

purchase of treasury shares 35  –    –  –20  –    –    –    –20  –    –20 

disposal of treasury shares 35  –    14  45  –    –    –    59  –    59 

dividend paid 35  –    –    –    –    –    –460  –460  –2  –462 

expenses for share-based 

compensation plans 37

 

–   

 

–   

 

–   

 

–   

 

–    10  10 

 

–  10 

total contributions by and 

distributions to owners

 

–   

 

14  25 

 

–   

 

–   

 

–450 

 

–411 

 

–2 

 

–413 

balance as of december 31, 2012  120  549  –20  –736  –81  2,564  2,396  29  2,425 

1  see note 3 for the impact of the application of ias 19 (revised).
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Cash Flow Statement

chf million note 2013 2012 1

cash flow from operating activities 
earnings for the year 607 492

reversal of non-cash items: 

income tax 25 160 152

financial income 24 –5 –12

financial expenses 24 6 5

result from joint ventures and associates –7 –4

depreciation of property, plant and equipment 27 143 146

amortisation of other intangibles 28 57 74

impairment of other intangibles 28 1 2

expenses for share-based compensation plans 21 5 10

gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment and associate 23 –11 –29

loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 23 2 5

net addition to provisions for pension plans and severance payments 8 8

subtotal operational cash flow 966 849

(increase)/decrease work in progress –6 –38

(increase)/decrease trade and other receivables, prepayments –59 –198

increase/(decrease) other liabilities –7 20

increase/(decrease) provisions 7 –24

increase/(decrease) trade payables, accrued trade expenses/deferred income 82 123

income taxes paid –190 –176

total cash flow from operating activities 793 556

1  see note 3 for the impact of the application of ias 19 (revised).
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chf million note 2013 2012 1

cash flow from investing activities

capital expenditure

— property, plant and equipment 27 –181 –163

— other intangibles 28 –7 –12

disposal of property, plant and equipment 24 41

acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 43 – –9

disposal of financial investments 33 – 252

interest received 4 6

(increase)/decrease of share capital in joint ventures 29 6 –

disposal of associate 23 1 5

dividend received from associates 7 5

total cash flow from investing activities –146 125

cash flow from financing activities

proceeds from interest-bearing liabilities  – 2

repayment of interest-bearing liabilities –12 –29

interest paid –6 –5

purchase of treasury shares 35 –24 –20

disposal of treasury shares 35 39 59

dividend paid to equity holders of parent company 35 –419 –460

dividend paid to non-controlling interests –17 –2

total cash flow from financing activities –439 –455

exchange difference on cash and cash equivalents –24 –3

increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 184 223

cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year, net 34 1,058 835

cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year, net 34 1,242 1,058

1  see note 3 for the impact of the application of ias 19 (revised).
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accounting policies

1 organisation

kuehne + nagel international ag (the company) is incorporated in schindellegi (feusisberg), switzerland. 

the company is one of the world’s leading global logistics providers. its strong market position lies in  

seafreight, airfreight, overland and contract logistics business.

the consolidated financial statements of the company for the year ended december 31, 2013, comprise the 

company, its subsidiaries (the group) and its interests in joint ventures.

 

2 statement of compliance

the consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with international financial 

reporting standards (ifrss).

3 basis of preparation 
the consolidated financial statements are presented in swiss francs (chf) million and are based on the indi-

vidual financial statements of the consolidated companies as of december 31, 2013. those financial 

statements have been prepared in accordance with uniform accounting policies issued by the group, which 

comply with the requirements of the international financial reporting standards (ifrs) and swiss law (swiss 

code of obligation). the consolidated financial statements are prepared on a historical cost basis except for 

certain financial instruments, which are stated at fair value. non-current assets and disposal groups held for 

sale are stated at the lower of the carrying amount and fair value less costs  

to sell.

the preparation of financial statements in accordance with ifrs requires the management to make judg-

ments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets, 

liabilities, income and expenses. the actual result may differ from these estimates. Judgments made by the 

management in the application of ifrs that have a significant effect on the consolidated financial 

statements and estimates with a significant risk of material adjustment in future are shown in note 51.

the accounting policies are the same as those applied in the consolidated financial statements for the year 

ended december 31, 2012. the only exception with an impact on the opening balance sheet as of January 1, 

2012, and the 2012 and 2013 income statements is the adoption of ias 19 (revised) as of January 1, 2013. 

the interest costs and expected return on plan assets used in the previous version of ias 19 have been re-

placed with a net interest amount which is calculated by multiplying the discount rate with the net defined 

benefit obligation. the impacts of this change on the relevant positions in the income statement, statement 

of comprehensive income, balance sheet, cash flow statement, statement of changes in equity and earn-

ings per share are shown below. 

notes to the consolidated financial statements
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impact of application of ias 19 (revised)
chf million

reported adjustment restated

income statement 2012

personnel expenses –3,605 –1 –3,606

earnings for the year 493 –1 492

earnings per share 2012

basic earnings per share in chf 4.06 –0.01 4.05

diluted earnings per share in chf 4.06 –0.01 4.05

statement of comprehensive income 2012

earnings for the year 493 –1 492

actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit plans, net of tax –39 1 –38

balance sheet 2012

reserves and retained earnings 1,791 1 1,792

earnings for the year attributable to equity holders 

of the parent company 485 –1 484

statement of changes in equity 2012

restated balances on opening January 1, 2012

actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit plans, net of tax –44 1 –43

retained earnings 2,531 –1 2,530

restated balances 2012

earnings for the year attributable to equity holders  

of the parent company 485 –1 484

actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit plans, net of tax –39 1 –38

cash flow statement 2012

earnings for the year 493 –1 492

net addition to provisions for pension plans  

and severance payments 7 1 8

the application of ias 19 (revised) does not have any material impact on the kuehne + nagel group’s finan-

cial position, on its results of operations and on its cash flows. therefore, the presentation of a third balance 

sheet as of January 1, 2012, has not been considered necessary.

 

new, revised and amended standards that are effective for the 2013 reporting year other than ias 19 (revised) 

are not applicable to the group or do not have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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4 scope of consolidation 
the group’s significant subsidiaries and joint ventures are listed on pages 138 to 145. significant changes in 

the scope of consolidation in 2013 relate to the following companies (for further information on the finan-

cial impact of the acquisition refer to note 43):

changes in the scope of consolidation
2013

capital share
acquired

in per cent 
equals 

voting rights

currency share capital
 in 1,000

acquisition/
incorporation 

date

acquisition 

universal freight services llc, oman 70 omr 250 Jan. 8, 2013

incorporations  

kuehne + nagel logistics services limited,  

barbados 100 bbd 195 march 1, 2013

kuehne + nagel ltd., myanmar 100 usd 50 april 1, 2013

kuehne + nagel real estate pty ltd, australia 100 aud  – oct. 1, 2013

kuehne + nagel solutions, france 100 eur 10 dec. 1, 2013

nacora (luxembourg) s.a.r.l., luxembourg 100 eur 50 dec. 1, 2013

adoption of new and revised standards and interpretations in 2014 and later

the following new, revised and amended standards and interpretations have been issued but are not yet 

effective and not applied early in the consolidated financial statements of the group. their impact on the 

consolidated financial statements has not yet been systematically analysed. a first assessment by the group 

management shows the expected effects as disclosed in the table below.

standard/interpretation effective date planned application

amendments to ias 32 – offsetting financial assets  

and financial liabilities 1 1 January 2014 reporting year 2014

investment entities  

(amendments to ifrs 10, ifrs 12 and ias 27) 1 1 January 2014 reporting year 2014

ifric interpretation 21: levies 1 1 January 2014 reporting year 2014

recoverable amount disclosures for non-financial  

assets (amendments to ias 36) 2 1 January 2014 reporting year 2014

novation of derivatives and continuation of hedge accounting 

(amendments to ias 39) 1 1 January 2014 reporting year 2014

ifrs 9 financial instruments 1 1 January 2015 reporting year 2015

defined benefit plans: employee contributions 

(amendments to ias 19) 1 1 July 2014 reporting year 2015

1  no or no significant impacts are expected on the consolidated financial statements.

2  the impact on the consolidated financial statements is expected to result in additional disclosures or changes in presentation.
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there were no significant divestments in 2012.

5 principles of consolidation

business combinations  

business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition method. the group measures good- 

will as the fair value of the consideration transferred (including the fair value of any previously held equity 

interest in the acquiree) and the recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree, less  

the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed, 

all measured as of the acquisition date. if the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised 

immediately in profit or loss.

the group elects on a transaction-by-transaction basis whether to measure non-controlling interest at its fair value 

or at its proportionate share of the recognised amount of the identifiable net assets, at the acquisition date.

consideration transferred includes the fair values of the assets transferred, liabilities incurred by the group to 

the previous owners of the acquiree, equity interests issued by the group and the fair value of any contingent 

consideration. if the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it is not re-measured, and settlement is 

accounted for within equity. otherwise, subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration 

are recognised in profit or loss. the consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settle- 

ment of pre-existing relationships. such amounts are generally recognised in profit or loss.

 

transaction costs other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities incurred in connec-

tion with a business combination are expensed as incurred.

changes in the scope of consolidation
2012

capital share 
acquired

in per cent 
equals 

voting rights

currency share capital
 in 1,000

acquisition/
incorporation 

date

acquisitions 

link logistics international pty. ltd., australia 100 aud < 1 feb. 2, 2012

flowerport logistics b.v., netherlands     100 eur 2,768 oct. 1, 2012

agriair logistics b.v., netherlands 100 eur 18 oct. 1, 2012

incorporations

kuehne & nagel sas, morocco 100 mad 300 march 1, 2012

kuehne + nagel logistique sasu, france 100 eur 37 may 1, 2012

kn ibrakom logistics services ltd, georgia 60 gel 83 nov. 6, 2012

there were no significant divestments in 2013.

significant changes in the scope of consolidation for the year 2012 are related to the following companies 

(for further information on the financial impact of the acquisitions refer to note 43):
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written put options held by non-controlling shareholders

if the group has a potential obligation to purchase shares in a subsidiary from a non-controlling share-

holder through a written put option, a liability is recognised at the present value of the redemption 

amount with a corresponding entry in equity. if a non-controlling shareholder still has present access to 

the economic benefits associated with the underlying ownership interest, the non-controlling interest in 

the subsidiary continues to be recognised as a separate component in equity.

 

the liability is re-estimated at each reporting date. any subsequent changes in the liability’s carrying amount 

are recognised in profit or loss.

acquisitions and disposals of non-controlling interests

changes in the parent’s ownership interest in a subsidiary after having obtained control that do not result 

in a loss of control are accounted for as transactions with owners in their capacity as owners, and the  

effect of such transactions is recognised in equity. no goodwill is recognised as a result of acquisition of non-

controlling interests, and no gain or loss on disposals of non-controlling interests is recognised in profit or 

loss. the adjustments to non-controlling interests are based on a proportionate amount of the net assets  

of the subsidiary.

subsidiaries

the group controls an investee when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement 

with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. subsidiaries 

are companies controlled, directly or indirectly, by the group. this control is normally evidenced if the group 

owns, either directly or indirectly, more than 50 per cent of the voting rights whereby potential voting rights 

of a company are also considered. subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements by the 

full consolidation method as from the date on which control is transferred to the group until the date con-

trol ceases. the non-controlling interests in equity as well as earnings for the period are reported separately 

in the consolidated financial statements.

associates and joint ventures

associates are companies over which the group has significant influence but which it does not control. signifi- 

cant influence is normally evidenced if the group owns 20 per cent or more of the voting or potential voting 

rights. Joint ventures are contractual arrangements in which the group has joint control, whereby the group 

has rights to the net assets of the arrangement, rather than rights to its assets and obligations for its 

liabilities.

interests in associates and joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method. they are initially recog-

nised at cost, including transaction costs. subsequent to initial recognition, the group’s share of the profit 

or loss and other comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures is included in the group’s financial 

statements, until the date significant influence or joint control ceases.

transactions eliminated on consolidation

intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses are eliminated in preparing the consolidated  

financial statements.
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foreign exchange translation

financial statements of consolidated companies are prepared in their respective functional currencies and 

translated into chf (the group’s presentation currency) as of year-end. assets and liabilities, including 

goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on consolidation, are translated at year-end exchange rates and 

all items included in the income statement are translated at average exchange rates for the year, which 

approximate actual rates. exchange differences originating from such translation methods have no impact 

on the income statement since they are recognised in other comprehensive income.

transactions in foreign currencies in individual subsidiaries are translated into the functional currency at 

actual rates of the transaction day. monetary assets and liabilities are translated at year-end rates. non-

monetary assets and liabilities that are stated at historical cost are translated at actual rates of the trans-

action day. non-monetary assets and liabilities that are stated at fair value, are translated at the rate  

at the date the values are determined. exchange differences arising on the translation are included in the 

income statement.

the major foreign currency conversion rates applied are as follows:

6 financial assets and liabilities

the accounting policy applied to financial instruments depends on their classification. the group’s financial 

assets and liabilities are classified into the following categories:

— the category financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or loss includes financial assets or  

 liabilities held for trading and financial assets designated as such upon initial regognition. there are no  

 financial liabilities that, upon initial recognition, have been designated at fair value through profit or loss. 

Income statement and cash flow statement (average rates for the year)

currency 2013
chf

variance
per cent

2012
chf

eur 1.– 1.2296 1.9 1.2062

usd 1.– 0.9237 –1.0 0.9327

gbp 1.– 1.4492 –2.3 1.4827

Balance sheet (year-end rates)

currency dec. 2013
chf

variance
per cent

dec. 2012
chf

eur 1.– 1.2252 1.5 1.2076

usd 1.– 0.8916 –2.5 0.9149

gbp 1.– 1.4697 –0.4 1.4759
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—  loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost, calculated by using the effective interest rate  

 method, less allowances for impairment.

—  financial assets/investments available for sale include all financial assets/investments not assigned to 

 one of the above mentioned categories. these might include investments in affiliates that are not asso-

 ciates or joint ventures and investments in bonds and notes. financial assets/investments available for  

 sale are recognised at fair value, changes in value (after tax) are recognised directly in other comprehen-

 sive income until the assets are sold, at which time the amount reported in other comprehensive income 

 is transferred to the income statement. as of december 31, 2013 and 2012, the group did not have any  

 financial assets/investments available for sale. 

— financial liabilities that are not at fair value through profit or loss, are carried at amortised cost 

 calculated by using the effective interest rate method. 

derivatives and hedge accounting

derivative financial instruments (foreign exchange contracts) are used to hedge the foreign exchange expo-

sures on outstanding balances in the group’s internal clearing system, centralised at the head office. given 

that the group’s hedging activities are limited to hedges of recognised foreign currency monetary items, 

the group does not apply hedge accounting under ias 39. derivatives are carried at fair value, and all 

changes in fair value are recognised immediately in the income statement as part of financial income or 

expenses. all derivatives with a positive fair value are disclosed as derivative assets and included in the line 

“financial investments” on the balance sheet, while all derivatives with a negative fair value are disclosed 

as derivative liabilities and included in the line current “other liabilities”.  

impairment of financial assets

if there is any indication that a financial asset (loans and receivables) or financial assets/investments avail-

able for sale may be impaired, its recoverable amount is calculated. the recoverable amount of the group’s 

loans and receivables is calculated as the present value of expected future cash flows, discounted at the 

original effective interest rate inherent in the asset. receivables with a short duration are not discounted.

trade receivables are reported at their anticipated recoverable amounts. the allowance for bad debts is de-

termined based on an individual basis or on a portfolio basis, where there is objective evidence that impair-

ment losses have been incurred. the allowance account is used to record impairment losses unless the group 

is satisfied that no recovery of the amount due is possible; at that point the amount considered irrecoverable 

is written off against the financial assets directly.

if an asset’s recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the asset is written down to its recoverable 

amount. all resultant impairment losses (after reversing previous revaluations recognised in other compre-

hensive income of available for sale equity securities) are recognised in the income statement.

an impairment loss in respect of a financial asset is reversed if there is a subsequent increase in recoverable 

amount that can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised. 

reversals of impairment losses are recognised in the income statement, with the exception for reversals of 

impairment losses on available for sale equity securities, for which any reversals are recognised in other 

comprehensive income.
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7 segment reporting

an operating segment is a component of the group that engages in business activities from which it 

earns revenues and incurs expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with 

any of the group’s other components. refer to note 20 for additional information about the segments 

in the group.

8 propert y, plant and eQuipment

property, plant and equipment are included in the consolidated financial statements at cost less accumu-

lated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. the depreciation is calculated on a straight line 

basis considering the expected useful life of the individual assets. the estimated useful lives for the major 

categories are:

if parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as 

separate items of property, plant and equipment. subsequent expenditure is capitalised only if it is prob-

able that the future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the group and the cost of the 

item can be measured reliably. all other expenditure is recognised in the income statement as an expense as 

incurred.

9 leases

leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the leased asset to the group 

are classified as finance leases. other leases are classified as operating leases.

assets leased under finance leases are included at the present value of the future minimum lease payments 

or their fair value if lower, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. if there is a 

reasonable certainty that the group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, leased assets are 

depreciated over their useful life. otherwise, leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease 

term and their useful life. the interest portion of the lease payments is expensed through the income state-

ment based on the effective interest rate inherent in the lease.

operating lease payments are treated as operating cost and charged to the income statement on a straight 

line basis over the lease period unless another basis is more appropriate to reflect the pattern of benefits to be 

derived from the leased asset.

category years

buildings  40

vehicles   4–10

leasehold improvements    5

office machines 4

it hardware 3

office furniture 5
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any gain or loss from sale and lease-back transaction resulting in operating leases is taken directly to the 

income statement if the transaction is established at fair value. if the transaction is established below 

fair value, any loss that is compensated by future lease payments at below market price is deferred and 

amortised over the length of the period the asset is expected to be used. any other loss is recognised in the 

income statement immediately. if the transaction is established above fair value the gain arising from the 

transaction is deferred and amortised over the period the asset is expected to be used. if the fair value at 

the time of the sale and lease-back transaction is less than the carrying amount of the asset, a loss equal to 

the difference between the carrying amount and the fair value is recognised immediately.

10 intangibles 

goodwill

all business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition method. goodwill arising from an 

acquisition represents the fair value of the consideration transferred (including the fair value of any 

previously held equity interest in the acquiree) and the recognised amount of any non-controlling interests  

in the acquiree, less the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and 

liabilities assumed. goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units. 

goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses. goodwill is tested annually for impairment  

at year-end. however, if there is an indication that goodwill would be impaired at any other point in time,  

an impairment test is performed.

other intangibles

other identifiable intangibles (i.e. software, customer lists, customer contracts, etc.) purchased from third 

parties or acquired in a business combination are separately recognised as intangibles, and are stated at  

cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. intangibles acquired in a business  

combination are recognised separately from goodwill if they are subject to contractual or legal rights or  

are separately transferable. software is amortised over its estimated useful life, three years maximum. other 

intangibles are amortised on a straight line basis over their estimated useful life (up to ten years maximum). 

there are no intangibles with indefinite useful life recognised in the group’s balance sheet.

11 cash and cash eQuivalents

cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks and in hand as well as short-term deposits and highly  

liquid investments with a term of three months or less from the date of acquisition that are readily convert-

ible to known amounts of cash and that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. for the 

purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents consist also of bank overdrafts 

that are repayable on demand as forming an integral part of the group’s cash management.

12 impairment of non-financial assets

the carrying amounts of the group’s investments in associates and joint ventures, its intangibles and 

property, plant and equipment, are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether there is any 

indication of impairment. if any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. goodwill 

is tested for impairment every year. an impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an 

asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount.
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calculation of a recoverable amount

the recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in  

use. in assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a  

pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 

specific to the asset. for an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable 

amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

reversals of impairment losses

an impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed. in respect to other assets, an impairment loss is 

reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. an impairment 

loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that 

would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

13 share capital

shares

shares are classified as equity. incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of shares and share options 

are recognised as a deduction from equity.

treasury shares

when share capital recognised as equity is repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid, which 

includes directly attributable costs, net of any tax effects, is recognised as a deduction from equity. repur-

chased shares are classified as treasury shares and are presented as a deduction from total equity. when 

treasury shares are sold or reissued subsequently, the amount received is recognised as an increase in equity, 

and the resulting surplus or deficit on the transaction is transferred to/from the share premium.

14 provisions

provisions are recognised when the group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 

event if it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount of 

the obligation can be estimated reliably. if the effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting the 

expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money 

and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. the provision is classified in non-current liabilities in 

case the expected timing of the payment of the amounts provided for is more than 1 year.

15 pension plans, severance payments and share-based compensation plans

some consolidated companies maintain pension plans in favour of their personnel in addition to the legally 

required social insurance schemes. the pension plans partly exist as independent trusts and are operated 

either under a defined contribution or a defined benefit plan.

defined benefit plans

the aggregate of the present value of the defined benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets for each 

plan is recorded in the balance sheet as net defined benefit liability or net defined benefit asset. the discount rate 

is the yield at the reporting date on “aa” credit-rated bonds that have maturity dates approximating the terms of 

the group’s obligations and that are denominated in the same currency in which benefits are expected to be paid. 

the calculation is performed by an independent, qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method.
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all actuarial gains and losses arising from defined benefit plans are recognised immediately in other compre-

hensive income.

defined contribution plans

obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised in the income statement 

as an expense in the periods during which services are rendered by the employees.

severance payments

the group provides severance benefits to employees as legally required in certain countries, which are  

accounted for as defined benefit plans if material.

share-based compensation plans

Share Matching Plan (SMP)

the company implemented a share-based compensation plan effective august 7, 2012, referred to as “share 

matching plan” (smp) that replaced the employee “share purchase and option plan” (spop) implemented in 

2001. this new long-term incentive plan allows selected employees of the group to acquire shares of the com-

pany with a discount compared to the actual share price at a specified date; such shares are blocked for three 

years, give its holder immediate voting rights and rights to receive dividends.

for each purchased share, the company will match additional shares upon completion of a three years 

vesting period and service condition during the same period. the level of the share match (share match 

ratio) is defined based on the achieved performance over the next three financial years against defined 

targets.

when employees purchase shares at a discounted price, the difference between the fair value of the shares 

at purchase date and the purchase price of the shares is recognised as a personnel expense with a corre-

sponding increase in equity. the fair value of the shares granted is measured at the market price of the 

company’s shares.

the fair value of shares matched under smp is recognised as a personnel expense with a corresponding 

increase in equity. the fair value of matched shares is equal to the market price at grant date reduced by the 

present value of the expected dividends during the vesting period and recognised as personnel expense over 

the relevant vesting periods. the amount expensed is adjusted to reflect actual and expected levels of 

vesting.

for further details about the smp refer to note 37.

Share Purchase and Option Plan (SPOP)

the group’s previous employee share purchase and option plan was discontinued as of July 1, 2012. it 

allowed selected employees of the group to acquire shares of the company at a reduced price at a specified 

date; such shares are blocked for three years, give its holder immediate voting rights and rights to receive 

dividends. for each share purchased under this plan, the company granted two options to the participants. 

each option entitled the participant to purchase one share of the company at a pre-defined price upon 

completion of the three years vesting period and service condition during the same period.
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when employees purchased shares at a discounted price, the difference between the fair value of the shares 

at purchase date and the purchase price of the shares was recognised as a personnel expense with a corres- 

ponding increase in equity. the fair value of the shares granted is measured at the market price of the  

company’s shares.

the fair value of options granted under spop was recognised as a personnel expense with a corresponding 

increase in equity. the fair value of the granted options is calculated using the lattice binomial model and is 

measured at grant date and recognised as personnel expense over the relevant vesting periods. the amount 

expensed is adjusted to reflect actual and expected levels of vesting.

for further details about the spop refer to note 37.

16 revenue recognition

the company generates its revenues from five principal services: 1) seafreight, 2) airfreight, 3) road & 

rail logistics, 4) contract logistics, and 5) insurance brokers. revenues reported in each of these 

reportable segments include revenues generated from the principal service as well as revenues generated 

from services like customs clearance, export documentation, import documentation, door-to-door service, 

and arrangement of complex logistics supply movement, that are incidental to the principal service.

in seafreight, airfreight, and road & rail logistics the group generates the majority of its revenues by  

purchasing transportation services from direct (asset-based) carriers and selling a combination of those  

services to its customers. in its capacity of arranging carrier services, the group issues to customers a  

contract of carriage. revenues related to shipments are recognised based upon the terms in the contract  

of carriage. revenues from other services, involving providing services at destination, are recognised when  

the service is rendered.

in contract logistics the principal services are related to customer contracts for warehousing and distribu-

tion activities. based on the customer contracts, revenues are recognised when service is rendered.

in insurance brokers, the principal service is the brokerage of insurance coverage, mainly marine liability. 

revenues are recognised, when a policy is issued.

a better indication of performance in the logistics industry compared to the turnover is the gross profit. the 

gross profit represents the difference between the turnover and the cost of services rendered by third parties 

for all reportable segments.

17 interest expenses and income

interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method.

borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to an acquisition, construction, or production of a qualify-

ing asset are recognised in the income statement by using the effective interest method. the group has not 

capitalised any borrowing costs as it does not have any qualifying assets.
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18 income taxes 
income tax on earnings for the year comprises current and deferred tax. both current and deferred tax are 

recognised in the income statement, except to the extent that the tax relates to business combinations or 

items recognised directly in equity or in other comprehensive income.

current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax 

rates enacted or substantially enacted at the balance sheet date and any adjustment to tax payable for 

previous years.

deferred tax is recognised based on the balance sheet liability method, on temporary differences between 

the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax base. the follow-

ing temporary differences are not accounted for: initial recognition of goodwill, initial recognition of assets 

or liabilities that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit, and differences relating to investments in sub-

sidiaries to the extent that they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable future. the amount of deferred 

tax recognised is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets 

and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantially enacted at the balance sheet date.

a deferred tax asset in respect of temporary differences or unused tax losses is recognised only to the extent 

that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be utilised. 

deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will  

be realised.

19 non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations

non-current assets (or disposal groups) are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be 

recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than from continuing use. the asset (or disposal 

group) must be available for immediate sale in its present condition and the sale must be highly probable. 

immediately before classification as held for sale, the measurement of the assets (and all assets and 

liabilities in a disposal group) is updated in accordance with applicable ifrs. then, on initial classification 

as held for sale, non-current assets and disposal groups are recognised at the lower of carrying amount and 

fair value less costs to sell. impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale are included in the 

income statement. intangible assets and property, plant and equipment once classified as held for sale are 

not amortised or depreciated.

a discontinued operation is a component of the group’s business that represents a separate major line of 

business or geographical area of operations or is a company acquired exclusively with a view to resale. 

classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal or, if earlier, when the operation meets the 

criteria to be classified as held for sale.
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20 segment reporting

a) reportable segments

the group provides integrated logistics solutions across customers’ supply chains using its global logistics 

network. the business is divided into six operating segments namely seafreight, airfreight, road & rail 

logistics, contract logistics, real estate and insurance brokers. these six reportable segments reflect the 

internal management and reporting structure to the management board (the chief operating decision maker, 

codm) and are managed through specific organisational structures. the codm reviews internal manage-

ment reports on a monthly basis. each segment is a distinguishable business unit and is engaged in provid-

ing and selling discrete products and services.

the discrete distinction between seafreight, airfreight and road & rail logistics is the usage of a single 

transportation mode within a reportable segment. in addition to common business processes and manage-

ment routines, an identical main transportation mode is used within a reportable segment. for the report-

able segment contract logistics the services performed are related to customer contracts for warehousing 

and distribution activities, whereby services performed are storage, handling and distribution. in the 

reportable segment real estate, activities mainly related to internal rent of facilities are reported. under 

insurance brokers, activities exclusively related to brokerage of insurance coverage, mainly marine liability, 

are reported.

pricing between segments is determined on an arm’s length basis. the accounting policies of the reportable 

segments are the same as applied in the consolidated financial statements.

information about the reportable segments is presented on the next pages. segment performance is based 

on ebit as reviewed by the codm. the column “elimination” is eliminations of turnover and expenses  

between segments. all operating expenses are allocated to the segments and included in the ebit. 

b) geographical information 

the group is operating on a worldwide basis in the following geographical areas: europe, americas, asia-

pacific and middle east, central asia and africa. all products and services are provided in each of these 

geographical regions. the segment revenue is based on the geographical location of the customers invoiced, 

and segment assets are based on the geographical location of assets.

c) major customers

there is no single customer who represents more than 10 per cent of the group’s total revenue.  

          

other notes
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Total Group Seafreight Airfreight Road & Rail Logistics Contract Logistics  Real Estate Insurance Brokers

Total 
Reportable Segments Eliminations

Unallocated
Corporate

chf million 2013 2012 1 2013 2012 2013 2012 2 2013 2012 2013 2012 1 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 1 2013 2012 2013 2012

turnover (external customers) 20,929 20,753 8,998 9,059 4,143 4,063 3,059 3,155 4,608 4,357 1 2 120 117 20,929 20,753 – – – –

inter-segment turnover  – – 1,625 1,667 2,299 2,260 1,375 1,252 176 144 72 74 69 62 5,616 5,459 –5,616 –5,459 – –

customs duties and taxes –3,751 –3,633 –2,479 –2,416 –662 –658 –253 –271 –357 –288 – – – – –3,751 –3,633 – – – –

net turnover 17,178 17,120 8,144 8,310 5,780 5,665 4,181 4,136 4,427 4,213 73 76 189 179 22,794 22,579 –5,616 –5,459 – –

net expenses for services –10,921 –11,026 –6,865 –7,035 –4,903 –4,828 –3,279 –3,249 –1,269 –1,157 – –1 –149 –141 –16,465 –16,411 5,544 5,385 – –

gross profit 6,257 6,094 1,279 1,275 877 837 902 887 3,158 3,056 73 75 40 38 6,329 6,168 –72 –74 – –

total expenses 1, 2 –5,295 –5,239 –871 –860 –630 –673 –869 –851 –2,967 –2,906 –11 –5 –19 –18 –5,367 –5,313 72 74 – –

ebitda 962 855 408 415 247 164 33 36 191 150 62 70 21 20 962 855 – – – –

depreciation of property, plant and equipment –143 –146 –15 –16 –13 –11 –20 –26 –71 –68 –24 –25 – – –143 –146 – – – –

amortisation of other intangibles –57 –74 –9 –8 –12 –14 –21 –26 –15 –26 – – – – –57 –74 – – – –

impairment of other intangibles –1 –2 – – – –1 – – –1 –1 – – – – –1 –2 – – – –

ebit (segment profit/(loss)) 761 633 384 391 222 138 –8 –16 104 55 38 45 21 20 761 633 – – – –

financial income 5 12

financial expenses –6 –5

result from joint ventures and associates 7 4 3 1 – 1 3 2 1 – – – – – 7 4 – – – –

earnings before tax (ebt) 767 644

income tax –160 –152

earnings for the year 607 492

attributable to:

equity holders of the parent company 597 484

non-controlling interests 10 8

earnings for the year 607 492

additional information not regularly 

reported to the codm

reportable non-current segment assets  1,928  1,969  90  100  71  88  298  321  571  575  898  885  –    –   1,928 1,969  – –  –  –

segment assets  6,374  6,279 1,188 1,233 652 687 764 822 1,347 1,286 901 888 10 12 4,862 4,928 – – 1,512 1,351

segment liabilities  3,816  3,854 1,121 1,136 616 644 669 645 1,071 1,042 14 20 55 59 3,546 3,546 – – 270 308

allocation of goodwill  688  694 43 47 39 42 214 214 392 391 – – – – 688 694 – – – –

allocation of other intangibles  89  141 12 19 13 25 48 67 16 30 – – – – 89 141 – – – –

capital expenditure property,  

plant and equipment  181  163 15 16 14 14 20 19 86 85 46 29 – – 181 163 – – – –

capital expenditure other intangibles  7  12 2 3 1 2 1 1 3 6 – – – – 7 12 – – – –

property, plant and equipment, goodwill 

and intangibles through business combinations

 

–    16 – – – 16 – – – – – – – – – 16 – – – –  

non-cash expenses  66  222 5 22 4 85 10 30 38 77 – 1 9 7 66 222 – – – –

1   see note 3 for the impact of the application of ias 19 (revised). 

2   total expenses in 2012 include an expense for eu commission antitrust fines of chf 65 million in airfreight.

  

a) Reportable segments 
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Total Group Seafreight Airfreight Road & Rail Logistics Contract Logistics  Real Estate Insurance Brokers

Total 
Reportable Segments Eliminations

Unallocated
Corporate

chf million 2013 2012 1 2013 2012 2013 2012 2 2013 2012 2013 2012 1 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 1 2013 2012 2013 2012

turnover (external customers) 20,929 20,753 8,998 9,059 4,143 4,063 3,059 3,155 4,608 4,357 1 2 120 117 20,929 20,753 – – – –

inter-segment turnover  – – 1,625 1,667 2,299 2,260 1,375 1,252 176 144 72 74 69 62 5,616 5,459 –5,616 –5,459 – –

customs duties and taxes –3,751 –3,633 –2,479 –2,416 –662 –658 –253 –271 –357 –288 – – – – –3,751 –3,633 – – – –

net turnover 17,178 17,120 8,144 8,310 5,780 5,665 4,181 4,136 4,427 4,213 73 76 189 179 22,794 22,579 –5,616 –5,459 – –

net expenses for services –10,921 –11,026 –6,865 –7,035 –4,903 –4,828 –3,279 –3,249 –1,269 –1,157 – –1 –149 –141 –16,465 –16,411 5,544 5,385 – –

gross profit 6,257 6,094 1,279 1,275 877 837 902 887 3,158 3,056 73 75 40 38 6,329 6,168 –72 –74 – –

total expenses 1, 2 –5,295 –5,239 –871 –860 –630 –673 –869 –851 –2,967 –2,906 –11 –5 –19 –18 –5,367 –5,313 72 74 – –

ebitda 962 855 408 415 247 164 33 36 191 150 62 70 21 20 962 855 – – – –

depreciation of property, plant and equipment –143 –146 –15 –16 –13 –11 –20 –26 –71 –68 –24 –25 – – –143 –146 – – – –

amortisation of other intangibles –57 –74 –9 –8 –12 –14 –21 –26 –15 –26 – – – – –57 –74 – – – –

impairment of other intangibles –1 –2 – – – –1 – – –1 –1 – – – – –1 –2 – – – –

ebit (segment profit/(loss)) 761 633 384 391 222 138 –8 –16 104 55 38 45 21 20 761 633 – – – –

financial income 5 12

financial expenses –6 –5

result from joint ventures and associates 7 4 3 1 – 1 3 2 1 – – – – – 7 4 – – – –

earnings before tax (ebt) 767 644

income tax –160 –152

earnings for the year 607 492

attributable to:

equity holders of the parent company 597 484

non-controlling interests 10 8

earnings for the year 607 492

additional information not regularly 

reported to the codm

reportable non-current segment assets  1,928  1,969  90  100  71  88  298  321  571  575  898  885  –    –   1,928 1,969  – –  –  –

segment assets  6,374  6,279 1,188 1,233 652 687 764 822 1,347 1,286 901 888 10 12 4,862 4,928 – – 1,512 1,351

segment liabilities  3,816  3,854 1,121 1,136 616 644 669 645 1,071 1,042 14 20 55 59 3,546 3,546 – – 270 308

allocation of goodwill  688  694 43 47 39 42 214 214 392 391 – – – – 688 694 – – – –

allocation of other intangibles  89  141 12 19 13 25 48 67 16 30 – – – – 89 141 – – – –

capital expenditure property,  

plant and equipment  181  163 15 16 14 14 20 19 86 85 46 29 – – 181 163 – – – –

capital expenditure other intangibles  7  12 2 3 1 2 1 1 3 6 – – – – 7 12 – – – –

property, plant and equipment, goodwill 

and intangibles through business combinations

 

–    16 – – – 16 – – – – – – – – – 16 – – – –  

non-cash expenses  66  222 5 22 4 85 10 30 38 77 – 1 9 7 66 222 – – – –

1   see note 3 for the impact of the application of ias 19 (revised). 

2   total expenses in 2012 include an expense for eu commission antitrust fines of chf 65 million in airfreight.
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Total Group Europe Americas Asia-Pacific 

Middle East, 
Central Asia and Africa Eliminations

Unallocated
Corporate

chf million 2013 2012 1 2013 2012 2 2013 2012 1 2013 2012 2 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

turnover (external customers) 20,929 20,753 12,530 12,472 4,676 4,572 2,162 2,120 1,561 1,589 – – – –

inter-regional turnover – – 3,398 2,979 757 737 1,124 1,231 266 438 –5,545 –5,385 – –

customs duties and taxes –3,751 –3,633 –1,973 –1,971 –856 –878 –326 –273 –596 –511 – – – –

net turnover 17,178 17,120 13,955 13,480 4,577 4,431 2,960 3,078 1,231 1,516 –5,545 –5,385 – –

net expenses for services –10,921 –11,026 –9,518 –9,136 –3,549 –3,458 –2,397 –2,514 –1,002 –1,303 5,545 5,385 – –

gross profit 6,257 6,094 4,437 4,344 1,028 973 563 564 229 213 – – – –

total expenses 1, 2 –5,295 –5,239 –3,915 –3,870 –844 –813 –362 –383 –174 –173 – – – –

ebitda 962 855 522 474 184 160 201 181 55 40 – – – –

depreciation of property, plant and equipment –143 –146 –107 –109 –20 –22 –10 –9 –6 –6 – – – –

amortisation of other intangibles –57 –74 –48 –63 –5 –7 –3 –4 –1 – – – – –

impairment of other intangibles –1 –2 –1 –2 – – – – – – – – – –

ebit 761 633 366 300 159 131 188 168 48 34 – – – –

financial income 5 12

financial expenses –6 –5

result from joint ventures and associates 7 4 7 4 – – – – – – – – – –

earnings before tax (ebt) 767 644

income tax –160 –152

earnings for the year 607 492

attributable to:

equity holders of the parent company 597 484

non-controlling interests 10 8

earnings for the year 607 492

reportable non-current assets 1,928 1,969 1,592 1,610 195 215 88 88 53 56 – – – –

additional information not regularly 

reported to the codm

segment assets 6,374 6,279 3,339 3,383 865 860 371 374 287 311 – – 1,512 1,351

segment liabilities 3,816 3,854 2,478 2,457 531 558 344 332 193 199 – – 270 308

allocation of goodwill 688 694 555 553 104 110 23 25 6 6 – – – –

allocation of other intangibles 89 141 74 118 9 15 6 8 – – – – – – 

capital expenditure property,  

plant and equipment 181 163 128 111 20 21 19 14 14 17 – – – –

capital expenditure other intangibles 7 12 7 11 – 1 – – – – – – – – 

property, plant and equipment, goodwill 

and intangibles through business combinations – 16 – 9 – 2 – 5 – – – – – –

non-cash expenses 66 222 61 185 –4 12 3 22 6 3 – – – –

1   see note 3 for the impact of the application of ias 19 (revised). 

2   total expenses in 2012 include an expense for eu commission antitrust fines of chf 48 million in europe and chf 17 million in asia-pacific.

b) Geographical information 
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Total Group Europe Americas Asia-Pacific 

Middle East, 
Central Asia and Africa Eliminations

Unallocated
Corporate

chf million 2013 2012 1 2013 2012 2 2013 2012 1 2013 2012 2 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

turnover (external customers) 20,929 20,753 12,530 12,472 4,676 4,572 2,162 2,120 1,561 1,589 – – – –

inter-regional turnover – – 3,398 2,979 757 737 1,124 1,231 266 438 –5,545 –5,385 – –

customs duties and taxes –3,751 –3,633 –1,973 –1,971 –856 –878 –326 –273 –596 –511 – – – –

net turnover 17,178 17,120 13,955 13,480 4,577 4,431 2,960 3,078 1,231 1,516 –5,545 –5,385 – –

net expenses for services –10,921 –11,026 –9,518 –9,136 –3,549 –3,458 –2,397 –2,514 –1,002 –1,303 5,545 5,385 – –

gross profit 6,257 6,094 4,437 4,344 1,028 973 563 564 229 213 – – – –

total expenses 1, 2 –5,295 –5,239 –3,915 –3,870 –844 –813 –362 –383 –174 –173 – – – –

ebitda 962 855 522 474 184 160 201 181 55 40 – – – –

depreciation of property, plant and equipment –143 –146 –107 –109 –20 –22 –10 –9 –6 –6 – – – –

amortisation of other intangibles –57 –74 –48 –63 –5 –7 –3 –4 –1 – – – – –

impairment of other intangibles –1 –2 –1 –2 – – – – – – – – – –

ebit 761 633 366 300 159 131 188 168 48 34 – – – –

financial income 5 12

financial expenses –6 –5

result from joint ventures and associates 7 4 7 4 – – – – – – – – – –

earnings before tax (ebt) 767 644

income tax –160 –152

earnings for the year 607 492

attributable to:

equity holders of the parent company 597 484

non-controlling interests 10 8

earnings for the year 607 492

reportable non-current assets 1,928 1,969 1,592 1,610 195 215 88 88 53 56 – – – –

additional information not regularly 

reported to the codm

segment assets 6,374 6,279 3,339 3,383 865 860 371 374 287 311 – – 1,512 1,351

segment liabilities 3,816 3,854 2,478 2,457 531 558 344 332 193 199 – – 270 308

allocation of goodwill 688 694 555 553 104 110 23 25 6 6 – – – –

allocation of other intangibles 89 141 74 118 9 15 6 8 – – – – – – 

capital expenditure property,  

plant and equipment 181 163 128 111 20 21 19 14 14 17 – – – –

capital expenditure other intangibles 7 12 7 11 – 1 – – – – – – – – 

property, plant and equipment, goodwill 

and intangibles through business combinations – 16 – 9 – 2 – 5 – – – – – –

non-cash expenses 66 222 61 185 –4 12 3 22 6 3 – – – –

1   see note 3 for the impact of the application of ias 19 (revised). 

2   total expenses in 2012 include an expense for eu commission antitrust fines of chf 48 million in europe and chf 17 million in asia-pacific.
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b) Geographical information

 Country information 

2013 2012

countries
chf million

reportable non-
current assets

net 
turnover

 reportable non-
current assets

net 
turnover

france 1
550 1,458 559 1,396

germany 1 443 3,165 450 3,118

great britain 1
230 1,508 224 1,569

switzerland 1
6 258 6 250

usa 2
96 1,852 97 1,780

others 603 8,937 633 9,007

total       1,928 17,178 1,969 17,120

1  part of region europe.

2  part of region americas.

21 personnel expenses

chf million 2013 2012 1

salaries and wages 2,947 2,867

social expenses and employee benefits 667 629

expenses for share-based compensation plans 5 10

expenses for pension plans

— defined benefit plans 23 22

— defined contribution plans 57 53

other 36 25

total 3,735 3,606

1  see note 3 for the impact of the application of ias 19 (revised).

22 selling, general and administrative expenses

chf million 2013 2012

administration 205 215

communication 75 78

travel and promotion 75 76

vehicles 271 293

operating expenses 236 231

facilities 686 682

bad debt and collection expenses 14 17

total 1,562 1,592

the following countries individually constitute more than 10 per cent of the group’s non-current assets or 

of its net turnover. in addition, switzerland is reported as the country of domicile of the ultimate holding 

company of the group. 
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23 other operating income/expenses, net

chf million 2013 2012

gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 10 24

gain on disposal of associate 1 1 5

loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment –2 –5

other operating expenses –7 –

total other operating income/expenses, net 2 24

expense for eu antitrust fines 2 – –65

total 2 –41

1  during the year a disposal of one associate resulted in a cash inflow and a gain of chf 1 million (2012: chf 5 million).

2  see also note 41.

24 financial income and expenses

chf million 2013 2012

interest income 4 6

exchange differences, net 1 6

financial income 5 12

interest expenses –6 –5

financial expenses –6 –5

net financial result –1 7

25 income tax

chf million 2013 2012

current tax expense

— in current year 175 190

— under/(over)-provided in previous years 2 3

177 193

deferred tax expense from

— changes in temporary differences –17 –15

— impact of deferred tax assets previously not recognised – –26

–17 –41

income tax 160 152

income tax of chf 19 million (2012: chf 19 million) relating to actuarial gains and losses of chf 27 million 

before tax (2012: chf 57 million) arising from defined benefit plans is recognised in other comprehensive 

income. 



92 Consolidated Financial Statements 2013    other notes

chf million  2013  per cent 2012  per cent

earnings before tax according to the  

income statement 767 644

income tax/expected tax rate 144 18.8 137 21.3

tax effect on

— tax exempt (income)/non-deductible expenses 2 0.3 24 3.7

— tax losses (utilised)/expired      –4 –0.5 –3 –0.5

— change of deferred tax assets not recognised – – –26 –4.0

— under/(over)-provided in previous years 2 0.3 3 0.5

— unrecoverable withholding taxes 16 2.1 13 2.0

— other – – 4 0.6

income tax/effective tax rate 160 21.0 152 23.6

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Assets 1 Liabilities 1 Net 1

chf million dec. 31, 2013 dec. 31, 2012 dec. 31, 2013  dec. 31, 2012 dec. 31, 2013 dec. 31, 2012

property, plant and equipment 29 33 –64 –69 –35 –36

goodwill and other intangibles 25 28 –41 –47 –16 –19

trade receivables 19 17 –1 –4 18 13

other receivables 3 4 –23 –25 –20 –21

finance lease obligations      11 13 – – 11 13

provisions for pension plans  

and severance payments 21 42 –1 –2 20 40

other liabilities 56 50 –6 –4 50 46

tax value of loss carry- 

forwards recognised 8 8 – – 8 8

tax assets/(liabilities) 172 195 –136 –151 36 44

1  of which acquired in business 

combinations 

(opening balance sheet) – 1 – –2 – –1

reconciliation of the effective tax rate 

the contributing factors for the difference between the expected tax rate (the group’s overall expected tax 

rate is calculated as the weighted average tax rate based on earnings before tax of each subsidiary and can 

change on a yearly basis) and the effective tax are as follows:



93Consolidated Financial Statements 2013    other notes

chf million  dec. 31, 2013 dec. 31, 2012

on tax losses 48 44

earnings per share 2013 2012 1

earnings for the year attributable to the equity holders

of the parent company in chf million 597 484

weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year 119,813,251 119,511,009

dilutive effect on number of shares outstanding:

share-based compensation plans 130,040 87,265

adjusted weighted number of ordinary shares applicable  

to diluted earnings per share 119,943,291 119,598,274

basic earnings per share in chf 4.98 4.05

diluted earnings per share in chf 4.98 4.05

1  see note 3 for the impact of the application of ias 19 (revised).

the recognised deferred tax assets relating to tax losses carried forward are expected to be used by the end 

of the next two years at the latest.

Unrecognised deferred tax assets

it is not probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the unrecognised deferred tax 

assets can be used. chf 43 million (2012: chf 41 million) of unrecognised deferred tax assets is relating to 

tax losses that do not expire.

26 earnings per share

the following reflects the data used in the basic and diluted earnings per share computations for the years 

ending december 31. 
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fire insurance value as of december 31, 2013: chf 2,049 million. no restriction on the title exists except for 

items under finance leases as of december 31, 2013.

27 propert y, plant and eQuipment  

2013

chf million properties 
including

buildings on 
third parties‘ 

land

other operating
and office
equipment

properties,
buildings under 

finance leases

other operating
and office
equipment 

under finance 
leases

total

cost

balance as of January 1, 2013 827 688 189 45 1,749 

additions 46 135 – – 181 

disposals –7 –72 – –6 –85

adjustments/transfers 42 3 –45 – –

effect of movements in  

foreign exchange –6 –13 3 – –16

balance as of december 31, 2013 902 741 147 39 1,829 

accumulated depreciation  

and impairment losses

balance as of January 1, 2013 126 443 12 34 615 

depreciation charge for the year 20 116 3 4 143 

disposals –1 –64 – –5 –70

adjustments/transfers 9 – –9 – –

effect of movements  

in foreign exchange –1 –9 – – –10

balance as of december 31, 2013 153 486 6 33 678 

carrying amount

as of January 1, 2013 701 245 177 11 1,134 

as of december 31, 2013 749 255 141 6 1,151 
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2012

chf million properties 
including

buildings on 
third parties‘ 

land

other operating
and office 
equipment

properties
buildings under 

finance leases

other operating
and office 
equipment 

under
finance leases

total

cost

balance as of January 1, 2012 848 622 192 44 1,706 

additions through  

business combinations – 2 – 1 3 

other additions 28 134 – 1 163 

disposals –26 –74 – –4 –104

adjustments/transfers –16 13 – 3 –

effect of movements  

in foreign exchange –7 –9 –3 – –19

balance as of december 31, 2012 827 688 189 45 1,749 

accumulated depreciation  

and impairment losses

balance as of January 1, 2012 120 403 9 28 560 

depreciation charge for the year 19 115 4 8 146 

disposals –12 –66 – –3 –81

adjustments/transfers – –1 – 1 –

effect of movements  

in foreign exchange –1 –8 –1 – –10

balance as of december 31, 2012 126 443 12 34 615 

carrying amount

as of January 1, 2012 728 219 183 16 1,146 

as of december 31, 2012 701 245 177 11 1,134 

fire insurance value as of december 31, 2012: chf 1,991 million. no restriction on the title exists except for 

items under finance leases as of december 31, 2012.
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28 goodwill and other intangibles  

2013

chf million goodwill other 
intangibles 1

cost

balance as of January 1, 2013 711 646 

additions – 7 

deletions – –3

effect of movements in foreign exchange –10 –2

balance as of december 31, 2013 701 648 

accumulated amortisation and impairment losses

balance as of January 1, 2013 17 505 

amortisation charge for the year – 57 

impairment loss – 1 

deletions – –3

effect of movements in foreign exchange –4 –1

balance as of december 31, 2013 13 559 

carrying amount

as of January 1, 2013 694 141 

as of december 31, 2013 688 89 

1  other intangibles mainly comprise customer contracts/lists and software.

2  the impairment charge of chf 1 million relates to other intangibles pertaining to reportable segment  

    contract logistics recognised upon the acquisition of acr group, europe, due to loss of customer contracts.

 2



97Consolidated Financial Statements 2013    other notes

 

2012

chf million goodwill other 
intangibles 1

cost

balance as of January 1, 2012 717 639 

additions through business combinations 4 9 

other additions – 12 

deletions – –10

effect of movements in foreign exchange –10 –4

balance as of december 31, 2012 711 646 

accumulated amortisation and impairment losses

balance as of January 1, 2012 21 443 

amortisation charge for the year – 74 

impairment loss – 2 

deletions – –10

effect of movements in foreign exchange –4 –4

balance as of december 31, 2012 17 505 

carrying amount

as of January 1, 2012 696 196 

as of december 31, 2012 694 141 

1  other intangibles mainly comprise customer contracts/lists and software.

2  the impairment charge of chf 2 million relates to other intangibles pertaining to the reportable segments airfreight and contract logistics  

    recognised upon the acquisitions of J. martens group, norway, and acr group, europe, due to loss of customer contracts.

 2
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impairment testing of goodwill

the group has performed impairment tests of goodwill at the end of the financial years 2013 and 2012. 

for the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units which are expected 

to benefit from the synergies of the corresponding business combination. the goodwill impairment test is 

performed at the level of a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units represented by a  

business unit in the respective country. the allocation of goodwill to reportable segments (business units) 

and geographical regions is further illustrated in note 20.

for the goodwill allocated to the cash-generating units, the impairment tests are based on calculations of 

value in use. cash flow projections are based on actual operating results and three year business plans. cash 

flows beyond the three year period are extrapolated by using estimated long-term growth rates. the growth 

rates do not exceed the long-term average growth rate for the logistics industry in which the cash generating 

units operate. future cash flows are discounted based on the weighted average cost of capital (wacc), tak-

ing into account risks that are specific to the cash-generating units.

key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations of goodwill:

key assumptions have not changed compared with the previous year with the exception of discount rates 

used. for both 2013 and 2012, all recoverable amounts exceeded their carrying amounts and consequently 

no impairment of goodwill was recognised for the years 2013 and 2012.

management considers that it is not likely for the assumptions used to change so significantly, as to elimi-

nate the excess of recoverable amounts. a sensitivity analysis for the three major acquisitions – usco group, 

acr group and alloin group – has been prepared with the following outcome:

 

 
1

business acquired usco
group

acr group,
europe

alloin group,
france

multiple 
units

total

year of acquisition 2001 2006 2009 2004–2012

carrying amount of goodwill in chf million 79 292 88 229 688

cash-generating unit within segment contract

logistics

contract

logistics

road & rail

logistics

all

segments

basis for recoverable amount value in use value in use value in use value in use

pre-tax discount rate in per cent 2013 13.1 11.6–17.4 13.4 11.5–18.1

pre-tax discount rate in per cent 2012 13.3 11.5–16.8 12.6 11.3–18.0

projection period 3 years 3 years 3 years 3 years

terminal growth rate in per cent 2013 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5

terminal growth rate in per cent 2012 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5

1  acr group, europe, goodwill relates to great britain (chf 98 million), france (chf 69 million), netherlands (chf 57 million) and other various countries (chf 68 million).

2  including cash generating units without significant goodwill cordes & simon group, germany (chf 38 million), g.l. kayser group, germany (chf 36 million) and  

    J. martens group, norway (chf 28 million), rh group, united kingdom (chf 53 million), cooltainer, new zealand (chf 21 million), eichenberg group, brazil (chf 17 million),  

    J. van de put, netherlands (chf 12 million).

 
2
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Sensitivity analysis of goodwill USCO Group

amount of excess (+)/necessary impairment (–) in chf million depending on:

Sensitivity analysis of goodwill ACR Group 

amount of excess (+)/necessary impairment (–) in chf million depending on:

Sensitivity analysis of goodwill Alloin Group 

amount of excess (+)/necessary impairment (–) in chf million depending on:

Discount rate

chf million  14.0 per cent 15.0 per cent 16.0 per cent 17.0 per cent

growth rate

0.0 per cent  29  20  13  6 

0.5 per cent  33  24  15  8 

1.0 per cent  37  27  18  10 

1.5 per cent  41  30  21  13 

Discount rate

chf million  15.0 per cent 16.0 per cent 17.0 per cent 18.0 per cent

growth rate

0.0 per cent  484  439  399  364 

0.5 per cent  501  454  412  375 

1.0 per cent  520  470  426  387 

1.5 per cent  540  487  441  400 

Discount rate

chf million  13.0 per cent 14.0 per cent 15.0 per cent 16.0 per cent

growth rate

0.0 per cent  72  60  50  41 

0.5 per cent  77  65  54  44 

1.0 per cent  82  69  57  48 

1.5 per cent  88  74  62  51 
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no significant investments in associates were held at december 31, 2013 and 2012.

30 worK in progress

this position decreased from chf 306 million in 2012 to chf 296 million in 2013, which represents a billing 

delay of 5.2 working days compared with the previous year’s 5.5 working days.

31 trade receivables

the majority of all billing is done in the respective group companies’ own functional currencies and is mainly 

in eur 43.6 per cent (2012: 42.8 per cent), usd 13.6 per cent (2012: 12.1 per cent) and gbp 9.0 per cent 

(2012: 8.9 per cent).

trade receivables outstanding at year-end averaged 43.2 days (2012: 42.6 days). 94.2 per cent (2012: 95.1 

per cent) of the total trade receivables were outstanding between 1 and 90 days.

chf million dec. 31, 2013 dec. 31, 2012

non-current assets  51 57

current assets  53 59

total assets  104 116

current liabilities  –38 –38

equity  66 78

Kuehne + nagel‘s share of equity (50%)  33 39

net turnover  291 293

earnings for the year  –   –

chf million 2013 2012

trade receivables 2,510 2,503

impairment allowance –84 –75

total trade receivables 2,426 2,428

29 investments in Joint ventures & associates

as of december 31, 2013, the following investments in joint ventures are held (all with 50 per cent voting 

rights/kn share):

— kn-its s.a.l., lebanon

— kuehne + nagel drinkflow logistics ltd., great britain

— kuehne + nagel drinkflow logistics (holdings) ltd., great britain

— sindos railcontainer services s.a., greece

the table below provides a summary of financial information on joint ventures (100 per cent):
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no trade receivables are pledged in 2013 and 2012.

the group has a credit insurance programme in place, covering trade receivables, focusing mainly on small 

and medium exposures. the credit insurance policy covers up to 80 per cent of the approved customer credit 

limit, excluding any items being more than 120 days past due. as a company policy, the group excludes 

customers from its insurance program based on certain criteria (so-called blue chip companies).

the group establishes an impairment allowance that represents its estimate of incurred losses in respect of trade 

receivables. the two components of this impairment allowance of chf 84 million (2012: chf 75 million) are:

— specific loss component that relates to individually significant exposure

— collective loss component based on historical experience.

trade receivables with credit insurance cover are not included in the impairment allowance. the individual 

impairment allowance relates to specifically identified customers representing extremely high risk of being 

declared bankrupt, chapter 11 customers in the usa and customers operating with significant financial  

difficulties (such as negative equity). the impairment allowance for individually significant exposures is  

chf 47 million at year-end 2013 (2012: chf 44 million).

the collective impairment allowance based on overdue trade receivables is estimated considering statistical 

information of past payment experience. the group has established a collective impairment allowance of 

chf 37 million (2012: chf 31 million) which represents 3.4 per cent (2012: 3.0 per cent) of total outstand-

ing trade receivables, excluding trade receivables with insurance cover (see above) and trade receivables 

included in the individual impairment allowance.

the majority of the trade receivables not past due relates to customers who have good payment records with 

the group and are subject to yearly credit risk assessments. therefore, the group does not believe that an 

additional impairment allowance for these trade receivables is necessary.

2013 2012

chf million gross (excluding
insured 

receivables
and individual

allowance)

collective
allowance

collective
allowance

per cent of
subtotal

gross (excluding
insured 

receivables
and individual

allowance)

collective
allowance

collective
allowance

per cent of
subtotal

not past due 773 – – 625 – –

past due 1–30 days 191 – – 279 – –

past due 31–90 days 72 4 5 83 4 5

past due 91–180 days 18 2 10 19 2 10

past due 181–360 days 23 23 100 18 18 100

more than 1 year 8 8 100 7 7 100

total 1,085 37 3.4 1,031 31 3.0
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32 other receivables

chf million dec. 31, 2013 dec. 31, 2012

receivables from tax authorities 26 29

deposits 45 30

sundry 36 57

total other receivables 107 116

income tax receivables 52 34

total 159 150

the majority of the other receivables are held in the respective group companies’ own functional currencies, 

which represents eur 52.4 per cent (2012: 54.5 per cent), usd 6.0 per cent (2012: 8.0 per cent) and gbp 

0.8 per cent (2012: 0.7 per cent).

33 financial investments and derivative instruments

as of december 31, 2013 and 2012, no material financial investments and derivative instruments were 

held.

the movement in the impairment allowance during the year was as follows: 

2013 2012

chf million individual
allowance

collective
allowance

total
allowance

individual
allowance

collective
allowance

total
allowance

balance as of January 1 44 31 75 42 25 67

additional impairment 

losses recognised 20 12 32 21 10 31

reversal of impairment 

losses and write-offs –17 –6 –23 –19 –4 –23

balance as  

of december 31 47 37 84 44 31 75
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the majority of the above mentioned cash and cash equivalents is held in commercial banks and managed 

centrally in order to limit currency risks. a netting system and a group cash pool are in place which also fur-

ther reduce the currency exposure. most of the bank balances held by group companies are in their respective 

functional currencies, which are mainly in chf, eur, usd and gbp.

34 cash and cash eQuivalents

chf million dec. 31, 2013 dec. 31, 2012

cash in hand 2 2

cash at banks 1,095 919

short-term deposits 158 162

cash and cash equivalents 1,255 1,083

bank overdraft –13 –25

cash and cash equivalents in the cash flow statement, net 1,242 1,058

35 eQuit y

Share capital and treasury shares 2013

2013 Balance Dec. 31 Jan. 1

main shareholders registered shares 
of nominal chf 1 

per share

chf million capital share
per cent

voting share
per cent

registered shares 
of nominal chf 1 

per share

kuehne holding ag, schindellegi (feusisberg) 63,900,000 64 53.3 53.3 63,900,000

public shareholders 56,038,474 56 46.7 46.7 55,834,609

entitled to voting rights and dividends 119,938,474 120 100.0 100.0 119,734,609

treasury shares 61,526 – – 265,391

total 120,000,000 120 100.0 120,000,000

in 2013 the company sold 403,865 (2012: 628,527) treasury shares for chf 39 million (2012: chf 59 million) 

under the share-based compensation plans. the company also purchased 200,000 (2012: 202,017) treasury 

shares for chf 24 million (2012: chf 20 million).
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authorised and conditional share capital

the annual general meeting held on may 8, 2012, extended its approval of authorised share capital  

up to a maximum of chf 20 million by another two years until may 6, 2014. 

the annual general meeting held on may 2, 2005, approved a conditional share capital increase up to a maxi-

mum of chf 12 million and to add a respective section in the articles of association. 

on december 31, 2013, the company had 61,526 treasury shares (2012: 265,391), of which 61,526 

(2012: 265,391) are reserved under the share-based compensation plans; refer to note 37 for more  

information.

dividends

the proposed dividend payment, subject to approval by the annual general meeting, is as follows:

the dividend payment 2013 to owners amounted to chf 3.50 per share or chf 419 million (2012: chf 3.85 

per share or chf 460 million).

Share capital and treasury shares 2012

2012 Balance Dec. 31 Jan. 1

main shareholders registered shares
of nominal chf 1 

per share

chf million capital share
per cent

voting share
per cent

registered shares
of nominal chf 1 

per share

kuehne holding ag, schindellegi (feusisberg) 63,900,000 64 53.3 53.4 63,900,000

public shareholders 55,834,609 56 46.5 46.6 55,408,099

entitled to voting rights and dividends 119,734,609 120 99.8 100.0 119,308,099

treasury shares 265,391 – 0.2 691,901

total 120,000,000 120 100.0 120,000,000

year per share chf million dividend

2014 chf 3.85 462 dividend

2014 chf 2.00 240 extraordinary dividend
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the annual general meeting held on may 8, 2012, approved a conditional share capital increase up to  

a maximum of chf 20 million for the provision of the employee share-based compensation plans of the 

company.

so far no use has been made of these rights. there is no resolution of the board of directors outstanding for 

further issuance of either authorised or conditional capital.

capital management

the group defines the capital managed as the group’s total equity, including non-controlling interests. the 

group’s main objectives when managing capital are:

— to safeguard the group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide services   

 to its customers;

— to provide an adequate return to investors based on the level of risk undertaken;

— to have the necessary financial resources available to allow the group to invest in areas that may deliver 

 future benefits for customers and investors.

capital is monitored on the basis of the equity ratio and its development is shown in the table below:

the group is not subject to regulatory capital adequacy requirements as known in the financial services industry.

36 provisions for pension plans and severance payments

the group maintains defined benefit pension plans as well as defined contribution plans. retirement bene-

fits vary from plan to plan reflecting applicable local practices and legal requirements. retirement benefits 

are based on years of credited service and the compensation as defined in the respective plan.

chf million 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

total equity  2,558  2,425   2,405  2,378 2,290

total assets  6,374  6,279  6,141  5,941 5,933

equity ratio in per cent 40.1 38.6 39.2  40.0 38.6
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a) defined benefit plans

the group has a number of defined benefit plans. for a description and detailed information of the major 

defined benefit plans in germany, the usa and switzerland, please refer to letter b) of this note.

2013 2012

chf million funded plans unfunded 
plans

total funded plans unfunded 
plans

total

net liability for defined 

benefit obligations

present value  

of obligations  174  269 

 

443 

 

181   271 

 

452

fair value of plan assets  –139   –  –139  –132 –    –132

present value of net 

obligations  35  269  304  49  271 

 

320

recognised net liability 

for defined benefit  

obligations  35  269  304  49   271 

 

320

chf million pension
plans

severance
payments

total

balance as of January 1, 2012 261 35 296

provisions made 21 7 28

provisions used –17 –5 –22

actuarial (gains)/losses recognised in other comprehensive income 58 – 58

effect of movements in foreign exchange –3 – –3

balance as of december 31, 2012 320 37 357

provisions made 24 5 29

provisions used –16 –5 –21

actuarial (gains)/losses recognised in other comprehensive income –27 – –27

effect of movements in foreign exchange 3 –1 2

balance as of december 31, 2013 304 36 340

Overview of provisions for pension plans and severance payments
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the pension plan assets are held in multi-employer funded plans. the group is not in a position to state 

whether the funded plans contain any investments in shares of kuehne + nagel international ag or in any 

property occupied by the group.

chf million 2013 per cent 2012 per cent

allocation of plan assets

debt securities  78 56.1  79 59.8

equity securities  36 25.9  30 22.7

property  10 7.2  8 6.1

others  15 10.8  15 11.4

total  139 100.0  132 100.0

2013 2012 1

chf million funded plans funded plans

movements of fair value of plan assets

opening fair value of plan assets  132  118 

employer contribution  6  8 

employee contribution  4  4 

return on plan assets, excluding interest  2  3 

interest on plan assets  3  4 

benefits paid by the plan  –7  –5 

effect of movements in foreign exchange  –1  –   

closing fair value of plan assets  139  132 

expected payments to defined benefit plan in next year 6 7 

actual return on plan assets for the year 6 7 

1  see note 3 for the impact of the application of ias 19 (revised).
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2013 2012 1

chf million funded plans unfunded plans total funded plans unfunded plans total

movements of present value of 

defined benefit obligations

opening liability for defined 

benefit obligations 181 271 452 161 218 379

current service costs 6 5 11 6 4 10

interest costs 5 9 14 6 10 16

employee contribution 4 – 4 4  –   4

actuarial (gains)/losses recognised

in other comprehensive income:

— due to changes in financial  

   assumptions –13 –11 –24 14 53 67

— due to experience adjustments –3 2 –1 –5 –2 –7

benefits paid by the plan –6 –10 –16 –5 –9 –14

past service costs – amendments 1 – 1 – – –

effect of movements 

in foreign exchange –1 3 2 – –3  –3 

closing liability for defined 

benefit obligations    174 269 443 181 271 452

expense recognised in the 

income statement

service costs  7  5  12 6  4  10

net interest on the net 

defined benefit liability  2  9  11 2  10  12

expense recognised in 

personnel expenses 

(refer to note 21)

 

9  14  23 8  14  22

actuarial gains/(losses) 

recognised in other

comprehensive income 

cumulative amount as of January 1 –41 –57 –98 –35 –6 –41

recognised during the year  18  9  27  –6  –51  –57 

effect of movements 

in foreign exchange  1  –1  –    –    –    –   

cumulative amount 

as of december 31 –22 –49 –71 –41 –57 –98

1  see note 3 for the impact of the application of ias 19 (revised).
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sensitivities of significant actuarial assumptions

the discount rate and the future salary increases were identified as significant actuarial assumptions. an  

increase/decrease of 0.25 per cent in the respective assumption would have the following impact on the 

defined benefit obligation:

the duration in years corresponds to the average weighted period.

Active Deferred Retired Total

plan participants 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

number of plan participants 14,572 15,182 1,933 2,027 1,994 1,934 18,499 19,143

present value of the defined 

benefit obligations

in chf million 241 251 57 62 145 139 443 452

share in per cent 54.3 55.6 12.9 13.7 32.8 30.7 100.0 100.0

duration in years 18.5 19.5 13.4 14.2 10.0 10.3 15.0 15.9

Weighted actuarial assumptions at the balance sheet date

2013 2012

per cent funded plans unfunded 
plans

total funded plans unfunded 
plans

total

discount rate 3.3 3.6 3.5 2.9 3.3 3.2

future salary increases 1.2 2.0 1.9 1.0 2.0 1.6

future pension increases 0.2 1.8 1.6 0.2 1.8 1.2

2013

chf million funded plans unfunded 
plans

total

reasonably possible change +/– in per cent  0.25  0.25  0.25 

discount rate

increase of defined benefit obligation 7 8 15

decrease of defined benefit obligation –7 –8 –15

future salary increases

increase of defined benefit obligation 1 1 2

decrease of defined benefit obligation –1 –1 –2
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chf million 2013 2012

net liability for defined benefit obligations

present value of obligations 245 246

fair value of plan assets – –

present value of net obligations 245 246

recognised net liability for defined benefit obligations 245 246

the sensitivity analysis is based on reasonably possible changes as of the end of the reporting year. each 

change in a significant actuarial assumption was analysed separately as part of the test. interdependencies 

between individual assumptions were not taken into account.

b) major defined benefit plans

the group maintains significant defined benefit pension plans in germany, the usa and in switzerland 

constituting 86 per cent (2012: 86 per cent) of the defined benefit obligations and 80 per cent (2012:  

79 per cent) of the plan assets.

germany

there is one major defined benefit pension plan in germany that provides retirement and disability bene-

fits to employees and their dependants. this plan is based on an internal pension scheme (versorgungs-

ordnung), with the employers’ retirement benefits law (betriebsrentengesetz) specifying the minimum 

benefits to be provided. the plan is entirely funded by kuehne + nagel. risks in relation to guarantees 

provided, such as investment risk, asset volatility, salary increase and life expectancy, are borne by the 

group. 

contributions are based on the salary of the employee. pensions are calculated as a percentage of  

contributory base salary multiplied with the years of service. normal retirement age for the plan is 65. 

members can draw retirement benefits early with a proportionate reduction of the pension. 

the plan is closed to new entrants, who instead can participate in a defined contribution plan.
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the duration in years corresponds to the average weighted period.

chf million 2013 2012

expense recognised in the income statement

service costs 4 3

net interest on the net defined benefit liability 8 9

expense recognised in personnel expenses 12 12

plan participants 2013 2012

number of plan participants 3,882 3,941

present value of the defined benefit obligations

in chf million 245 246

duration in years 15.3 16.0

Weighted actuarial assumptions at the balance sheet date

per cent 2013 2012

discount rate 3.5 3.3

future salary increases 2.0 2.0

future pension increases 2.0 2.0

mortality table dr. k. heubeck 2005 g dr. k. heubeck 2005 g
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chf million 2013 2012

net liability for defined benefit obligations

present value of obligations 49 55

fair value of plan assets –41 –37

present value of net obligations 8 18

recognised net liability for defined benefit obligations 8 18

chf million 2013 per cent 2012 per cent

allocation of plan assets

debt securities  14 34.1  18 48.6

equity securities  25 61.0  19 51.4

property  2 4.9  –   –

others  –   –  – –

total  41 100.0  37 100.0

usa

the us pension plan is a defined benefit pension plan that provides retirement and disability benefits to 

employees and their dependents. the various insurance benefits are governed by regulations. the us plan is 

qualified under and is managed in accordance with the requirements of us federal law. in accordance with 

federal law, there are plan fiduciaries that are responsible for the governance of the plan. fiduciaries also 

are responsible for the investment of the plan’s assets, which are held in a pension trust that is legally sepa-

rate from the employer. the plan is entirely funded by kuehne + nagel. risks in relation to guarantees pro-

vided, such as investment risk, asset volatility, salary increase and life expectancy, are borne by the group.

contributions are based on the salary of the employee. normal retirement age is 65, with a minimum of 5 

years of service. the plan provides a lifetime pension at normal retirement, which is based on a percentage 

of the highest average monthly compensation over a five-year period (limited to usd 100,000), multiplied by 

credited service under the plan. members can draw retirement benefits early, with a proportionate reduction 

of the pension, at the age of 55 if the employee has a minimum of 10 years of service.

the plan is closed to new entrants and its benefits are frozen. new employees are instead covered by a 

defined contribution plan.
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chf million 2013 2012

actual return on plan assets for the year 5 4

expected payments to defined benefit plan in next year 1 2

the duration in years corresponds to the average weighted period.

chf million 2013 2012

expense recognised in the income statement

service costs – –

net interest on the net defined benefit liability 1 1

expense recognised in personnel expenses 1 1

plan participants 2013 2012

number of plan participants 1,896 1,936

present value of the defined benefit obligations

in chf million 49 55

duration in years 14.4 15.9

Weighted actuarial assumptions at the balance sheet date

per cent 2013 2012

discount rate 4.9 4.0

future salary increases – –

future pension increases – –

mortality table irs ppa 2013 non-

annuitant (pre retirement) 

and annuitant (post 

retirement)

irs ppa 2012 non-

annuitant (pre retirement) 

and annuitant (post 

retirement)
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switzerland

the swiss pension plans are defined benefit plans that provide retirement and disability benefits to em-

ployees and their dependents. swiss pension plans are governed by the swiss federal law on occupational 

retirement, survivor’s and disability pension plans (bvg), which stipulates that pension plans have to be 

managed by independent, legally autonomous units. a pension plan’s governing body (board of trustees) is 

responsible for the investment of the plan’s assets and must be composed of equal numbers of employee’s 

and employer’s representatives. the various insurance benefits are governed in regulations, with the bvg 

specifying the minimum benefits that are to be provided. as a consequence, there are a number of guaran-

tees provided within the pension funds which expose them to the risks of underfunding and may require the 

group to provide re-financing. such risks include mainly investment risks (as there is a guaranteed return on 

account balances), asset volatility and life expectancy.

the monthly contributions to the pension plans are paid by the employees as well as by the employer. the 

contributions are calculated as a percentage of the contributory salary and vary depending on the age of 

the employee. the pension plans provide a lifetime pension to members at the ordinary retirement age as de-

fined in the swiss pension law. the pension is calculated as a percentage of the individual plan participant’s 

pension account at retirement date. a portion of the benefit, up to the full amount under certain conditions, 

can be taken as lump sum payment at retirement. members can draw retirement benefits early from the age 

of 58, with a proportionate reduction of the pension.

chf million 2013 2012

net liability for defined benefit obligations

present value of obligations 87 88

fair value of plan assets –70 –67

present value of net obligations 17 21

recognised net liability for defined benefit obligations 17 21

chf million 2013 per cent 2012 per cent

allocation of plan assets

debt securities  56 80.0  53 79.1

equity securities  3 4.3  3 4.5

property  8 11.4  8 11.9

others  3 4.3  3 4.5

total  70 100.0  67 100.0
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the duration in years corresponds to the average weighted period.

 

chf million 2013 2012

actual return on plan assets for the year – –

expected payments to defined benefit plan in next year 4 4

chf million 2013 2012

expense recognised in the income statement

service costs 7 6

net interest on the net defined benefit liability – –

expense recognised in personnel expenses 7 6

plan participants 2013 2012

number of plan participants 551 559

present value of the defined benefit obligations

in chf million 87 88

duration in years 18.2 19.6

 

Weighted actuarial assumptions at the balance sheet date

per cent 2013 2012

discount rate 2.2 1.8

future salary increases 1.5 1.5

future pension increases – –

mortality table bvg 2010 generational bvg 2010 generational
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Share Purchase and Option Plan (SPOP)

in 2001 the company implemented an employee “share purchase and option plan” (spop). the plan  

allowed selected employees of the group to acquire shares of the company. the employees were able 

37 employee share-based compensation plans

Share Matching Plan (SMP)

during 2012 the company implemented a share-based compensation plan referred to as a “share matching 

plan“ (smp) that replaced the employee “share purchase and option plan” (spop) implemented in 2001. this 

new long-term incentive plan allows selected employees of the group to acquire shares of the company with 

a discount compared to the actual share price at a specified date; such shares are blocked for three years 

and give its holder immediate voting rights and rights to receive dividends.

for each purchased share as per above, the company will match additional shares upon completion of a 

three years vesting period and service condition during the same period. the level of the share match (share 

match ratio) is dependant on the achievement of performance over the next three financial years against 

defined targets. the maximum matching of one share for each share purchased by the employee (minimum 

investment is 75 shares) can be obtained by exceeding the defined target by more than 15 per cent. a 

guaranteed return per purchased share is granted through a minimum matching of 0.2 shares after the 

vesting period. should the number of allocated shares be a fraction of shares, then the number of shares is 

rounded up to the next whole number.

the terms and conditions of the shares allocated under the smp are as follows:

share matching plan 2013 2012

grant date aug 3, 2013 aug 7, 2012

performance period Jan 2013–dec 2015 Jan 2012–dec 2014

vesting, service and blocking period aug 3, 2013–June 30, 2016 aug 7, 2012–June 30, 2015

fair value of shares at grant date in chf per share 115.40 111.50

purchase price of shares in chf per share 94.60 100.00

number of shares granted at grant date 252,894 232,077

number of shares to be matched 252,894 220,204

expected share match ratio 0.6 0.5

fair value of shares to be matched  

at grant date in chf per share 103.20

 

98.60
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to buy shares at a reduced price compared to the actual share price at a specified date. the price of the 

shares offered was 90 to 96.5 per cent of the share price corresponding to the average closing price of 

one share at the six swiss exchange during the months april to June. there are no vesting conditions. the 

shares are restricted for a period of three years before being released to the employees.

for each share purchased under this plan, the company granted two options to the participants. each option 

entitles the participant to purchase one share of the company at a specified price. the exercise price is 100 

per cent of the share price corresponding to the average closing price of one share at the six swiss exchange 

during the months april to June. the options vest three years after the grant date and can be exercised 

during the three-year period starting on the vesting date. the options cannot be settled in cash. the options 

granted under this plan continue until they vest and until the exercise period for the options issued in 2012 

will expire on June 30, 2018. 

the fair value of the shares granted is measured at the market price of the company’s shares, adjusted 

to take into consideration the conditions upon which the shares will be granted, such as blocking 

periods. since the spop was discontinued as of July 1, 2012, no shares were granted in 2013 (2012: 

1,645 shares).

the terms and conditions of the options granted are as follows:

chf per share 2013 2012

fair value of shares granted at measurement date 

not  

applicable

 

101.90

grant date exercise period number
 issued

exercise
price chf

number
outstanding 

as of dec. 31, 
2013

number
outstanding 

as of dec. 31, 
2012

June 30, 2007 July 1, 2010–June 30, 2013 605,990 110.71 – 280,110

June 30, 2008 July 1, 2011–June 30, 2014 25,756 107.27 7,626 17,968

June 30, 2009 July 1, 2012–June 30, 2015 307,802 82.12 68,783 136,883

June 30, 2010 July 1, 2013–June 30, 2016 447,398 111.37 311,365 394,272

June 30, 2011 July 1, 2014–June 30, 2017 37,374 131.15 31,374 37,374

June 30, 2012 July 1, 2015–June 30, 2018 3,290 113.40 3,290 3,290

total 1,427,610 422,438 869,897
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the vesting condition is service during the three-year vesting period. the number and weighted average 

exercise prices of options are as follows:

the weighted average life of the options outstanding at december 31, 2013, is 2.4 years (2012: 2.4 years).  

the options outstanding at december 31, 2013, have an exercise price in the range of chf 82.12 to chf 131.15 

(2012: chf 82.12 to chf 131.15).

the expected volatility is based on the historic volatility (calculated based on the weighted average remaining 

life of the share options), adjusted for any expected changes to future volatility due to publicly available 

information. the share options are granted under a service condition. service conditions are not taken into 

account in the grant date fair value measurement of the services received.

chf 2013 2012

fair value of options granted at measurement date  n/a 22.28

share price n/a 101.90

exercise price n/a 113.4

expected volatility in per cent n/a 33.6

expected option life n/a 5 years

dividend yield in per cent n/a 2.2

risk-free interest rate in per cent n/a 0.04

chf million 2013 2012

total personnel expense for employee share-based compensation plans 5 10

2013 2012

options weighted 
average

exercise price
(chf)

number of
options

weighted 
average

exercise price
(chf)

number of
options

options outstanding as of January 1 107.31 869,897 102.18 1,283,575

options granted during the year n/a n/a 113.40 3,290

options cancelled during the year 114.99 –32,150 113.50 –22,163

options expired during the year 110.71 –268,720 – –

options exercised during the year 97.38 –146,589 90.32 –394,805

options outstanding as of december 31 108.01 422,438 107.31 869,897

options exercisable as of december 31 387,774 434,961
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38 banK liabilities and other interest-bearing liabilities

chf million dec. 31, 2013 dec. 31, 2012

less than 1 year 21 36

between 1–5 years – –

total 21 36

the current bank and other interest-bearing liabilities include finance lease liabilities due for payment 

within one year of chf 8 million (2012: chf 11 million). current bank and other interest-bearing liabilities 

also include bank overdrafts of chf 13 million (2012: chf 25 million), which are included in cash and cash 

equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement.

all loans and bank overdrafts are held in the respective group companies’ own functional currencies, which 

mainly is in eur 40.7 per cent (2012: 34.8 per cent), gbp 2.6 per cent (2012: 7.8 per cent) and usd 1.7 per 

cent (2012: 7.1 per cent) on terms of the prevailing market conditions. the majority of bank overdraft facili-

ties are repayable upon notice or within one year of the contractual term. the applicable interest rates are at 

prime interest rates of the respective country.  

the non-current portion of finance lease liabilities amounts to chf 24 million (2012: chf 32 million) and is 

presented separately on the face of the balance sheet. 

39  finance lease obligations 

2013 2012

chf million payments interest present value payments interest present value

less than 1 year 9 1 8 12 1 11

between 1–5 years 21 1 20 27 2 25

after 5 years 5 1 4 7 – 7

total 35 3 32 46 3 43

40 trade payables/accrued trade expenses/deferred income

chf million dec. 31, 2013 dec. 31, 2012

trade payables 1,362 1,337

accrued trade expenses 786 801

deferred income 150 130

total 2,298 2,268

the majority of all trade payables is in the respective group companies’ own functional currencies, which is 

in eur 46.9 per cent (2012: 48.6 per cent), usd 9.7 per cent (2012: 9.0 per cent) and gbp 10.2 per cent 

(2012: 9.7 per cent).
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41 provisions

the movements in provisions were as follows:

chf million claim
provisions

provision for
deductible of

transport
liability

insurance

others total
provision

balance as of January 1, 2012 75 30 56 161

provisions used –108 –11 –16 –135

provisions reversed –12 – –12 –24

provisions made 100 7 29 136

effect of movements in foreign exchange – – –1 –1

balance as of december 31, 2012 55 26 56 137

of which

— current portion 26 11 31 68

— non-current portion 29 15 25 69

total provisions 55 26 56 137

balance as of January 1, 2013 55 26 56 137

provisions used –14 –9 –21 –44

provisions reversed –6 – –9 –15

provisions made 23 8 33 64

effect of movements in foreign exchange –1 – – –1

balance as of december 31, 2013 57 25 59 141

of which

— current portion 28 9 41 78

— non-current portion 29 16 18 63

total provisions 57 25 59 141

 1 some group companies are involved in legal proceedings on various issues (disputes about logistics services, antitrust etc.). some legal proceedings have  

  been settled in the reporting period, and corresponding payments have been made.

  since october 2007 various competition authorities have investigated certain antitrust allegations against international freight forwarding companies,  

  inter alia against kuehne + nagel. a number of these investigations have been concluded meanwhile. the competent us court has meanwhile also  

  confirmed the out of court settlement in a us class action lawsuit which is related to a previously settled antitrust investigation of the department  

  of Justice. the group has appealed the decision of the eu commission according to which kuehne + nagel had to pay a fine of chf 65 million  

  (eur 53.7 million) at the european court of Justice in 2012. the case is still pending. (see also notes 23 and 45).

 2 an additional provision for deductibles in case of transport liability has been recognised for the current year’s exposure.

 3  other provisions mainly consist of provisions for dilapidation costs amounting to chf 23 million (2012: chf 28 million) and of provisions for onerous  

  contracts amounting to chf 12 million (2012: chf 14 million).

 3

 2

 1
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43 acQuisition of businesses/subsidiaries 

2013 acquisitions

there were no significant acquisitions of subsidiaries in 2013.

effective January 8, 2013, the group acquired 70 per cent of the shares of universal freight services llc, oman, 

mainly specialised in seafreight and airfreight forwarding activities. the purchase price of chf 0.6 million has 

been paid in cash.

2012 acquisitions

the acquisition of businesses and subsidiaries, each individually immaterial, had the following effect on the 

group’s assets and liabilities in 2012:

chf million claim
provisions

provision for
deductible of

transport
liability

insurance

others total
provision

balance as of January 1, 2012 75 30 56 161

provisions used –108 –11 –16 –135

provisions reversed –12 – –12 –24

provisions made 100 7 29 136

effect of movements in foreign exchange – – –1 –1

balance as of december 31, 2012 55 26 56 137

of which

— current portion 26 11 31 68

— non-current portion 29 15 25 69

total provisions 55 26 56 137

balance as of January 1, 2013 55 26 56 137

provisions used –14 –9 –21 –44

provisions reversed –6 – –9 –15

provisions made 23 8 33 64

effect of movements in foreign exchange –1 – – –1

balance as of december 31, 2013 57 25 59 141

of which

— current portion 28 9 41 78

— non-current portion 29 16 18 63

total provisions 57 25 59 141

 1 some group companies are involved in legal proceedings on various issues (disputes about logistics services, antitrust etc.). some legal proceedings have  

  been settled in the reporting period, and corresponding payments have been made.

  since october 2007 various competition authorities have investigated certain antitrust allegations against international freight forwarding companies,  

  inter alia against kuehne + nagel. a number of these investigations have been concluded meanwhile. the competent us court has meanwhile also  

  confirmed the out of court settlement in a us class action lawsuit which is related to a previously settled antitrust investigation of the department  

  of Justice. the group has appealed the decision of the eu commission according to which kuehne + nagel had to pay a fine of chf 65 million  

  (eur 53.7 million) at the european court of Justice in 2012. the case is still pending. (see also notes 23 and 45).

 2 an additional provision for deductibles in case of transport liability has been recognised for the current year’s exposure.

 3  other provisions mainly consist of provisions for dilapidation costs amounting to chf 23 million (2012: chf 28 million) and of provisions for onerous  

  contracts amounting to chf 12 million (2012: chf 14 million).

42 other liabilities

chf million dec. 31, 2013 dec. 31, 2012

personnel expenses (including social security) 456 443

other tax liabilities 72 71

other operating expenses 185 203

sundry 54 67

total 767 784

chf million  recognised
fair values

property, plant and equipment 3

other intangibles 9

other non-current assets 1

trade receivables 10

subtotal assets 23

trade payables –7

other current liabilities –3

non-current liabilities –2

total identifiable net assets 11

goodwill 4

total consideration 15

contingent and deferred consideration –6

purchase price, paid in cash 9

acquired cash and cash equivalents –

net cash outflow 9
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effective february 2, 2012, the group acquired link logistics international pty. ltd, an australian freight 

forwarder specialised in perishables logistics. the purchase price of chf 5.4 million includes a contingent 

consideration of chf 1.8 million depending on the financial performance of the acquired business until  

december 2013. chf 3.6 million has been paid in cash.

effective July 3, 2012, the group acquired the perishable logistics business (mainly a customer list) of  

perishables international transportation inc., a canadian independent freight forwarder, specialising in 

handling and transportation of fresh and frozen perishable goods. the purchase price of chf 2.2 million 

includes a contingent consideration of chf 0.7 million depending on the financial performance of the 

acquired business until June 2014. chf 1.5 million has been paid in cash.

effective october 1, 2012, the group acquired the companies flowerport logistics b.v. and agriair  

logistics b.v., netherlands, both specialised in handling airfreight of perishables. the purchase price of  

chf 7.0 million includes a deferred consideration of chf 3.3 million to be paid in three instalments until 

october 2015. chf 3.7 million is paid in cash.

the acquisitions (including the part of 2011 acquisitions that completes a twelve months period since the 

date of acquisition) contributed chf 287 million of turnover and chf 9 million of loss to the consolidated 

turnover and earnings respectively for the year 2012. if the acquisitions had occurred on January 1, 2012, 

the group’s turnover would have been chf 20,790 million and consolidated earnings for the period would 

have been chf 480 million.

the trade receivables comprise gross contractual amounts due of chf 10 million, and all amounts are  

expected to be collectible.

goodwill of chf 4 million arose on these acquisitions because certain intangible assets did not meet the 

ifrs 3 criteria for the recognition as intangible assets at the date of acquisition. these assets mainly consist 

of management expertise and workforce. other intangibles of chf 9 million recognised on these acquisitions 

represent non-contractual customer lists having a useful life of one year. 

the accounting for the acquisitions made in 2012 was initially determined provisionally only. no material 

adjustments to the values previously reported were deemed necessary after having finalised the acquisition 

accounting.
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44 personnel

some group companies are defendants in various legal proceedings. based on respective legal advice, the 

management is of the opinion that the outcome of those proceedings will have no effect on the financial 

situation of the group beyond the existing provision for pending claims (refer to note 41) of chf 57 million 

(2012: chf 55 million).

employees within the group are defined as persons with valid employment contracts as of december 31, 

on payroll of the group.

full-time equivalent as disclosed in the table above, is defined as all persons working for the kuehne + nagel 

group including part-time (monthly, weekly, daily or hourly) working persons with or without permanent 

contract of which all expenses are recorded in the personnel expenses. pro rata temporis employment, has 

been recalculated into the number of full-year employees.

45 contingent liabilities

as of year-end the following contingent liabilities existed:

number dec. 31, 2013 dec. 31, 2012

europe 43,887 44,360

americas 9,214 9,073

asia-pacific 6,809 6,989

middle east, central asia and africa 2,834 2,826

total employees (unaudited) 62,744 63,248

full-time equivalent 72,036 72,399

chf million dec. 31, 2013 dec. 31, 2012

guarantees in favour of customers and others 21 8

contingency under unrecorded claims 3 1

total 24 9
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antitrust cases in various jurisdictions, amongst them proceedings in brazil, new zealand, france and  

austria, are still ongoing. it is currently not possible to reliably estimate a potential financial impact of these 

cases. consequently, no provision or quantification of the contingent liability for these cases was made in 

the consolidated financial statements 2013.

46 other financial commitments

the group operates a number of warehouse facilities under operating lease contracts. the lease contracts 

run for a fixed period and none of the lease contracts includes contingent rentals.

as of year-end the following financial commitments existed in respect of non-cancellable long-term operating 

leases and rental contracts:

the expense for operating leases recognised in the income statement amounts to chf 579 million  

(2012: chf 585 million).

47 capital commitments

as of year-end the following capital commitments existed in respect of non-cancellable purchase contracts.

As of December 31, 2012

chf million properties
and buildings

operating
and office
equipment

total

2013 334 80 414

2014–2017 618 119 737

later 241 3 244

total 1,193 202 1,395

As of December 31, 2013

chf million properties
and buildings

operating
and office
equipment

total

2014 351 84 435

2015–2018 665 116 781

later 249 1 250

total 1,265 201 1,466

chf million dec. 31, 2013 dec. 31, 2012

australia 19 –

great britain – 1

italy 1 –

new zealand – 2

total 20 3
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48 risK management, obJectives and policies 

group risk management

risk management is a fundamental element of the group’s business practice on all levels and is embedded 

into the business planning and controlling processes of the group. material risks are monitored and regularly 

discussed with the risk and compliance committee and the audit committee of the board of directors.

the risk and compliance committee led by the ceo comprising the members of the management board and 

heads of central internal audit, legal and compliance departments, monitor the risk profile of the group, 

and the development of essential internal controls to mitigate these risks.

in accordance with article 663b of the swiss code of obligations, the group carries out an annual risk assess-

ment. in conformity with the swiss code of best practice for corporate governance, the group’s risk manage-

ment system covers both financial and operational risks. 

a risk is defined as the possibility of an adverse event which has a negative impact on the achievement of 

the group’s objectives.  

risk management as an integral part of the internal control system

risk management is incorporated within the internal control system (ics). preventive, risk-mitigating 

measures to control risks are proactively taken at different levels and are an integral part of management 

responsibility.   

risk assessment in 2013  

an independent risk assessment procedure was adopted for operational risks. regional management was 

interviewed with reference to a risk assessment overview. strategic risks and the countermeasures were 

discussed with management board members. within the framework of the corporate governance process, 

the updated risk assessment was then presented to the audit committee of the board of directors. finan-

cial risks analysis and assessment was carried out by the finance and accounting department.

the following risk areas have been identified amongst others and mitigating actions are implemented as 

follows:

— financial risks such as development of interest rates, credit and financial markets and currency risks, which  

 are all constantly monitored and controlled by the finance and accounting department. 

— the continuing challenges of the global economic development as well as the uncertainties in the finan- 

 cial markets are of essential importance from the risk-policy point of view. these are managed by appropri- 

 ate risk diversification and avoidance of regional and industry clustering.  

— risks related to the it network availability, it data and security are managed by the permanent monitor- 

 ing of systems, redundant infrastructure as well as interlinked data centers with back-up structures and  

 business continuity plans.  

— organised crime and terrorism, and also an increase of regulations, growing complexity and customer  

 expectations have led to rising security requirements and risks; such risks and requirements are considered  

 in the planning of supply chain solutions and worldwide operation. 

— legal and compliance risks such as fraud, intentional and unintentional violations of the law or compli- 

 ance to export regulations are counteracted by comprehensive staff training and the worldwide network of  

 compliance officers at regional and national levels.  
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— reputation and image risks with respect to communication with capital markets as well as in connection  

 with compliance-related issues, are taken into consideration by a centralised approach towards corporate  

 communications. 

  

organisation of risk management

a continuous dialogue between the management board, risk management and the audit committee is 

maintained in order to assure the group’s effectiveness in this area. the risk management system is governed 

by the risk assessment guideline defining the structure and the process of risk assessments. the risk cata-

logue is reviewed regularly and critical analysis ensures a continuous development of the risk management 

system.  

summarised assessment of the risk situation

in the 2013 business year no significant risks were identified that would have the potential to substantially 

negatively impact the group and its future development.

the most material risk remains the uncertainty of the global economic development and the financial 

markets, thus being in the constant focus of management.

financial risk management

the group is exposed to various financial risks arising from its underlying operations and finance activities. 

the group is primarily exposed to market risk (i.e. interest rate and currency risk) and to credit and liquidity 

risk.

financial risk management within the group is governed by policies and guidelines approved by the senior 

management. these policies and guidelines cover interest rate risk, currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. 

group policies and guidelines also cover areas such as cash management, investment of excess funds and 

the raising of short and long-term debt. compliance with the policies and guidelines is managed by 

segregated functions within the group. the objective of financial risk management is to contain, where 

deemed appropriate, exposures to the various types of financial risks mentioned above in order to limit any 

negative impact on the group’s results and financial position.

in accordance with its financial risk policies, the group manages its market risk exposures by using finan- 

cial instruments when deemed appropriate. it is the group’s policy and practice neither to enter into 

derivative transactions for trading or speculative purposes, nor for any purpose unrelated to the under-

lying business.

market risk

market risk is the risk that market prices change due to interest rates and foreign exchange rates risk affecting 

the group’s income or the value of its financial instruments.
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interest rate risk

interest rate risk arises from movements in interest rates which could have effects on the group’s net income 

or financial position. changes in interest rates may cause variations in interest income and expenses resulting 

from interest-bearing assets and liabilities. interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or the future cash 

flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. loans and invest-

ments at variable interest rates expose the group to cash flow interest rate risk. loans and investment at fixed 

interest rates expose the group to fair value interest rate risk in case they are measured at fair value.

Exposure

the group’s exposure to interest rate risk relates primarily to the group’s bank loans and finance lease  

liabilities and to the group’s investments of its excess funds. the group’s exposure to changes in interest 

rates is limited due to the short-term nature of investments of excess funds and borrowings. the group does 

not use derivative financial instruments to hedge its interest rate risk in respect of investments of excess 

funds or loans.

Profile

at the reporting date, the interest profile of the group’s interest-bearing financial assets and liabilities was 

as follows:

Fair value sensitivity analysis – fixed rate instruments

as of december 31, 2013 and 2012, the group does not hold significant investments in fixed rate instruments. 

a change of 100 basis points in interest rates would not have increased or decreased profit or loss significantly. 

Cash flow sensitivity analysis – variable rate instruments

a change of 100 basis points in interest rates on december 31, 2013, would have increased or decreased 

profit or loss by chf 12 million (2012: chf 10 million) due to changed interest payments on variable rate 

interest-bearing liabilities and assets. the analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign 

exchange rates, remain constant.

Carrying amount

chf million 2013 2012

variable rate instruments

cash and cash equivalents 1,253 1,081

current bank and other interest-bearing liabilities –21 –36

non-current finance lease obligations –24 –32

total 1,208 1,013
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currency risk

currency risk is the risk that the fair value or the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 

because of changes in foreign exchange rates.

Exposure

the group operates on a worldwide basis and, as a result, is exposed to movements in foreign currency 

exchange rates of mainly eur, usd and gbp on sales, purchases, investments in debt securities and borrow-

ings that are denominated in a currency other than the respective functional currencies of the group entities. 

monthly intercompany payments are conducted through a group clearing system in eur and usd which 

facilitates monitoring and control of the group-wide foreign exchange rate exposures.

derivative financial instruments (foreign exchange contracts) are, to a limited extent, in use to hedge the 

foreign exchange exposure on outstanding balances in the group’s internal clearing system centralised at the 

head office. given that the group’s hedging activities are limited to hedges of recognised foreign currency 

monetary items, hedge accounting under ias 39 is not applied. as of the 2013 and 2012 year-end there were 

no material derivative instruments outstanding. investments in foreign subsidiaries are not hedged as those 

currency positions are considered to be long-term in nature.

the group’s exposure to foreign currency risk was as follows as of year-end:

the majority of all trade related billings and payments as well as all payments of interest-bearing liabilities 

are made in the respective functional currencies of the group entities.

2013 2012

chf million eur usd gbp eur usd gbp

cash and cash equivalents 117 90 1 121 75 1

trade receivables 34 228 1 33 288 2

interest-bearing liabilities – –2 – – – –

trade payables –32 –78 –1 –27 –83 –1

gross balance  

sheet exposure 119 238 1 127 280 2
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Sensitivity analysis

a 10 per cent strengthening of the chf against the following currencies on december 31, would have reduced 

profit by the amounts shown below. a 10 per cent weakening of the chf against the following currencies on 

december 31, would have had the equal but opposite effect on the amounts shown below. this analysis 

assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.

the impact on the profit or loss is mainly a result of foreign exchange gains or losses arising from translation 

of trade receivables, trade payables and cash and cash equivalents in foreign currencies. significant fluctua-

tions of foreign currency exchange rates would not result in an impact on other comprehensive income as the 

group does not have any securities classified as available for sale or applies cash flow hedge accounting.

Foreign currency exchange rates applied

the major foreign currency exchange rates applied during the year are as explained in note 5 (principles of 

consolidation).

credit risk

credit risk arises from the possibility that the counterparty to a transaction may be unable or unwilling to 

meet its obligations, causing a financial loss to the group. credit risk arises primarily from the group’s trade 

receivables.

2013

chf million 1 chf/eur 1 chf/usd 1 gbp/eur 1 gbp/usd 1 usd/eur

reasonably possible change +/–  

in per cent 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0

negative effect on p/l –11.9 –23.8 –8.1 –16.2 –13.4

positive effect on p/l 11.9 23.8 8.1 16.2 13.4

2012

chf million 1 chf/eur 1 chf/usd 1 gbp/eur 1 gbp/usd 1 usd/eur

reasonably possible change +/–  

in per cent 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0

negative effect on p/l –12.7 –28.0 –8.6 –19.0 –13.9

positive effect on p/l 12.7 28.0 8.6 19.0 13.9
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Exposure

at the balance sheet date, the maximum exposure to credit risk from financial assets without taking into 

account any collateral held or other credit enhancements was:

Trade receivables

trade receivables are subject to a policy of active risk management which focusses on the assessment of 

country risk, credit availability, ongoing credit evaluation, and account monitoring procedures. there are 

no significant concentrations of credit risk due to the group’s large number of customers and their wide 

geographical spread. for a large part of credit exposures in critical countries, the group has obtained 

credit insurance from first-class insurance companies (for further details refer to note 31).

the maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables at the reporting date by geographical area 

was:

it is considered that the credit insurance is sufficient to cover potential credit risk concentrations (for ad-

ditional information refer to note 31). 

Investments of excess funds

the group considers its credit risk to be minimal in respect of investments made of excess funds invested in 

short-term deposits (with a maturity of less than three months) and in debt securities with first-class financial 

institutions and countries with the close coordination and management of centralised corporate treasury 

function. the group does not invest in equity securities.

chf million 2013 2012

europe 1,474 1,467

americas 548 527

asia-pacific 224 232

middle east, central asia & africa 180 202

total  2,426  2,428 

chf million 2013 2012

trade receivables  2,426  2,428 

other receivables  60  83 

cash and cash equivalents  1,253  1,081 

total  3,739  3,592 
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liquidity risk

liquidity risk is the risk that the group will encounter difficulties to meet obligations associated with its 

financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. group companies require 

sufficient availability of cash to meet their obligations. individual companies are generally responsible for 

their own cash management, including the short-term investment of cash surplus and the raising of loans 

to cover cash deficits subject to guidance by the group and, in certain cases, to approval at group level. 

the group maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements at all times. 

the following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities (undiscounted), including interest pay-

ments and excluding the impact of netting agreements:

it is not expected that the cash flow included in the above maturity analysis could occur at significantly dif-

ferent points in time or at significantly different amounts.

2013

chf million carrying
amounts

contractual
cash flow

up to
6 months

6–12 
months

over
1 year

bank and other interest-bearing 

liabilities  21  23  18  5  –   

trade payables  1,362  1,362  1,362  –    –   

accrued trade expenses  786  786  786  –    –   

other liabilities  231  231  231  –    –   

finance lease obligations  

(non-current)  24  26  –    –    26 

total  2,424  2,428  2,397  5  26 

2012

chf million carrying
amounts

contractual
cash flow

up to
6 months

6–12 
months

over
1 year

bank and other interest-bearing 

liabilities  36 

 

39  33  6 –

trade payables  1,337  1,337  1,337  –   –

accrued trade expenses  801  801  801  –   –

other liabilities  262  262  236  26 –

finance lease obligations (non-current)  32  34  –    – 34

total  2,468  2,473  2,407  32 34
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49 fair value of financial assets and liabilities

the fair values of financial assets and liabilities carried at amortised cost are approximately equal to the 

carrying amounts.

cash and cash equivalents with a carrying amount of chf 1,255 million (2012: chf 1,083 million) as well 

as financial assets with a carrying amount of chf 2,486 million (2012: chf 2,511 million) classified as 

loans and receivables carried at amortised cost, are all classified as current assets.

the group has financial liabilities with a carrying amount of chf 2,424 million (2012: chf 2,468 million) 

carried at amortised cost. the majority of these financial liabilities are current liabilities. at year-end 2013 

and 2012 there were no non-current fixed rate interest-bearing loans and other liabilities.

as of december 31, 2013 and 2012, the group holds no debt instruments designated as financial assets at 

fair value through profit or loss and no significant derivative instruments. 

the group’s financial instruments measured at fair value have been categorised into below mentioned levels, 

reflecting the significance of inputs used in estimating fair values: 

— level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical instruments.

— level 2: input other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the instrument, 

 either directly or indirectly.  

— level 3: valuation techniques using significant unobservable inputs.  

the fair value of the derivative instruments (forward foreign exchange contracts) is determined based on cur-

rent and available market data. pricing models commonly used in the market are used, taking into account 

relevant parameters such as forward rates, spot rates, discount rates, yield curves and volatility.

50 related parties and transactions

the group has a related party relationship with its subsidiaries, joint ventures and with its board of directors 

and management board.

subsidiaries and Joint ventures

the group’s operations involve operating activities between the parent company and its subsidiaries and 

between the subsidiaries themselves due to the nature of business. overheads are to a certain extent also 

charged to the subsidiaries based on their use of services provided. all these transactions are eliminated upon 

consolidation. there were no significant transactions between the group and its joint ventures and other 

related parties.

transactions with related parties are conducted at arm’s length.
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Management Board Board of Directors

chf million  2013 2012  2013  2012

wages, salaries and other short-term employee benefits 11.7 10.1 4.9 4.3

post-employment benefits 0.5 0.4 0.2 0.2

share-based compensation 2.3 0.8 0.8 0.2

total compensation 14.5 11.3 5.9 4.7

board of directors and management board

the total compensation and remuneration paid to and accrued for the members of the board of directors 

and the management board of kuehne + nagel international ag, schindellegi, switzerland, amounted to:

— board of directors: chf  5.9 million (2012: chf   4.7 million)

— management board: chf 14.5 million (2012: chf 11.3 million)

as of december 31, 2013, no loans or any other commitments were outstanding towards members neither of 

the board of directors nor of the management board. members of the board of directors and the manage-

ment board control 53.6 per cent (2012: 53.7 per cent) of the voting shares of the company.

the following compensation and remuneration has been paid to and accrued for the board of directors and 

the management board:

refer to pages 152 to 157; note 12 of the financial statements of kuehne + nagel international ag for  

disclosure requirements according to the swiss law (article 663b/c co). for other related parties refer to 

note 35 outlining the shareholder’s structure, and pages 138 to 145 listing the group’s significant sub-

sidiaries and joint ventures.

51 accounting estimates and Judgments

the management has carefully considered the development, selection and disclosure of the group’s critical 

accounting policies and estimates as well as the application of these policies and estimates.

acquisition accounting

intangible assets acquired in a business combination are required to be recognised separately from goodwill 

and amortised over their useful life if they are subject to contractual or legal rights or are separately transfer- 

able. the group has separately recognised customer lists and customer contracts based on contractual agree-

ments in acquisitions made (see note 28).
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the fair value of these acquired intangible assets is based on valuation techniques, which require input based 

on assumptions about the future. the management uses its best knowledge to estimate fair value of acquired 

intangible assets as of the acquisition date. the value of intangible assets is tested for impairment when there 

is an indication that they might be impaired (see below). the management must also make assumptions about 

the useful life of the acquired intangible assets which might be affected by external factors such as increased 

competition.

carrying amount of goodwill, other intangibles and property, plant and equipment

the group tests its goodwill with a total carrying amount of chf 688 million (2012: chf 694 million) for 

impairment every year as disclosed in note 12. no impairment loss on goodwill was recognised in 2013 

and 2012. the group also assesses annually whether there is any indication that other intangible assets or 

property, plant and equipment may be impaired. in such a case, the assets are tested for impairment. an 

impairment loss on other intangible assets of chf 1 million was recognised in 2013 (2012: chf 2 million). 

the carrying amount of other intangibles is chf 89 million (2012: chf 141 million), and of property, plant 

and equipment chf 1,151million (2012: chf 1,134 million).

impairment tests are based on value-in-use calculations, which involve a variety of assumptions such as 

estimates of future cash inflows and outflows and choice of a discount rate. actual cash flows might, for 

example, differ significantly from management’s current best estimate. changes in market environment, 

evolution of technologies, etc. might have an impact on future cash flows and result in recognition of impair-

ment losses. 

defined benefit pension plans

the group has recognised a liability for defined benefit pension plans in the amount of chf 304 million 

(2012: chf 320 million). a number of assumptions are made in order to calculate the liability, including 

discount rate and future salary increases. a relatively minor change in any of these assumptions can have  

a significant impact on the carrying amount of the defined benefit obligation.   

share-based compensation plans

Judgment and estimates are required when determining the expected share match ratio. the variance between 

estimated and actual share match ratio might have an impact on the amount recognised as personnel expense 

(see note 37 for more information).
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accrued trade expenses and deferred income

freight forwarding transactions which are completed and for which the costs are not fully received, are 

accrued for expected costs based on best estimate. for transactions which are not complete on account of 

pending service at cut-off date or transactions for which revenue is earned and relevant costs can not be 

estimated, the related revenue is deferred. the group management’s judgment is involved in the estimate of 

costs and deferral of revenue and their completeness.

income tax

Judgement and estimates are required when determining deferred as well as current tax assets and liabili-

ties. the management believes that its estimates, based on, for example, interpretation of tax laws, are 

reasonable. changes in tax laws and rates, interpretations of tax laws, earnings before tax, taxable profit 

etc. might have an impact on the amounts recognised as tax assets and liabilities.

the group has recognised a net deferred tax asset of chf 36 million (2012: net deferred tax asset of  

chf 44 million). furthermore, the group has unrecognised deferred tax assets relating to unused tax losses 

of chf 48 million (2012: chf 44 million). based on estimates of the probability of realising these tax 

benefits, available taxable temporary differences, periods of reversals of such differences etc., the manage-

ment does not believe that the criteria to recognise deferred tax assets are met (see note 25).

provisions and contingent liabilities

the group has recognised provisions for an amount of chf 141 million (2012: chf 137 million) related to 

legal claims and other exposures in the freight forwarding and logistics operations (see note 41). the provi-

sions represent the best estimate of the risks, but the final amount required is subject to uncertainty.

52 post balance sheet events

there have been no material events between december 31, 2013, and the date of authorisation of the  

consolidated financial statements that would require adjustments of the consolidated financial statements 

or disclosure. 

53 resolution of the board of directors

the consolidated financial statements of the group were authorised for issue by the board of directors on  

february 28, 2014. a resolution to approve the consolidated financial statements will be proposed at the  

annual general meeting on may 6, 2014.
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report of the statutory auditor on the consolidated 
financial statements to the general meeting of shareholders of 
Kuehne + nagel international ag, schindellegi, switZerland

as statutory auditor, we have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of kuehne + 

nagel international ag, which comprise the income statement, statement of comprehensive income, balance 

sheet, statement of changes in equity, cash flow statement and notes to the consolidated financial state-

ments on the pages 64 to 135 for the year ended december 31, 2013.

Board of directors’ Responsibility

the board of directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 

statements in accordance with international financial reporting standards (ifrs) and the requirements of 

swiss law. this responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining an internal control system 

relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from ma-

terial misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. the board of directors is further responsible for selecting 

and applying appropriate accounting policies and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the 

circumstances.

Auditor’s Responsibility

our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. 

we conducted our audit in accordance with swiss law and swiss auditing standards as well as international 

standards on auditing. those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 

assurance whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

an audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 

consolidated financial statements. the procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 

assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error. in making those risk assessments, the auditor considers the internal control system relevant 

to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design 

audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 

on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control system. an audit also includes evaluating the appro-

priateness of the accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made, as well 
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as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. we believe that the audit 

evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

in our opinion, the consolidated financial statements for the year ended december 31, 2013, give a true and 

fair view of the financial position, the results of operations and the cash flows in accordance with interna-

tional financial reporting standards (ifrs) and comply with swiss law.

Other matters

the consolidated financial statements of kuehne + nagel international ag for the year ended december 31, 

2012, were audited by another auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on  

march 1, 2013.

report on other legal requirements

we confirm that we meet the legal requirements on licensing according to the auditor oversight act (aoa) 

and independence (article 728 co and article 11 aoa) and that there are no circumstances incompatible with 

our independence.

in accordance with article 728a paragraph 1 item 3 co and swiss auditing standard 890, we confirm that 

an internal control system exists, which has been designed for the preparation of consolidated financial state-

ments according to the instructions of the board of directors.

we recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be approved.

ernst & young ltd

alessandro miolo   christian Krämer

licensed audit expert  licensed audit expert

(auditor in charge)

zurich, february 28, 2014



138 significant subsidiaries and 
Joint ventures*

Western Europe
country name of the company location currency share 

capital
(in 1,000)

Kn voting 
share 

(in per cent)

belgium kuehne + nagel nv antwerp eur 6,338 100 

kuehne + nagel logistics nv geel eur 5,206 100

nacora insurance brokers nv brussels eur 155 100

logistics kontich bvba antwerp eur 50 100

logistics nivelles sa nivelles eur 1,521 100

denmark kuehne + nagel a/s copenhagen dkk 5,200 100

kuehne + nagel holding denmark a/s copenhagen dkk 750 100

finland oy kuehne + nagel ltd helsinki eur 200 100

france kuehne + nagel sas ferrières eur 17,380 100

kuehne + nagel france immobilier sci ferrières eur 4 100

kuehne + nagel parts sas trappes eur 87 100

kuehne + nagel dsia sas nantes eur 360 100

kuehne + nagel management sas ferrières eur 570 100

nacora courtage d’assurances sas paris eur 40 100

kuehne + nagel aerospace & 

industry sas ferrières eur 37 100 

logistique distribution gasocogne sas ferrières eur 37 100

kuehne + nagel road sas villefranche eur 4,000 100  

i.m. alloin sarl villefranche eur 8 100

almeca snc villefranche eur 32 100  

kuehne + nagel participations sarl ferrières eur 203,630 100 

k logistics sarl le meux eur 91 100

kuehne + nagel logistique sasu bresles eur 37 100

kuehne + nagel solutions saint vulbas eur 10 100

country name of the company location currency share 
capital

(in 1,000)

Kn voting 
share

(in per cent)

switzerland kuehne + nagel international ag schindellegi chf 120,000 100 

kuehne + nagel management ag schindellegi chf 1,000 100 

kuehne + nagel liegenschaften ag schindellegi chf 500 100 

nacora holding ag schindellegi chf 500 100 

nacora agencies ag schindellegi chf 400 100

kuehne + nagel real estate holding ag schindellegi chf 100 100

Holding and Management Companies

Operating Companies
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country name of the company location currency share 
capital

(in 1,000)

Kn voting 
share

(in per cent)

germany kuehne + nagel (ag & co.) kg bremen eur 15,000 100 

kn airlift gmbh frankfurt eur 256 100 

stute logistics (ag & co.) kg bremen eur 1,023 100 

cs parts logistics gmbh bremen eur 426 50

kuehne + nagel euroshipping gmbh regensburg eur 256 51

pact gmbh hamburg eur 50 100

sps zweite vermögensverwaltungs gmbh hamburg eur 25 90

cargopack verpackungsgesellschaft für 

industriegüter mbh bremen eur 307 100

aircraft production logistics gmbh hamburg eur 25 100

kuehne + nagel beteiligungs-ag bremen eur 10,277 100

nacora versicherungsmakler gmbh hamburg eur 79 100

gustav. f. huebener gmbh hamburg eur 31 100

kuehne + nagel logistics 

langenau gmbh langenau eur 25 100

carl drude gmbh & co. kg hauneck eur 250 100

gebr. mönkemöller 

speditionsgesellschaft mbh bielefeld eur 300 100

united kuehne + nagel (uk) limited uxbridge eur 8,000 100 

Kingdom kuehne + nagel limited uxbridge gbp 8,867 100 

nacora insurance brokers limited uxbridge gbp 150 100

kuehne + nagel drinks  

logistics limited

milton 

keynes gbp – 100

*kuehne + nagel drinkflow  

  logistics limited

milton 

keynes gbp 877 50

*kuehne + nagel drinkflow logistics 

  holdings limited

milton 

keynes gbp 6,123 50

ireland kuehne & nagel (ireland) limited dublin eur 500  100

italy kuehne + nagel srl milan eur 4,589 100 

nacora srl milan eur 104 70

luxembourg kuehne + nagel s.a.r.l. contern eur 5,750 100 

kuehne und nagel ag contern eur 31 100 

kuehne + nagel investments s.a.r.l. contern eur 200 100

nacora (luxembourg) s.a.r.l. contern eur 50 100

malta kuehne + nagel limited hamrun eur 14 100 

morocco kuehne + nagel sas casablanca mad 300 100

the kuehne + nagel n.v. rotterdam eur 3,325 100 

netherlands kuehne + nagel investments b.v. rotterdam eur 50 100

nacora assurantiekantoor b.v. rotterdam eur 45 100

kuehne + nagel logistics b.v. veghel eur 63 100

kuehne + nagel transport b.v. schiphol eur 18 100

country name of the company location currency share 
capital

(in 1,000)

Kn voting 
share

(in per cent)

switzerland kuehne + nagel international ag schindellegi chf 120,000 100 

kuehne + nagel management ag schindellegi chf 1,000 100 

kuehne + nagel liegenschaften ag schindellegi chf 500 100 

nacora holding ag schindellegi chf 500 100 

nacora agencies ag schindellegi chf 400 100

kuehne + nagel real estate holding ag schindellegi chf 100 100
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Eastern Europe
country name of the company location currency share 

capital
(in 1,000)

Kn voting 
share

(in per cent)

albania transalbania sh.p.k tirana all 41,725 51 

austria kuehne + nagel eastern europe ag vienna eur 1,090 100 

kuehne + nagel gmbh vienna eur 1,820 100 

nacora insurance brokers gmbh vienna eur 35 100

belarus kuehne + nagel fpe minsk byr 286,000 100

bosnia and 

herzegovina kuehne + nagel doo sarajevo bam 95 100

bulgaria kuehne + nagel eood sofia bgn 365 100 

croatia kuehne + nagel d.o.o. zagreb hrk 4,300 100 

cyprus nakufreight limited nicosia eur 17 100 

czech 

republic kuehne + nagel spol. s r.o. prague czk 21,000 100

estonia kuehne + nagel as tallinn eur 26 100

greece kuehne + nagel ae athens eur 6,648 100

arion sa athens eur 411 100 

nacora brokins international ae athens eur 60 60

*sindos railcontainer services ae thessaloniki eur 3,038 50

Western Europe
country name of the company location currency share 

capital
(in 1,000)

Kn voting 
share

(in per cent)

norway kuehne + nagel as oslo nok 3,100 100 

portugal kuehne + nagel lda porto eur 165 100 

spain kuehne & nagel s.a.u. madrid eur 60 100 

kuehne nagel investments s.l.u. madrid eur 3 100

nacora correduria de seguros s.a madrid eur 150 100

sweden kuehne & nagel ab stockholm sek 500 100 

kuehne & nagel investment ab stockholm eur 112 100

nacora international insurance brokers ab stockholm sek 100 100

switzerland kuehne + nagel ag opfikon chf 3,000 100 

 nacora insurance brokers ag opfikon chf 100 100
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Eastern Europe
country name of the company location currency share 

capital
(in 1,000)

Kn voting 
share

(in per cent)

albania transalbania sh.p.k tirana all 41,725 51 

austria kuehne + nagel eastern europe ag vienna eur 1,090 100 

kuehne + nagel gmbh vienna eur 1,820 100 

nacora insurance brokers gmbh vienna eur 35 100

belarus kuehne + nagel fpe minsk byr 286,000 100

bosnia and 

herzegovina kuehne + nagel doo sarajevo bam 95 100

bulgaria kuehne + nagel eood sofia bgn 365 100 

croatia kuehne + nagel d.o.o. zagreb hrk 4,300 100 

cyprus nakufreight limited nicosia eur 17 100 

czech 

republic kuehne + nagel spol. s r.o. prague czk 21,000 100

estonia kuehne + nagel as tallinn eur 26 100

greece kuehne + nagel ae athens eur 6,648 100

arion sa athens eur 411 100 

nacora brokins international ae athens eur 60 60

*sindos railcontainer services ae thessaloniki eur 3,038 50

country name of the company location currency share 
capital

(in 1,000)

Kn voting 
share

(in per cent)

hungary kuehne + nagel kft budapest huf 134,600 100 

latvia kuehne + nagel sia riga lvl 100 100 

lithuania kuehne & nagel uab vilnius ltl 800 100

macedonia kuehne + nagel d.o.o.e.l. skopje mkd 8,232 100

poland kuehne + nagel poland sp.z o.o. poznan pln 104,416 100 

romania kuehne + nagel srl bucharest ron 2,543 100

russia ooo kuehne + nagel moscow rur 1,228,036 100

ooo kuehne & nagel sakhalin sakhalin rur 500 100

ooo nakutrans moscow rur 278 100

serbia kuehne + nagel d.o.o. belgrade rsd 3,039 100

slovakia kuehne + nagel s r.o. bratislava eur 470 100 

slovenia kuehne + nagel d.o.o. ljubljana eur 10 100

ukraine kuehne + nagel ltd. kiev uah 30,903 100

North America
country name of the company location currency share 

capital
(in 1,000)

Kn voting 
share

(in per cent)

bermuda kuehne + nagel ltd. hamilton eur 12 100

canada kuehne + nagel ltd. toronto cad 2,910 100 

nacora insurance brokers ltd. toronto cad – 100

kuehne + nagel real estate ltd. toronto cad – 100

kuehne + nagel services ltd. vancouver usd – 100

mexico kuehne + nagel s.a. de c.v. méxico’ d.f. mxn 24,447 100 

kuehne + nagel servicios 

administrativos s.a. de c.v. méxico’ d.f. mxn 50 100

agente de seguros s.a. de c.v. méxico’ d.f. mxn 50 100

usa kuehne + nagel investment inc. Jersey city usd 1,400 100 

kuehne + nagel inc. Jersey city usd 1,861 100 

nacora insurance brokers inc. Jersey city usd 25 100

kuehne + nagel special logistics inc. dulles usd 30 100

kuehne + nagel real estate usa inc. Jersey city usd – 100
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South America
country name of the company location currency share 

capital
(in 1,000)

Kn voting 
share

(in per cent)

argentina kuehne + nagel s.a.

buenos 

aires ars 3,208 100 

nacora s.a. 

buenos 

aires ars 20 100

barbados

kuehne + nagel logistics 

services limited bridgetown bbd 195 100

bolivia kuehne + nagel ltda. santa cruz bob 260 100

brazil kuehne + nagel serviços logisticos ltda. sao paulo brl 143,629 100 

nacora corretagens de seguros ltda. sao paulo brl 1,094 100

transeich armazens gerais s.a. porto alegre brl 2,479 100

transeich assessoria e transportes s.a. porto alegre brl 17,918 100

chile kuehne + nagel ltda. santiago clp 575,000 100 

colombia kuehne + nagel s.a.s. bogotá cop 5,184,600 100 

agencia de aduanas 

kn colombia s.a.s. nivel 2 bogotá cop 595,000 100

nacora ltda. agencia de seguros bogotá cop 20,000 100

costa rica kuehne + nagel s.a. san Jose crc – 100

cuba kuehne nagel logistic services s.a. havana cuc – 100

ecuador kuehne + nagel s. a. Quito usd 7 100

el salvador

kuehne + nagel 

s.a. de c.v.

san 

salvador usd 69 100

guatemala kuehne + nagel s.a. guatemala gtQ 4,245 100 

honduras kuehne + nagel s.a.

san pedro 

sula hnl 25 100

nicaragua kuehne + nagel s.a. managua nio 10 100
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country name of the company location currency share 
capital

(in 1,000)

Kn voting 
share

(in per cent)

panama kuehne + nagel s.a. colon usd 1 100

kuehne + nagel management s.a. colon usd 10 100

peru kuehne + nagel s.a. lima pen 12,896 100

trinidad & 

tobago kuehne + nagel ltd.

port of 

spain ttd 31 100

uruguay kuehne + nagel s.a. montevideo uyu 3,908 100

venezuela kuehne + nagel s.a. caracas vef 1,000 100 

kn venezuela aduanas c.a. caracas vef 2 100

nacora s.a. caracas vef 60 100

North Asia-Pacific
country name of the company location currency share 

capital
(in 1,000)

Kn voting 
share

(in per 
cent)

china kuehne & nagel ltd. shanghai cny 22,072 100

kuehne & nagel logistics co ltd. shanghai cny 5,515 100

kuehne & nagel 

information company ltd. guangzhou cny 1,008 100

kuehne & nagel ltd. hong kong hkd 1,560 100 

transpac container system ltd. hong kong hkd 100 100 

nacora insurance brokers ltd. hong kong hkd 500 70

macao kuehne & nagel ltd. macau hkd 971 100

nacora insurance brokers ltd. macau hkd 53 51

taiwan kuehne + nagel ltd. taipei twd 20,000 100 

nacora insurance brokers ltd. taipei twd 6,000 100
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South Asia-Pacific
country name of the company location currency share 

capital
(in 1,000)

Kn voting 
share

(in per cent)

afghanistan kuehne + nagel ltd kabul usd 6 100 

australia kuehne & nagel pty ltd melbourne aud 2,900 100 

nacora insurance services pty ltd melbourne aud – 100

cooltainer australia pty limited sydney aud – 75

kuehne + nagel real estate pty ltd melbourne aud – 100

bangladesh kuehne + nagel limited dhaka bdt 10,000 100

cambodia kuehne + nagel limited phnom penh usd 5 100

india kuehne + nagel pvt. ltd. new delhi inr 30,000 100

indonesia pt. kn sigma trans Jakarta idr 1,730,100 95

Japan kuehne + nagel ltd. tokyo Jpy 80,000 100 

Korea kuehne + nagel ltd. seoul krw 500,000 100 

malaysia kuehne + nagel sdn. bhd.

kuala 

lumpur myr 1,000 100 

nacora (malaysia) sdn. bhd.

kuala 

lumpur myr 100 100

maldives kuehne + nagel private limited male usd 1 100

myanmar kuehne + nagel ltd. yangon usd 50 100

new Zealand kuehne + nagel limited auckland nzd 200 100

nacora insurance services limited auckland nzd 10 100

cooltainer new zealand limited christchurch nzd 1,200 75

pakistan kuehne + nagel (private) limited. karachi pkr 9,800 100

philippines kuehne + nagel inc. manila php 5,000 100 

kn subic logistics inc. manila php 1,875 100

singapore kuehne + nagel pte. ltd. singapore sgd 500 100 

nacora insurance agency pte. ltd. singapore sgd 100 100

kuehne + nagel (asia pacific) 

management pte. ltd. singapore sgd 200 100

sri lanka kuehne & nagel (pvt) ltd. colombo lkr 2,502 100 

thailand kuehne + nagel limited bangkok thb 20,000 100 

consolidation transport limited bangkok thb 100 100

Middle East and Africa
country name of the company location currency share 

capital
(in 1,000)

Kn voting 
share

(in per cent)

angola kuehne & nagel (angola) transitarios lda luanda aon 7,824 100

bahrain kuehne + nagel wll manama bhd 200 100

egypt kuehne + nagel ltd. cairo egp 1,000 100
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South Asia-Pacific
country name of the company location currency share 

capital
(in 1,000)

Kn voting 
share

(in per cent)

afghanistan kuehne + nagel ltd kabul usd 6 100 

australia kuehne & nagel pty ltd melbourne aud 2,900 100 

nacora insurance services pty ltd melbourne aud – 100

cooltainer australia pty limited sydney aud – 75

kuehne + nagel real estate pty ltd melbourne aud – 100

bangladesh kuehne + nagel limited dhaka bdt 10,000 100

cambodia kuehne + nagel limited phnom penh usd 5 100

india kuehne + nagel pvt. ltd. new delhi inr 30,000 100

indonesia pt. kn sigma trans Jakarta idr 1,730,100 95

Japan kuehne + nagel ltd. tokyo Jpy 80,000 100 

Korea kuehne + nagel ltd. seoul krw 500,000 100 

malaysia kuehne + nagel sdn. bhd.

kuala 

lumpur myr 1,000 100 

nacora (malaysia) sdn. bhd.

kuala 

lumpur myr 100 100

maldives kuehne + nagel private limited male usd 1 100

myanmar kuehne + nagel ltd. yangon usd 50 100

new Zealand kuehne + nagel limited auckland nzd 200 100

nacora insurance services limited auckland nzd 10 100

cooltainer new zealand limited christchurch nzd 1,200 75

pakistan kuehne + nagel (private) limited. karachi pkr 9,800 100

philippines kuehne + nagel inc. manila php 5,000 100 

kn subic logistics inc. manila php 1,875 100

singapore kuehne + nagel pte. ltd. singapore sgd 500 100 

nacora insurance agency pte. ltd. singapore sgd 100 100

kuehne + nagel (asia pacific) 

management pte. ltd. singapore sgd 200 100

sri lanka kuehne & nagel (pvt) ltd. colombo lkr 2,502 100 

thailand kuehne + nagel limited bangkok thb 20,000 100 

consolidation transport limited bangkok thb 100 100

country name of the company location currency share 
capital

(in 1,000)

Kn voting 
share

(in per cent)

georgia kn ibrakom logistics services ltd tbilisi gel 83 60

iran kala navegan shargh co. ltd. tehran irr 2,000 60

caspian terminal 

services Qeshm co.ltd.

bandar 

abbas irr 200,000 57

iraq

Jawharat al-sharq co. for general trans-

portation & support services ltd baghdad usd 85 100

kuehne + nagel for general trans-

portation and logistics services l.l.c. erbil usd 45 100

israel amex ltd. holon ils 2 87.5

Jordan kuehne and nagel Jordan llc amman Jod 300 100

Kazakhstan kn ibrakom l.l.p. almaty kzt 140,000 60

Kenya kuehne + nagel limited nairobi kes 63,995 100 

Kuwait kuehne + nagel company w.l.l. kuwait kwd 150 100

lebanon *kn-its sal beirut lbp 113,000 50

mauritius kn (mauritius) limited port louis mur 4,000 100

mozambique kuehne & nagel mocambique lda. maputo mzn 133 100

namibia kuehne and nagel (pty) ltd. windhoek nad 340 100 

nigeria kuehne & nagel (nigeria) limited lagos ngn 10,000 100

oman universal freight services llc muscat omr 250 70

Qatar kuehne + nagel l.l.c. doha Qar 1,900 100

saudi arabia kuehne and nagel limited Jeddah sar 1,000 100 

south africa

kuehne + nagel 

(proprietary) limited

Johannes-

burg zar 1,651 75

nacora insurance 

brokers (proprietary) limited 

Johannes-

burg zar 35 100

tanzania kuehne + nagel limited dar salaam tzs 525,000 100

turkey kuehne + nagel nakliyat sti. istanbul try 5,195 100 

kn ibrakom lojistik hizmetleri ltd. sti. istanbul try 945 60 

uae kuehne + nagel l.l.c. dubai aed 1,000 100 

kuehne + nagel l.l.c. abu dhabi aed 1,000 100 

kuehne + nagel dwc l.l.c. dubai aed 13,000 100

kuehne + nagel management me fze dubai aed 1,000 100

ibrakom fzco Jebel ali usd 273 60

ibrakom cargo llc Jebel ali usd 82 60

lloyds maritime & trading limited Jebel ali usd – 60

uganda kuehne + nagel limited kampala ugx 827,500 100

uzbekistan kuehne + nagel ibrakom tashkent ltd. tashkent uzs 14,000 60

Middle East and Africa
country name of the company location currency share 

capital
(in 1,000)

Kn voting 
share

(in per cent)

angola kuehne & nagel (angola) transitarios lda luanda aon 7,824 100

bahrain kuehne + nagel wll manama bhd 200 100

egypt kuehne + nagel ltd. cairo egp 1,000 100
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Income Statement

chf million note 2013 2012

income 

income from investments in group companies 1 582 517 

sale of treasury shares 2 14 

interest income on loan receivables from group companies 4 3 

exchange gains 8 11 

total income 596 545 

expenses

operational expenses –9 –8

interest expenses on liabilities towards group companies –2 –2

expense for eu antitrust fine 1 – –65

exchange losses –6 –5

total expenses –17 –80

earnings before tax (ebt) 579 465 

income taxes –14 –14

earnings for the year 565 451 

1  refer to note 41 of the consolidated financial statements.
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Balance Sheet

chf million note dec. 31, 2013 dec. 31, 2012

assets

investments 2  1,152  1,094 

non-current assets  1,152  1,094 

receivables from group companies 3  187  180 

other receivables  1  1 

cash and cash equivalents 6  742  567 

treasury shares 5  7  20 

current assets  937  768 

total assets  2,089  1,862 

liabilities and equity

share capital 7  120  120 

legal reserves 8  60  60 

capital contribution reserves 8  6  6 

free reserves 8  44  31 

reserve for treasury shares 9  7  20 

retained earnings 10  839  807 

earnings for the year  565  451 

equity  1,641  1,495 

tax provision  11  12 

other provisions and accruals  5  6 

liabilities towards group companies 4  432  349 

current liabilities  448  367 

total liabilities  448   367 

total liabilities and equity  2,089  1,862 

schindellegi, february 28, 2014

Kuehne + nagel international ag

dr. detlef trefzger gerard van kesteren

ceo cfo
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general 
kuehne + nagel international ag directly or indirectly controls all of the companies which are fully consoli-

dated in the group financial statements.   

basis of preparation/accounting policies

investments

the investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures are recognised in the balance sheet at cost 

less valuation allowance.

receivables

— from group companies 

 the balances outstanding are recorded at their nominal value less valuation allowance at year-end. 

— other 

 other receivables are recorded at their nominal value less valuation allowance at year-end.

treasury shares

treasury shares are valued at average cost or lower market value. the “reserve for treasury shares” within 

equity is valued at average cost of treasury shares. 

 

tax provision 

swiss taxes on income and capital are provided for at balance sheet date.

liabilities

— towards group companies 

 liabilities towards consolidated companies are recorded at their nominal value at year-end.

note to the income statement

1 income from investments in group companies

the income from investments in group companies relates mainly to dividends received.

notes to the financial statements 2013

chf million 2013 2012

income from investments and others 452 396

trademark fee 130 121

total 582 517
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notes to the balance sheet

2 development of investments

a schedule of the group‘s main subsidiaries and kuehne + nagel‘s share in the respective equity is shown on 

pages 138 to 145 of the consolidated financial statements.

3 receivables from group companies

chf million dec. 31, 2013 dec. 31, 2012

kn ibrakom fzco., dubai 8 9 

kuehne + nagel ltd., nairobi 5 7 

kuehne + nagel management ag, schindellegi – 31 

kuehne + nagel real estate holding ag, schindellegi 16 4 

kuehne + nagel liegenschaften ag, schindellegi 23 24 

kuehne + nagel ag, glattbrugg 2 –

kuehne + nagel ltd., Johannesburg 3 –

kuehne + nagel (ag & co.) kg, hamburg 116 63 

kuehne + nagel gmbh, vienna – 10 

other group companies 14 32 

total 187 180 

chf million investments in
consolidated

companies

investments in
affiliated

companies

total

cost

balance as of January 1, 2013 2,051 2 2,053 

additions 84 – 84 

disposals –27 – –27

balance as of december 31, 2013 2,108 2 2,110 

cumulative amortisation

balance as of January 1, 2013 957 2 959 

additions – – –

disposals –1 – –1

balance as of december 31, 2013 956 2 958 

carrying amount 

as of January 1, 2013 1,094 – 1,094 

as of december 31, 2013 1,152 – 1,152 
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4 liabilities towards group companies

chf million dec. 31, 2013 dec. 31, 2012

kuehne + nagel ltd., dublin 5 3 

oy kuehne + nagel ltd., helsinki 7 8 

kuehne + nagel s.a.r.l., luxembourg 6 27 

kuehne + nagel s.a.s., paris 33 36 

kuehne + nagel n.v., rotterdam 53 11 

kuehne + nagel nv/sa, antwerp 20 28 

kuehne + nagel gmbh, vienna 5 –

kuehne + nagel poland sp.z.o.o., poznan 3 1 

kuehne + nagel s.a. de c.v.., mexico d.f. 5 –

kuehne + nagel ltd., hongkong – 10 

kuehne + nagel ltd., london – 7 

kuehne + nagel pte. ltd., singapore 3 3 

kuehne + nagel spol.s.r.o., prague 2 –

kuehne + nagel investment s.a.r.l., luxembourg 16 1 

kuehne + nagel ag, luxembourg 45 14 

kuehne + nagel investment sl, madrid 38 27 

kuehne + nagel investment ab, stockholm 1 1 

kuehne + nagel as, oslo 4 –

kuehne + nagel inc., new york 85 73 

kuehne + nagel management ag, schindellegi 4 –

kuehne + nagel ag, glattbrugg 32 32 

nacora holding ag, schindellegi 16 19 

nacora agencies ag, schindellegi 49 48 

total 432 349 

5 treasury shares

chf million dec. 31, 2013 dec. 31, 2012

treasury shares 1 7 20

1  see note 9.

treasury shares are valued at average cost or lower market value. the ”reserve for treasury shares“ within 

equity is valued at average cost of treasury shares.
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6 cash and cash eQuivalents

chf million dec. 31, 2013 dec. 31, 2012

cash and cash equivalents on bank deposits are held in the following currencies: 

chf  640  459 

eur  101  106 

usd  1  2 

total  742  567 

7        share capital

  share capital registered 
shares

at nominal
chf 1 each 

number

chf million

balance as of december 31, 2013 120,000,000 120

authorised and conditional share capital

the annual general meeting held on may 8, 2012, extended its approval of authorised share capital up to a 

maximum of chf 20 million by another two years until may 6, 2014.

the annual general meeting held on may 2, 2005, approved a conditional share capital increase up to a 

maximum of chf 12 million and to add a respective section in the articles of association.

the annual general meeting held on may 8, 2012, approved a conditional share capital increase up to a 

maximum of chf 20 million for the provision of the employee share-based compensation plans of the 

company.

so far no use has been made of these rights. there is no resolution of the board of directors outstanding for 

a further issuance of either authorised or conditional capital.

8 reserves

chf million legal
reserves

capital
contribution

reserves

free
reserves

total
reserves

balance as of January 1, 2013  60  6  31  97 

addition from release of reserve for treasury shares 1  –  –  13  13 

balance as of december 31, 2013  60  6  44  110 

1  see note 9.
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in agreement with the provisions of swiss commercial law regarding the valuation of treasury shares, the 

company released a reserve equivalent to the average cost of the treasury shares.

other notes

11 personnel

the company has no employees and therefore utilises the central services of kuehne + nagel

management ag, schindellegi (feusisberg) for its administrative requirements. the respective costs are 

included in other operational expenses.

12 compensation

in accordance with swiss law (sco 663b/c co), additional disclosure of information related to remuneration 

paid to and accrued for members of the board of directors and the management board is required.

 

compensation to the board of directors 

following compensation has been accrued for and paid to the members of the board of directors. information 

related to the compensation policy are disclosed as part of the corporate governance section.

9 reserve for treasury shares

reserve for treasury shares number of 
shares

chf million

balance as of January 1, 2013 265,391 20

disposal of treasury shares –403,865 –37

purchase of treasury shares 200,000 24

balance as of december 31, 2013 61,526 7

10 retained earnings

retained earnings chf million

balance as of January 1, 2013 (before income for the year) 807

earnings for the year 2012 451

retained earnings as of January 1, 2013 (prior to appropriation of available earnings) 1,258

distribution to the shareholders (representing chf 3.50 per share) –419

subtotal (before income for the year) 839

earnings for the year 2013 565

balance as of december 31, 2013 1,404

capital contribution reserves chf million

capital contribution reserves as of december 31, 2013 6

balance capital contribution reserves as of december 31, 2013 6
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remuneration to the chairman and the management board 

Remuneration accrued for and paid to the Chairman and the Management Board

the nomination and compensation committee regulates and reveiws annually, or when management 

contract tenures expire, the principles of remuneration, post employment benefits and deferred share based 

compensation.

2013 2012

tchf  compensation
for board of

directors

compensation
for committees

 social
insurance

total total

klaus-michael kuehne 

(honorary chairman) 750 10 38 798 798 

karl gernandt (chairman) 3 300 25 – 325 325 

dr. Joerg wolle (vice chairman) 216 50 16 282 212

bernd wrede (vice chairman) 242 25 – 267 280 

dr. renato fassbind 170 15 11 196 175 

Juergen fitschen 170 – 10 180 159 

hans-Joerg hager 2 53 – – 53 150 

hans lerch 170 10 11 191 170 

dr. wolfgang peiner 1 – – – – 54 

dr. thomas staehelin 170 15 9 194 175 

total 2,241 150 95 2,486 2,498 

1  retired from board of directors on may 8, 2012.

2  retired from board of directors on may 7, 2013.

3  compensations are included in remuneration to the chairman and the management board.

Salaries and other short term employee benefits 2013 2012

tchf  salary bonus social  
insurance

 others total total

karl gernandt, 

chairman 800 1,813 148 – 2,761 2,151 

reinhard lange, 

chief executive 

officer * 754 1,930 152 28 2,864 2,605 

management board 3,971 4,344 376 137 8,828 7,420 

total 5,525 8,087 676 165 14,453 12,176 

1  other remuneration comprise of company car, respectively of company car allowances for all members of the management board.

*  chief executive officer until may 7, 2013.

 1
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the total remuneration accrued for and paid to the chairman and the management board in the financial 

year 2013 amounted to chf 18.3 million, including post-employment benefits and deferred share based  

compensation of chf 3.8 million. total remuneration accrued for and paid to the chairman amounted to 

chf 3.7 million, including chf 1.0 million post-employment benefits and deferred share based compensation. 

  

Share allocation

in 2013 no shares were allocated to any members of either the board of directors or the management board 

and /or to parties closely associated with them other than disclosed under the employee share purchase and 

option plan (spop) and the share matching plan (smp).

Shareholdings by members of the Board of directors

as of december 31, 2013, the following number of shares was held by members of the board of directors 

and/or parties closely associated with them.

Board of directors  

total shareholdings as of december 31:

2013 2012

name number of
Kni shares

number of
Kni shares

klaus-michael kuehne (honorary chairman) 64,068,600 64,062,600 

karl gernandt (chairman) 48,500 39,000 

dr. Joerg wolle (vice chairman) 2,080 2,080

bernd wrede (vice chairman) – –

Juergen fitschen – –

hans-Joerg hager 2 – –

hans lerch 5,000 5,000 

dr. renato fassbind 1,700 1,700 

dr. wolfgang peiner 1 – 160 

dr. thomas staehelin 10,000 10,000 

total 64,135,880 64,120,540

1  resigned from the board of directors on may 8, 2012.

2  resigned from the board of directors on may 7, 2013.

Post Employment and share-based compensation 2013 2012

tchf pension options  share plan total total

karl gernandt, chairman 196 – 783 979 407 

reinhard lange, 

chief executive officer * 65 – 214 279 272 

management board 468 – 2,094 2,562 945 

total 729 – 3,091 3,820 1,624 

1  including risk premium and savings contributions.

*  chief executive officer until may 7, 2013.

 1
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employee share-based compensation plans

Share matching plan (SMP)

during 2012 the company implemented a share-based compensation plan referred to as a “share matching 

plan” (smp) that replaced the employee ”share purchase and option plan” (spop) implemented in 2001. this 

new long-term incentive plan allows selected employees of the group to acquire shares of the company with 

a discount compared to the actual share price at a specified date; such shares are blocked for three years 

and give its holder immediate voting rights and rights to receive dividends.

for each purchased share as per above, the company will match additional shares upon completion of a 

three years vesting period and service condition during the same period. the level of the share match (share 

match ratio) is dependant on the achievement of performance over the next three financial years against 

defined targets. the maximum matching of one share for each share purchased by the employee (minimum 

investment is 75 shares) can be obtained by exceeding the defined target by more than 15 per cent. a 

guaranteed return per purchased share is granted through a minimum matching of 0.2 shares after the 

vesting period. should the number of allocated shares be a fraction of shares, then the number of shares is 

rounded up to the next whole number.

further details of share matching plan can be found in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements  

on pages 116 to 118.

Share Purchase and Option Plan (SPOP)

in 2001 the company implemented an employee “share purchase and option plan” (spop). the plan  

allowed selected employees of the group to acquire shares of the company. the employees were able 

to buy shares at a reduced price compared to the actual share price at a specified date. the price of the 

shares offered was 90 to 96.5 per cent of the share price corresponding to the average closing price of 

one share at the six swiss exchange during the months april to June. there are no vesting conditions. the 

shares are restricted for a period of three years before being released to the employees.

Management Board  

total shareholdings as of december 31:

2013 2012

name number of
Kni shares

number of
Kni shares

dr. detlef trefzger, chief executive officer 1  11,902  –   

reinhard lange, former chief executive officer 4  36,633  36,633

gerard van kesteren, chief financial officer  137,497  129,997

lothar harings, chief human resources officer  9,289  7,289

martin kolbe, chief information officer  14,176  8,176 

stefan paul, executive vice president road & rail logistics 3  2,100  –   

horst Joachim schacht, executive vice president seafreight 13,517 10,000

tim scharwath, executive vice president airfreight 10,000 7,500

dirk reich, former executive vice president contract logistics 2 – 16,505

total  235,114  216,100 

1  as of march 1, 2013 member of the management board and as of august 15, 2013 as chief executive officer.

2  stepped down as member of the management board as of november 30, 2012.

3  as of february 1, 2013 member of the management board.

4  stepped down as member of the management board as of december 31, 2013.
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name grant date number 
of

options

year of 
expiry of 

locked period

karl gernandt, chairman of the board of directors 2009 17,120 2012

2010 16,000 2013

2011 6,376 2014

2012 – 2015

reinhard lange, chief executive officer * 2008  1,526 2011

2009  14,836 2012

2010  15,000 2013

 2011  4,202 2014

2012  1,644 2015

gerard van kesteren, chief financial officer 2008  2,938 2011

2009  14,176 2012

2010  15,000 2013

2011  5,952 2014

2012 – 2015

lothar harings, chief human resources officer 2009  9,963 2012

2010  2,000 2013

2011  –   2014

2012  578 2015

martin kolbe, chief information officer 2009  2,000 2012

2010  6,000 2013

2011  1,982 2014

2012  370 2015

horst Joachim schacht, executive vice president seafreight 2011  –   2014

2012 – 2015

tim scharwath, executive vice president airfreight 2011  –   2014

2012 – 2015

total options granted  137,663 

* chief executive officer until may 7, 2013.

for each share purchased under this plan, the company granted two options to the participants. each option 

entitles the participant to purchase one share of the company at a specified price. the exercise price is 100 

per cent of the share price corresponding to the average closing price of one share at the six swiss exchange 

during the months april to June. the options vest three years after the grant date and can be exercised 

during the three-year period starting on the vesting date. the options cannot be settled in cash. the options 

granted under this plan continue until they vest and until the exercise period for the options issued in 2012 

will expire on June 30, 2018. 

the fair value of the shares granted is measured at the market price of the company’s shares, adjusted  

to take into consideration the conditions upon which the shares will be granted, such as blocking periods. 

since the spop was discontinued as of July 1, 2012, in 2013 no shares were granted. 

the prices to exercise the above mentioned options are listed in note 37 to the consolidated financial  

statements on pages 116 to 118. 

options granted to the members of the management board:
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Loans

in 2013 no loans were granted to members of the board of directors or the management board of kni nor 

associated parties, and no such loans were outstanding as of december 31, 2013.

13 contingent liabilities

for further information regarding contingent liabilities refer to note 45 of the consolidated financial 

statements.

14 risK management/risK assessment

the detailed disclosures regarding risk management that are required by swiss law (sco 663b co) are inclu-

ded in the kuehne + nagel group consolidated financial statements on pages 125 to 131.    

15 proposal of the board of directors to the annual general meeting 

 on may 06, 2014, regarding appropriation of the available earnings 

for 2013 the board of directors is proposing a regular dividend amounting to chf 3.85 per share and an 

extraordinary dividend of chf 2.00 per share for approval at the annual general meeting. if the dividend 

proposal is approved by shareholders, dividend payments on the shares will amount to chf 462 million 

(2012: chf 419 million) towards regular dividend resulting in a payout ratio of 77.4 per cent (2012:  

86.6 per cent) of the earnings for the year attributable to the equity holders of the company. in addition  

the extraordinary dividend payment will amount to chf 240 million.

available earnings chf million

balance as of January 1, 2013 (before income for the year) 839

earnings for the year 2013 565

available earnings as of december 31, 2013 1,404

distribution to the shareholders (representing chf 3.85 per share) + 

extraordinary dividend (chf 2.00 per share) 1 –702

retained earnings as of december 31, 2013 (after appropriation of available earnings) 702

1  the total dividend amount covers all outstanding shares (as per december 31, 2013: 119’938’474 shares). however, shares held in  

    treasury on the date of the dividend declaration are not eligible for dividend payments. as a consequence, and if required, the reported  

    total dividend amount is adjusted accordingly. 
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report of the statutory auditor to the annual general meeting 
of Kuehne + nagel international ag, schindellegi

as statutory auditor, we have audited the accompanying financial statements of kuehne + nagel inter- 

national ag, which comprise the income statement, balance sheet and notes on the pages 146 to 157 for 

the year ended december 31, 2013.

Board of directors’ responsibility

the board of directors is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the 

requirements of swiss law and the company’s articles of incorporation. this responsibility includes designing, 

implementing and maintaining an internal control system relevant to the preparation of financial statements 

that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. the board of directors is further  

responsible for selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies and making accounting estimates 

that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s responsibility

our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. we conducted 

our audit in accordance with swiss law and swiss auditing standards. those standards require that we plan 

and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from mate-

rial misstatement. 

an audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 

financial statements. the procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment 

of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. in making 

those risk assessments, the auditor considers the internal control system relevant to the entity’s preparation 

of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 

but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control system. 

an audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the reasonable-

ness of accounting estimates made, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial state-

ments. we believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for our audit opinion.
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Opinion

in our opinion, the financial statements for the year ended december 31, 2013, comply with swiss law and 

the company’s articles of incorporation.

Other matters

the financial statements of kuehne + nagel international ag for the year ended december 31, 2012, were 

audited by another auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on march 1, 2013.

report on other legal requirements

we confirm that we meet the legal requirements on licensing according to the auditor oversight act (aoa) 

and independence (article 728 co and article 11 aoa) and that there are no circumstances incompatible 

with our independence.

in accordance with article 728a paragraph 1 item 3 co and swiss auditing standard 890, we confirm that 

an internal control system exists, which has been designed for the preparation of financial statements 

according to the instructions of the board of directors.

we further confirm that the proposed appropriation of available earnings complies with swiss law and the 

company’s articles of incorporation. we recommend that the financial statements submitted to you be 

approved.

ernst & young ltd

alessandro miolo   christian Krämer

licensed audit expert    licensed audit expert

(auditor in charge)

zurich, february 28, 2014  



corporate timetable 2014

april 14, 2014 first quarter 2014 results

may 6, 2014 annual general meeting

may 13, 2014 dividend payment for 2013

July 14, 2014 half-year 2014 results

october 13, 2014 nine-months 2014 results
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